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Chairman’s statement
FERES

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) of Litu Holding Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”), | am pleased to present to
you the annual results of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2022.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2022, the gross domestic product (GDP) of the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) increased by 3.0% compared
to the previous year, but was lower than the increase of 8.1%
in 2021 and the growth target of around 5.5% at the beginning
of the year. In 2022, the GDP per capita of the PRC reached
RMB85,698.

In 2022, PRC cigarette production increased by 0.55% year-
on-year and cigarette sales in the PRC increased by 0.46%
year-on-year. However, given the decrease in tendering price
under the mandatory tendering policy in the cigarette industry
and the increase in raw material prices, the Group was subject
to considerable operating pressure under intensifying industry
competition. Total revenue of the Group decreased by 15.0%
from approximately HK$1,158.9 million in 2021 to
approximately HK$984.5 million in 2022, and gross profit
margin also decreased from 13.9% in 2021 to 10.5% in 2022.
In respect of the downstream tendering policy, during the year,
the Group has already established a specific team to plan and
organise the tendering among the subsidiaries. At the same
time, the Group has strengthened production cost control,
improved production efficiency and enhanced inventory
management, in order to cope with the challenges to
profitability.

Since December 2020, the unsuccessful bid in the tender of
some customers for the orders in the coming years has and is
expected in the coming years to have an adverse financial
impact on the overall revenue and profitability of the Group.
The financial position and performance of the Group were
affected in different aspects, including the decrease in revenue
and gross profit arising from printing of cigarette packages
business.
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Chairman’s statement
FERES

Profit attributable to owners of the Company decreased by
28.1% from approximately HK$8.6 million in 2021 to
approximately HK$6.2 million in 2022. Basic earnings per
share was approximately HKO.4 cents (2021: approximately
HKO.6 cents).

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2022 of HK4 cents (2021: Nil)
per share. Subject to the approval of the shareholders at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the
“AGM”), the proposed final dividend will be payable on or
about 7 July 2023 to shareholders whose names appear on
the register of members of the Company on 20 June 2023.

PROSPECTS

With the further relaxation of COVID-19 control policies in PRC
in December 2022 and the orderly issue of various policies
and measures to help PRC’s economy to stabilise and recover
in 2023, the global economy and PRC’s economy outlook
remain uncertain due to global inflation, intensifying
competition between the United States and the PRC on
various fronts, the ongoing war between Russia and Ukraine
and the uncertainty of monetary policies of the U.S. Federal
Reserve, all of which may have an adverse effect on the PRC’s
economy and the Group’s operating environment in 2023.

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to rely on paper
packaging as a solid foundation for the Group’s development
and seek to maximising income from investment properties.
The Group will continue to increase its participation in tenders,
while actively expanding into other packaging markets, and will
continue to reduce the pressure of decreasing gross profit
through measures such as cost control, efficiency boosting
and resource consolidation.
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Chairman’s statement
FERES

In order to meet the increasingly stringent environmental
protection requirements and to improve production efficiency,
the Group decided to focus its resources and productions on
Bengbu Jinhuangshan Rotogravure Printing Co., Ltd., an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company established
in the PRC, to achieve centralised management and
production. The Board believes that the centralisation of
production line of the Group would allow improved cost
control and production efficiency, as well as reduced
administrative burden on the Group to comply with the
environmental protection requirements across different
production subsidiaries and therefore improving the return for
the shareholders of the Company.

The Group’s corporate mission is to continue to develop ways
to improve financial performance, provide growth drivers for
the Group and broaden revenue streams within acceptable
risk levels. On 26 January 2022, the Group completed the
acquisition of Eagle Swift Limited, whose only significant asset
is a property in Hong Kong. The Board considers that the
acquisition represents a good investment opportunity for the
Company to invest in the Hong Kong property market and the
future rental income from the property will provide stable
income for the Group while at the same time the Group may
benefit from the long term appreciation in value of the property.

The Company will also continue to explore the possibility of
acquisition of new investment, disposal of subsidiary or
associate or diversification into other profitable businesses in
the interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole,
with a view to achieving sustainable growth, improving
profitability and ultimately maximising returns for shareholders.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Group, | would also like to take this
opportunity to express my sincere gratitude to all the staff of
the Group for their efforts and contributions, and all our
shareholders and partners for their support.

Huang Wanru
Chairman
31 March 2023
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Management discussion and analysis

BEEENWR DN

REVENUE

The Group recorded a total revenue of approximately
HK$984.5 million in 2022, representing a decrease of 15.0%
as compared to approximately HK$1,158.9 million in 2021.
The revenue was generated from two business segments: (i)
the printing and manufacturing of paper packages and related
materials of approximately HK$888.1 million (2021:
HK$1,053.5 million) and (ii) sales of RFID products of
approximately HK$96.4 million (2021: HK$105.4 million). The
revenue from the printing and manufacturing of paper
packages and related materials segment accounted for
approximately 90.2% of the total revenue for 2022 (2021:
90.9%). The decrease in total revenue was mainly attributable
to the decrease in business volume of printing of cigarette
packages as a result of the failure of one of the subsidiaries of
the Company to bid its tender for orders from some of its
major customers. Indeed, the depreciation of average rate of
RMB against HKD of roughly 4.0% comparing with the
corresponding period of 2021 has increased such downside
effect.

GROSS PROFIT

Gross profit decreased by 36.2% from approximately
HK$161.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 to
approximately HK$103.1 million for the year ended
31 December 2022, primarily due to the decrease in revenue
and increase in raw material price. Despite the implementation
of the cost reduction and efficiency measures during the year
under review, the gross profit margin still decreased from
13.9% for the year ended 31 December 2021 to 10.5% for the
year ended 31 December 2022. The average selling price was
also subject to pressure induced by the ongoing mandatory
tendering system.

OTHER INCOME

Other income increased by 24.6% from approximately
HK$41.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 to
approximately HK$51.8 million for the year ended
31 December 2022 due to the increase in various government
grants of approximately HK$7.3 million, the increase in rental
income (net of direct operating expenses) of approximately
HK$9.1 million and the decrease in processing fee income of
approximately HK$6.5 million.
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Management discussion and analysis

SR EER

OTHER NET GAINS AND LOSSES

Other net gains and losses improved from loss of
approximately HK$105.0 million for the year ended
31 December 2021 to gain of approximately HK$16.7 million
for the year ended 31 December 2022, which was mainly
attributable to the decrease in impairment losses on goodwill
by approximately HK$96.5 million.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group has
recognised impairment losses on goodwill of approximately
HK$96.5 million of which approximately HK$93.3 million for
one of the cash generating units engaged in printing and
manufacturing of paper packages and related materials, as its
recoverable amount was less than the carrying value as at
31 December 2021.

SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES

The selling and distribution expenses decreased by 5.9% from
approximately HK$26.2 million for the year ended
31 December 2021 to approximately HK$24.6 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022 which was primarily
attributable to reduction of entertainment expenses.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The administrative expenses increased by 5.2% from
approximately HK$113.7 million for the year ended
31 December 2021 to approximately HK$119.6 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

The increase was mainly attributable to the increase in
contractual termination benefit in 2022 and the increase in
depreciation due to the acquisition of Eagle Swift Limited,
which was completed on 26 January 2022.

FINANCE COSTS

The finance costs decreased by 29.3% from approximately
HK$14.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 to
approximately HK$10.2 million for the year ended
31 December 2022.

The decrease was mainly due to decrease in the average bank
borrowings rate and average bank borrowings balance in
2022. The Group has implemented plans to improve its bank
loan portfolio by the replacement of existing facilities with new
bank loan with lower interest rate.
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SHARE OF RESULT OF ASSOCIATES

The share of result of associates decreased by 97.8% from
approximately HK$70.1 million for the year ended
31 December 2021 to approximately HK$1.6 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022 due to the deterioration in
profitability of the Group’s major associate namely Changde
Gold Roc Printing Co., Ltd. (“Changde Gold Roc”). Changde
Gold Roc is principally engaged in the provision of cigarette
printing package services. The Group beneficially owns
RMB50,546,120 of its paid up capital, representing 31% of
the total paid up capital of RMB163,052,000. The carrying
amount of the Group’s interest in Changde Gold Roc was
approximately HK$335.5 million as at 31 December 2022
(2021: approximately HK$455.9 million). The decrease in
carrying amount was mainly due to the net effect of the Group
received dividend of approximately HK$87.1 million (2021:
HK$76.8 million) from Changde Gold Roc, the depreciation of
the closing rate of RMB against HKD of roughly 7.9%
comparing with the corresponding period of 2021 and the
decrease in the share of result from Changde Gold Roc. The
Group holds the investment in Changde Gold Roc for stable
earnings and dividend income in view of its stable business
with the local customers.

Save for Changde Gold Roc, there were no significant

investments held by the Group with a value of 5% or more of
the Group’s total assets as at 31 December 2022.
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TAXATION

The effective tax rate of the Group increased from 34.8% in
2021 to 50.1% in 2022. Such increase was primarily due to
the decrease in overprovision of enterprise income tax in prior
years.

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

As a result of the foregoing, the profit attributable to the
owners of the Company decreased by 28.1% from
approximately HK$8.6 million for the year ended 31 December
2021 to approximately HK$6.2 million for the year ended
31 December 2022.

OTHER PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
The following table sets forth other performance indicators of
the Group as at the dates or for the years indicated:
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As at or for the year ended
31 December

R+=—A=+—B=H

BEZALFE

2022 2021
- g

Current Ratio (Note 1) B R (BsE1) 1.5 times 1.5 times
1.5& 1.57F
Quick Ratio (Note 2) RENLE K (FI7E2) 1.3 times 1.4 times
1.31F 1.4
Return on equity (Note 3) AR A B & (HI5E3) 0.2% 0.3%
Return on total assets (Note 4) BEERREK (HE4) 0.2% 0.2%

Notes:

(1) Current ratio is calculated based on total current assets of the Group
divided by total current liabilities of the Group as at the end of the
respective year.

(2)  Quick ratio is calculated based on total current assets of the Group less
inventories of the Group divided by total current liabilities of the Group
as at the end of the respective year.

©)) Return on equity is calculated by dividing profit attributable to owners of
the Company for the year by the arithmetic mean of the opening and
closing balance of total equity attributable to owners of the Company.

(4) Return on total assets is calculated by dividing profit attributable to
owners of the Company for the year by the arithmetic mean of the
opening and closing balance of total assets of the Group.
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BEEENWR DN

The Group’s current ratio and quick ratio as at 31 December
2022 remained relatively stable at 1.5 times (2021: 1.5 times)
and 1.3 times (2021: 1.4 times), respectively.

The Group’s return on equity decreased from 0.3% in 2021 to
0.2% in 2022 and the Group’s return on total assets remained
at 0.2% in 2021 and 2022. The decrease of the Group’s return
on equity was primarily due to the decrease in the profit
attributable to owners of the Company for 2022 as compared
to that of 2021.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Group’s financial position remains solid and the Group
possessed sufficient cash to meet its commitments and
working capital requirements. As at 31 December 2022, the
Group had net current assets of approximately HK$321.1
million (2021: approximately HK$398.1 million) of which bank
balances and cash were approximately HK$313.3 million
(2021: approximately HK$440.4 million) and were denominated
in RMB, US$ and HK$ as at 31 December 2022.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had outstanding bank
borrowings of approximately HK$266.6 million (2021:
approximately HK$342.4 million). The Group is with net cash
of approximately HK$137.9 million (2021: approximately
HK$106.9 million). The gearing ratio as at 31 December 2022
was -5.6% (2021: —4.0%), which is calculated by dividing the
net cash by the total equity. No financial instruments were
used for hedging purposes, nor were there any foreign
currency net investments hedged by current borrowings and/
or other hedging instruments during the year.
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Management discussion and analysis

SR EER

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, bank deposits with gross carrying
amounts of approximately HK$104.5 million (31 December
2021: HK$11.5 million) were pledged to banks for bank
facilities of bills payables granted to the Group.

As at 31 December 2022, the bank loan facilities granted to
the Group were secured by the Group’s property, plant and
equipment with carrying value of approximately HK$147.2
million, investment properties with carrying value of
approximately HK$77.4 million and corporate guarantee
issued by the Company (2021: trade receivables with gross
carrying amount of approximately HK$11,813,000).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at
31 December 2022.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had capital commitment
amounted to approximately HK$7.4 million (31 December
2021: approximately HK$268.6 million) in respect of the
acquisition of property, plant and equipment contracted for but
not provided in the consolidated financial statements and was
mainly related to the development of industrial park.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management
approach towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a
healthy liquidity position throughout the year of 2022. The
Group strives to reduce exposure to credit risk by performing
ongoing credit assessments and evaluations of the financial
status of its existing customers from time to time. To manage
liquidity risk, the Board closely monitors the Group’s liquidity
position to ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group’s
assets, liabilities and other commitments can meet its funding
requirements from time to time.
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Management discussion and analysis

BEEENWR DN

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES, AND FUTURE PLANS FOR
MATERIALS INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL
ASSETS

Save for Changde Gold Roc, the particulars of which are
disclosed in the above section headed “Share of result of
associates”, and as disclosed below, there were no significant
investments held, and no material acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries, an associate and a joint venture by the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2022.

On 21 October 2021, the Company entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with Mr. Cai Xiao Ming, David, a
controlling shareholder of the Company interested in
approximately 57.5% of the issued share capital of the
Company and hence a connected person of the Company
within the meaning of the Listing Rules, in relation to the
acquisition by the Group of the entire issued share capital of
Eagle Swift Limited and all obligations, liabilities and debts
owing or incurred by Eagle Swift Limited to Mr. Cai Xiao Ming
David and his associates for an aggregate cash consideration
of HK$233,000,000. The only significant asset of Eagle Swift
Limited is a property located in Hong Kong. All conditions
precedent as stated in the sale and purchase agreement were
fulfiled and completion took place on 26 January 2022. After
completion, Eagle Swift Limited has become a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company. Details of the acquisition are set
out in the announcements of the Company dated 21 October
2021 and 26 January 2022.

Save as disclosed in this report, there was no plan authorised

by the Board for other material investments or additions of
capital assets at the date of this report.
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Management discussion and analysis

SR EER

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 663 employees
(2021: 978). The total remuneration cost incurred by the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2022 was approximately
HK$127.3 million (2021: approximately HK$155.5 million). The
Group’s remuneration packages are generally structured with
reference to market terms and individual merits. The Group
participates in a defined contribution retirement benefits
scheme under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong Kong. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ base
salaries. The Group also made contributions to provident
funds, elderly insurance, medical insurance, unemployment
insurance and work-related injury insurance in accordance
with the applicable laws and regulations in the PRC.

Details of the gender ratio in the workforce of the Group is set
out in the Company’s Environmental, Social and Governance
Report. The Company will continue to take gender diversity
into consideration during recruitment and increase the female
proportion at all levels over time with the ultimate goal of
achieving gender diversity, such that there is a pipeline of
female senior management and potential successors to the
Board in the future.
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Report of the directors
EEEREE

The Directors are pleased to present their report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of the principal subsidiaries of the
Company are set out in note 45 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2022 and the future development of the Group’s
business is set out in the section headed “Chairman’s
Statement” on pages 5 to 7 of this annual report. Financial and
business performance analysis is disclosed in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 8 to
15. The principal risks and uncertainties affecting the Group’s
results and business can be found in notes 4, 38 to 39 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The PRC cigarette industry is closely monitored and controlled
by the PRC government and our customers are concentrated
on a limited number of state-owned cigarette manufacturers.
The Group’s success depends on the support from key
stakeholders which comprise shareholders, regulators,
customers, employees, local communities and business
partners etc. and we have maintained good and strong
business relationship with our customers through joint venture
and other co-operations. During the year ended 31 December
2022 and up to the date of this annual report, we have
complied with all the relevant rules, laws and regulations in the
PRC that have a significant impact on the Group. Further
details about the environmental and social responsibility will be
published in separate report to be uploaded on the websites
of the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
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Report of the directors
EEERESE

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group are set out in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income on pages 64 to 65. The
Board recommended the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2022 of HK4 cents (2021: Nil) per
share. Subject to the approval of the shareholders at the
forthcoming AGM, the proposed final dividend will be payable
on or about 7 July 2023 to shareholders whose names appear
on the register of members of the Company on 20 June 2023.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate sales to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for approximately 63.1% of the Group’s
total revenue and sales to the Group’s largest customer was
approximately 35.9% of the Group’s total revenue. During the
year, the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s five
largest suppliers accounted for approximately 27.5% of the
Group’s total purchases, and the purchases attributable to the
Group’s largest supplier was approximately 6.6% of the
Group’s total purchases.

None of the Directors, their close associates (within the
meaning of the Listing Rules) or any shareholders (which to the
knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the
Company'’s issued share capital) had interests in any of the
Group’s five largest customers or suppliers during the year.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movement in property, plant and equipment of
the Group are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note
35 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Report of the directors
EEEREE

RESERVES

At 31 December 2022, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution amounted to approximately HK$6,291.9 million.
Under the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium of the Company is distributable to the shareholders
of the Company provided that immediately following the date
on which the distribution or dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company shall be able to pay its debts as they
fall due in the ordinary course of business. Details of the
movements in reserves of the Group and the Company are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available
to its shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
shares.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the consolidated results of the Group for the last
five financial years and of its consolidated assets and liabilities
as at the end of the last five financial years is set out on pages
217 to 218.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries has
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities during the year ended 31 December 2022.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 4 March 2009, the shareholders of the Company had
approved and adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) which was expired on 3 March 2019.

No option under the Share Option Scheme has been granted
by the Board and there was no outstanding option.

LITU HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

f#E

R-ZT-_—F+-_A=+—8  KAFA#
7k B % 18 4 4 6,291,900,000 7 7T ° 1R &
FERSRENE  ARAIMRMEE T AT
DIRTIRE - EREBEEREZEDIKSKEE
% ARFREBRNEEENBEEEBIE
FEIENEER - AEBRAQRREEZ S
BN EEREEEK -

BRBER
AR RN D RAREIR AL R ARR 55 2 B
B30 S BB S B AR 6L

B3R 5
AR BB RE A AR R T
TR S AT TR -

MBEHE
REERBTRARENRFEENGEFERE
RBEREMBRFEFRNGEEERAE
HRE217E218H °

BE HEIEBEEARQTHN LEHRE
o
AARHETAHBRATREBEE T _—F
+-A=+t—HUIFERNMERE - HEK
BBl AN BRI LS -

BRAESTE

RZZBEZNF=ANE - KR FIMRERET
FRENBENTHEST 2] ([ BB AR RERT &) - BEAR T
BER - ZT—NF=A=HEm-

EXefiEREBRESIR TEAEKR
o TREBAL] R RTT R R ARAE



Report of the directors
EEERESE

ARRANGEMENT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the Share Option Scheme disclosed above, at no
time during the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at the date of this
report are set out in note 45 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other
donations amounting to HK$0.018 million (2021: HK$0.016
million).

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The Group participates in a provident fund scheme as defined
in the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance,
Chapter 485 of the laws of Hong Kong (the “MPF Scheme”).
The MPF Scheme was a defined contribution scheme and the
assets of the MPF Scheme were managed by a trustee.

The MPF Scheme is available to all employees aged 18 to 64
and with at least 60 days of service under the employment of
the Group in Hong Kong. Contributions were made by the
Group at 5% based on the staff’s relevant income. The
maximum relevant income for contribution purpose is
HK$30,000 per month. Staff members were entitled to 100%
of the Group’s contributions together with accrued returns
irrespective of their length of service with the Group, but the
benefits were required by law to be preserved until the
retirement age of 65. No forfeited contributions are available to
offset future employers’ contributions under the MPF Scheme.
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Report of the directors
EEEREE

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries established in
the PRC are members of a central pension scheme operated
by the local municipal government. These subsidiaries are
required to contribute certain percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and wages to the central pension scheme to
fund the retirement benefits. The local municipal government
undertakes to assume the retirement benefits obligations of all
existing and future retired employees of these subsidiaries.
The only obligation of these subsidiaries with respect to the
central pension scheme are to meet the required contributions
under the scheme.

The Group’s cost for the schemes charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2022 amounted to
approximately HK$7.0 million (2021: HK$11.1 million).

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report
were:

Mr. Chen Xiao Liang
(resigned with effect from 22 April 2022)
Mr. Qin Song
(resigned with effect from 21 January 2022)
Mr. Huang Wanru
(re-designated as Chairman with effect from 22 April 2022)

Mr. Jiang Xiang Yu

Ms. Li Li

Mr. Lam Ying Hung, Andy
Mr. Lui Tin Nang
Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon
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Report of the directors
EEERESE

According to article 84(1) of the Articles of Association of the
Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being shall
retire from office by rotation at the annual general meeting of
the Company but shall then be eligible for re-election.
According to article 83(3) of the Articles of Association of the
Company, any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting of the
Company after his/her appointment and be subject to
re-election at such meeting.

Details of the Directors subject to rotation and re-election are
contained in the circular despatched together with this annual
report.

In compliance with Rule 3.10(1) of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”), the Board currently comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, representing more than one-third of
the Board. Pursuant to paragraph 12B of Appendix 16 of the
Listing Rules, each of the independent non-executive Directors
has confirmed by annual confirmation that he has complied
with the independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company considers that all three
independent non-executive Directors are independent under
these independence criteria and are capable to effectively
exercise independent judgement.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of the Directors and senior
management of the Company are set out on pages 49 to 54.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Ms. Li Li has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for an initial term of three years commencing from
22 July 2021, and will continue thereafter until terminated by
not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either
party. Each of Mr. Lam Ying Hung, Andy, Mr. Lui Tin Nang and
Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon has renewed their appointment for a
fixed term of three years commencing from 30 March 2021.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with the Company which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation other than
statutory compensation.
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DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION PURSUANT
TO RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE HONG KONG
LISTING RULES

Following the resignation of Mr. Qin Song, the former executive
Director, vice chairman, chief executive officer of the Company,
Mr. Chen Xiao Liang, an executive Director and the chairman
of the Board, has been re-designated as the chief executive
officer of the Company with effect from 21 January 2022.

With effect from 21 January 2022, Mr. Qin Song also ceased
to be a member of the nomination committee of the Company
and Mr. Huang Wanru, an executive Director, was appointed
as a member of the nomination committee of the Company in
place of Mr. Qin Song.

Following the resignation of Chen Xiao Liang, the former
executive Director, chairman, chief executive officer of the
Company, Mr. Huang Wanru, an executive Director, has been
re-designated as the chairman of the Company with effect
from 22 April 2022.

Save for the information disclosed above, there is no other
information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
Details of the related party transactions entered into during the
year were disclosed in note 42 to the consolidated financial
statements in which purchase of printing and packing
machineries was exempted continuing connected transaction
within the meaning of the Listing Rules, details of which are
disclosed under the paragraph headed “Related Party
Transactions” below. The Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in
respect of the above-mentioned transaction. Save as the
transactions aforementioned, no transaction, arrangement or
contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business
between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and a
controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries or in which a
Director, an entity connected with a Director or the controlling
shareholder of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year, and there was no contract of significance
for the provision of services to the Group by the controlling
shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.
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Report of the directors
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

None of the Directors or any of their respective associates, has
engaged in any business that competes or may compete with
the business of the Group, or has any other conflict of interest
with the Group during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Group were entered into or existed during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Subject to the applicable laws, every Director and other
officers of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified by
the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them
may incur in the execution and discharge of his or her duties
or in relation thereto pursuant to the Company’s Articles of
Association. Such provisions were in force during the course
of the financial year ended 31 December 2022 and remained
in force as of the date of this report.

The Group has also taken out and maintained liability
insurance for Directors and officers throughout the year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITION IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES OR
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2022, the following Directors or the chief
executives of the Company had or were deemed to have
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong (“SFO”)) (i)
which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provision of the SFO); or
(i) which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to
be entered in the register referred to therein; or (i) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies (the “Model
Code”) contained in the Listing Rules:

EERFTETHRAEBREAQATRH
HEZENRSG - HEROHES
MK R

RZEBE_—F+=-A=+—H ARFUT
BEERFETHRABRARR REMBE AR
(EERBBEPESTEFZH LB KA
([BHFREBEMHRAE) EXVE) KRG, - H8E
RO EEFT - HHE ISR AEE () RIEE
HFREEIRPIEXVE R 7 R8D EAFG A
RA R RN ER IR E (BIERIEES
KRB RAZERXESEEEIRAER
WERSOAR) (i) RIBEF LS &G
25 352 & 7R R0 A\ FZ 6 P it & 7 it A 4 2 580 0%
B k(i) ZBRE EmARME LM ARE
FETBSFXZNRESTA([EEFH]) A
GARRNARE R FTH R SRE

The Company b/
Number of Approximate
shares/ percentage
underlying of issued
Name of Director Capacity shares held Position share capital
Frsim, HEBTRE
Espg 5% HEROHE #E R d
Mr. Huang Wanru Beneficial owner 1,735,204 Long 0.11%
EEIAE EnEBA e
Mr. Jiang Xiang Yu Beneficial owner 2,000,000 Long 0.13%
Brmtt EnEAA e
Ms. Li Li Interest of controlled corporation 250,551,964 Long 15.98%
FHR L X AR e

LITU HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022



Report of the directors
EEERESE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
IN AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS

So far as is known to the Directors and chief executives of the
Company, as at 31 December 2022, the following persons (not
being a Director or chief executive of the Company) had, or
were deemed to have, interest or a short position in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:

TERRWERR KR

BARABEREBARABHM K2
—=E+= A8 UTFALQEER
ARMEERTETRAR) RAR TR
SRR (H P I LR BB RIS R
S GEHIB XV BB 2 R 35 HEXARAR
ABBOBSIAR :

Number of Approximate
shares/ percentage of
underlying issued share
Name of shareholder Capacity shares held Position capital
Fris a1,/ HEBRITRAE
RREH 40} HEROHBE #®=E BABEIE
Mr. Cai Xiao Ming, David Mo Interest of controlled 901,456,892 Long 57.50%
corporation
B4 Rt EE s )
Profitcharm Limited Mo 7 Beneficial owner 274,325,278 Long 17.50%
BlzARAE WD EnBEA e
Sinorise International Limited Mete™ Beneficial owner 627,131,614 Long 40.00%
IREBPR AR AR WD ERBEA 5]
Masterwork Group Co., Ltd. Noe?) Interest of controlled 250,551,964  Long 15.98%
corporation
REREHHEERNH AR AR HH RiEtEEE R o)
Masterwork Machinery (H.K.) Limited No?) Beneficial owner 250,551,964 Long 15.98%
KB (BE)BRAR @ EREBA o)
Tianjin Dehou Investment Interest of controlled 103,555,231 Long 6.60%
Management Partnership corporation
(Limited Partnership)
Tianjin Dehou Investment ZEHEE RS HE

Management Partnership
(Limited Partnership)
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Notes:

(1) Mr. Cai Xiao Ming, David (“Mr. Cai”) beneficially owns the entire share
capital of Profitcharm Limited and Sinorise International Limited. By
virtue of the SFO, Mr. Cai is deemed to be interested in a total of
901,456,892 shares held by Profitcharm Limited and Sinorise
International Limited.

2) Masterwork Group Co. Ltd. (“Masterwork”) beneficially owns the entire
share capital of Masterwork Machinery (H.K.) Limited. By virtue of the
SFO, Masterwork is deemed to be interested in 250,551,964 shares
held by Masterwork Machinery (H.K.) Limited.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save for the “Purchase of printing and packing machineries”
during the year as shown in note 42(a) to the consolidated
financial statements which constituted exempted continuing
connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules, all other related party transactions as shown
in note 42 are not continuing connected transactions within
the meaning of the Listing Rules.

EQUITY FUND RAISING

There was no equity fund raising by the Company during the
year, nor were there any proceeds brought forward from any
issue of equity securities made in previous financial years.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices as adopted by the
Company are set out in the Corporate Governance Report
section set out on pages 28 to 48.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the
date of this report, there is sufficient public float of not less
than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as required under
the Listing Rules.

LITU HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

FYAE -

(1) EEAAE((EEE ) ESHERISEARABK
RERBARARNDIMRA - 2R ERIEFF
REIEEHIERAREIZERA R RIRERER S
TR Al A 19 ££001,456,892R% Ak 0 R A Ak o

@ RERFHEEERMERAG(RE) ExE
BERERND (BE)BRARNEITBRAE - RER
BEFRBERMNERARRERS (BB BR
N REFEE # 250,551,964 BX A% (7 P A S o

BB X5

BrRir e M IS MR M 420 FRETN F A ETT
RTREEEIR LB RKS] RiIE EHRAE
MAEBKARRNERRHERERS
S M EE42FFE AT B B E T X BT
BLTRAUAENFEHERS -

RAEE

FRN - ARATEETRAEE - BEMK
FRENTEBETEARAESFESEMK
T8 o

EER
ARBRANTEEEE ROV FE28
EABHMEXERRES —H -

DBRFERE
REARFADHEBHERRMESHA -
RARE B - ARBEBITRHERLR
26% M RANEFBE - A LHHRAM
FUE ©



Report of the directors
EEERESE

DISCLOSURE UNDER RULE 13.21 OF THE
LISTING RULES

As at 31 December 2022, there were revolving loan facilities
available to the Group from a bank in the aggregate principal
amount of approximately HK$347.7 million. Under the terms of
these facilities (the availability of which are generally subject to
bank’s periodic review), the Company has undertaken, among
other matters, that Mr. Cai Xiao Ming, David shall maintain at
least 50% beneficial shareholding interest in or remain as the
single largest shareholder of the Company at all times during
the life of the above banking facilities (the “Undertaking”). The
breach of such Undertaking may result in the loan becoming
immediately due and repayable.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2020 were audited by Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”). Deloitte resigned as auditor of the
Company on 16 July 2021, and Mazars CPA Limited, Certified
Public Accountants, was appointed as auditor of the Company
on 17 August 2021 to fill the vacancy arising from the
resignation of Deloitte and audited the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the years ended 31 December
2021 and 2022.

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting to
re-appoint Messrs. Mazars CPA Limited as auditor of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board
Litu Holdings Limited

Huang Wanru
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2023
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OVERVIEW

The Directors recognise the importance of incorporating
elements of good corporate governance in the management
structures and internal control procedures of the Group so as
to achieve effective accountability.

CORPORATE PURPOSE, STRATEGY AND
CORPORATE CULTURE

The Board defines the purpose, values and strategy of the
Company and considers that the Company’s corporate culture
is aligned. The Group is committed to investing in the cigarette
package printing industry, creating value for consumers, and
to delivering attractive and sustainable returns to the
Shareholders. Despite the ever-changing operating
environment, the Group places strong emphasis on workplace
safety, employee relations and the efficient use of materials,
energy and resources, promoting a culture of ethical conduct
and integrity. A healthy corporate culture is important to good
corporate governance which is crucial for achieving sustainable
long-term success of the Group.

ESG-RELATED MATTERS

The Company adheres to improving internal sustainability
governance, strengthening the management and control of
corporate development’s impact on the environment and
society, and creating value for our stakeholders. The Board
has overall responsibility for the Company’s ESG strategy and
reporting, and oversees the overall ESG governance of the
Company. In particular, the Board conducts a regular review
of the Group’s ESG-related matters and considered, among
others, (i) the adequacy of resource, staff qualification and
experience, training programmes and budget of those relating
to Group’s ESG performance and reporting; (ii) the changes,
since the last annual review, in the nature and extent of
significant ESG risks (if any); and (i) the scope and quality of
management’s ongoing monitoring of ESG risks. For further
details, please refer to the Company’s Environmental, Social
and Governance Report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code
(the “Code”) contained in Part 2 of Appendix 14 of the Listing
Rules. During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Company has complied in general with the Code, except code
provisions C.2.1 of the Code.

Under code provision C.2.1 of the Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and the chief executive
should be clearly established and set out in writing. Following
the resignation of Mr. Qin Song as an executive Director, vice-
chairman, chief executive officer and member of the
nomination committee of the Company with effect from
21 January 2022, the Company has appointed Mr. Chen Xiao
Liang to take up the vacancy of the chief executive officer. Mr.
Chen Xiao Liang held the roles of chairman and chief executive
officer at the same time for the period from 21 January 2022
to 22 April 2022.

In addition, following the resignation of Mr. Chen Xiao Liang as
an executive Director, chairman and chief executive officer of
the Company with effect from 22 April 2022, Mr. Huang Wanru
was appointed as the chairman of the Company in his place
on the same date, but the Company has not yet appointed an
individual to take up the vacancy of the chief executive officer,
and the roles and functions of the chief executive officer have
been performed by all the executive Directors collectively since
22 April 2022.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the standard for securities
transactions by Directors. The Company has made specific
enquiries of all the Directors and all the Directors confirmed
that they have complied with the required standards set out in
the Model Code and its code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions for the year ended 31 December 2022.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board takes responsibility to oversee all major matters of
the Company, including the formulation and approval of overall
business strategies, internal control and risk management
systems, and monitoring the performance of the senior
management. The management is responsible for the daily
operations of the Group under the leadership of the Chief
Executive Officer. The Directors have the responsibility to act
objectively in the interests of the Company.

As at 31 December 2022, the Board comprised six Directors,
including two executive Directors namely Mr. Huang Wanru
and Mr. Jiang Xiang Yu, one non-executive Director namely
Ms. Li Li, and three independent non-executive Directors
namely Mr. Lam Ying Hung, Andy, Mr. Lui Tin Nang and Mr.
Siu Man Ho, Simon. There is no financial, business, family or
other material or relevant relationship between any of the
Directors. The names and biographical details of the Directors
are set out in the section entitled “Profile of Directors and
Senior Management” in this annual report.

In compliance of Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules, the Board
currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors
representing more than one-third of the Board. Pursuant to
paragraph 12B of Appendix 16 of the Listing Rules, each of
the independent non-executive Directors has confirmed by
annual confirmation that he has complied with the
independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Directors consider that all three independent
non-executive Directors are independent under these
independence criteria and are capable to effectively exercise
independent judgement. Amongst the three independent
non-executive Directors, both Mr. Lam Ying Hung, Andy and
Mr. Lui Tin Nang have the appropriate professional
qualifications and accounting and related financial
management expertise required under Rule 3.10(2) of the
Listing Rules.
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The Board has delegated various responsibilities to the Board
committees including the audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”), the remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination committee
(the “Nomination Committee”) (collectively, the “Board
Committees”). Further details of these committees are set out
below.

BOARD MEETINGS

Seven Board meetings were held during the year ended
31 December 2022. Ad-hoc meetings will also be convened if
necessary to discuss the overall strategy as well as the
operation and financial performance of the Group. Notice of
Board meeting was sent to all Directors at least 14 days prior
to a regular board meeting. Reasonable notices will be given
to the Directors for ad-hoc board meetings. Directors may
participate either in person or through electronic means of
communications.

All relevant materials were sent to all the Directors relating to
the matters brought before the meetings. All the Directors
have been provided with sufficient resources to discharge their
duties, and, upon reasonable request, the Directors will be
able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses. All Directors will
have the opportunity to include matters in the agenda for
Board meetings. Details of individual attendance of the
Directors in Board meetings are set out in the table on page
38 of this annual report.

APPOINTMENTS, RE-ELECTION AND
REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract or appointment letter with the Company for a specific
term of two or three years. All of their appointments are
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance
with the Articles of Association of the Company.

All of the independent non-executive Directors and the
non-executive Director were appointed for a term of three
years, and are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
in accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company.
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The responsibilities and authority for selection and
appointment of Directors is delegated to the Nomination
Committee but the ultimate responsibility for selection and
appointment of Directors of the Company rests with the entire
Board. In evaluating and selecting any candidate for
directorship, among other things, the following criteria will be
considered:

e  Character and integrity.

° Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under
the board diversity policy that are relevant to the
Company’s business and corporate strategy.

° Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving
diversity on the Board.

° Requirement for the Board to have independent directors
in accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the
candidate would be considered independent with
reference to the independence guidelines set out in the
Listing Rules.

° Any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the
Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity.

° Willingness and ability to devote adequate time to
discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or the
Board Committee(s).

o Such other perspectives that are appropriate to the
Company’s business and succession plan and where
applicable, may be adopted and/or amended by the
Board and/or the Nomination Committee from time to
time for nomination of directors and succession planning.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board will evaluate the
candidates based on the criteria as set out above to determine
whether such candidates are qualified for directorship. The
Nomination Committee will also consider recommendations for
candidates made by shareholders of the Company.
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Regular reviews will be conducted by the Nomination
Committee on the structure, size and composition of the
Board, the policy on nomination of Directors of the Company
and the mechanisms for ensuring independent views and
inputs are available to the Board and where appropriate, the
Nomination Committee will make recommendations on
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy and business needs.

Under provision C.2.1 of the Code, the roles of the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and the chief executive
should be clearly established and set out in writing. Following
the resignation of Mr. Qin Song as an executive Director, vice-
chairman, chief executive officer and member of the
nomination committee of the Company with effect from
21 January 2022, the Company has appointed Mr. Chen Xiao
Liang in place of Mr. Qin Song to take up the vacancy of the
chief executive officer. Mr. Chen Xiao Liang held the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer at the same time for the
period from 21 January 2022 to 22 April 2022.

In addition, following the resignation of Mr. Chen Xiao Liang as
an executive Director, chairman and chief executive officer of
the Company with effect from 22 April 2022, Mr. Huang Wanru
was appointed as the chairman of the Company in his place
on the same date, but the Company has not yet appointed an
individual to take up the vacancy of the chief executive officer,
and the roles and functions of the chief executive officer have
been performed by all the executive Directors collectively since
22 April 2022.

The Company continuously updates Directors on the latest
developments and changes to the Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements and provides training to
develop and refresh the Directors’ knowledge and skills. The
Company also provides Directors with monthly updates on the
performance, position and prospects of the Company.
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Directors are encouraged to participate in continuing
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The Company has prepared a training
record in order to assist the Directors to record the training
undergone by each of them.

The company secretary reports from time to time the latest
changes and development of the Listing Rules and other
corporate governance requirements with written materials.
Individual Director had also attended seminars and/or
conferences or workshops or forums relevant to his profession
and duties as directors. All Directors (apart from Mr. Qin Song
who has resigned with effect from 21 January 2022 and Mr.
Chen Xiao Liang who has resigned with effect from 22 April
2022) have provided the Company with their respective
training records in compliance with Code C.1.4 of the Code.

Below is a summary of the training the directors had received
during the year:

Name of Directors
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EREEHHBINRE - ARFCHETHE
i UM ESFTHERFSEERINE

Al e

NEIMETRER EHAR R EMEESR
RENSTEPHRER WM EEEER -
ERIZEEMESMEBEZEMNESREH
FHE R Se@k TIEhgmE - TEE
E(BnteEs T -_—F—A=-1+—H
BEIERREEEBA T -__FMNA
“tZHRHEHAEN HEEFTRECA
EFRIMAR FIRME S S BRNEFIIEEE -

FA- EFRIEIOBMENOT

Type of trainings
ok B ki)

Mr. Huang Wanru
EEISEE

Mr. Jiang Xiang Yu
B A

Ms. Li Li

FHL L

Mr. Lam Ying Hung, Andy
MER/ T A

Mr. Lui Tin Nang
BREERAE

Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon
BYZELE

A: Attending seminars/conferences/workshops/forums

B: Reading journals/updates/articles/materials
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COMPANY SECRETARY DEARE

During the year ended 31 December 2022, Mr. Ng Wing Ching
(“Mr. Ng”) was the company secretary of the Company. Mr.
Ng is a full time staff of the Group and is responsible for
ensuring and advising the Board on compliance of all policies
and procedures in connection with the applicable rules and
regulations.

The biographical details of Mr. Ng are set out under the
section headed “Profile of directors and senior management”.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, Mr. Ng received not
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training to update
his knowledge and skills.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company established the Audit Committee which consists
of the three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Lam Ying Hung, Andy, Mr. Lui Tin Nang and Mr. Siu Man Ho,
Simon, and one non-executive Director, namely Ms. Li Li, and
Mr. Lui Tin Nang is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are, among other
matters, to review and monitor the financial reporting process,
internal control and risk management of the Group, and to
report to the Board on matters relating to the corporate
governance as stated in the Code. During the year ended
31 December 2022, the Audit Committee held two meetings
to review, among others, the financial results, financial
reporting and compliance procedures, internal control and risk
management systems, the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal audit function, appointment and scope of work of
external auditors and formulate, monitor and oversee
compliance with the anti-bribery, anti-corruption and whistle-
blowing policies. The Board has not taken a different view from
that of the Audit Committee regarding the selections,
appointment, resignation or dismissal of the external auditors.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are disclosed
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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The Company established the Remuneration Committee which
consists of five members (including the three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lam Ying Hung, Andy,
Mr. Lui Tin Nang and Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon, one non-
executive Director, namely Ms. Li Li and one executive
Director, namely Mr. Huang Wanru) and Mr. Lam Ying Hung,
Andy is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee. The
primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are, among
other matters, to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of executive Directors and senior management
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing policy on such remuneration to
assess performance of executive directors, to approve the
terms of executive directors’ service contracts, and to review
and/or approving matters relating to share schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is based
on the merit, qualifications and competence of the individuals.
The emoluments of the Directors are reviewed by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable
market statistics.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Remuneration
Committee held two meetings and reviewed the remuneration
policy, assessed performance of executive Directors and
approved the terms of the executive Directors’ service
contracts and the remuneration packages of the Directors and
senior management.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
disclosed on the websites of the Company and the Stock

Exchange.

The remuneration of directors and senior management by
band for the year ended 31 December 2022 is set out below:

Remuneration bands

ARRIERUFMEZEE - HMEZESHTE
ZRE(BRE=R2BUIFNITES (BIMR
WAL BREEERBYXREL)  — %
FARTEF(AFFLL) M —BRITES
(BMEEIsTA) A - AREEIE 5T 4 =2 Hr
ZEEMEFE FHMZBEENIZRAR
(EFBR)RATEFRSREEABNFH
B A ERZEFMBERR L LA MRS
RENRERF MESFSELHEBER - AT
EARTESORE  WERTESRHFALH
HFBARRE ETRAE17ERTER &
HAEEROEAENEER -

AEEEBNFHFIMBER DEREANIDAER -
BREREN - EFZOHFN I BFHZESR
ZRARNAMKEEE - AARBRLAEL
BHISERIEFHLER -

BHE-_T-_—_HF+-A=1+—HBItFEE ¥
MEEEBRIT RSB NFEZTMNBCE -
FEMITEERE  WHERTEERBEE
HNFEUAREE R REE A BN
@ °

HEE B S RIERE SR AR T BB R
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FeREEENFHER DT

Number of persons

4 B AE
Up to HK$1,000,000 12
£ %3% 1,000,000 77T

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 3

1,000,001 /8 7T & 1,500,000 7% 7T
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Further particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the
five highest paid employees as required to be disclosed
pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in
notes 13 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

The Company established the Nomination Committee which
consists of five members (including the three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lam Ying Hung, Andy,
Mr. Lui Tin Nang and Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon, one
non-executive Director, namely Ms. Li Li and Mr. Huang
Wanru, an executive Director) and Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon is
the chairman of the Nomination Committee. The primary duties
of the Nomination Committee are, among other matters, to
review the structure, size and composition of the Board on a
regular basis, to assess the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors, and to make recommendations to the
Board on relevant matters relating to the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors.

According to the board diversity policy adopted by the
Nomination Committee, Board diversity has been considered
from a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service etc. All
Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having
due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. Selection
of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service etc. The
final decision will be based on merit and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board. The Board
consists of both male and female members. The Nomination
Committee and the Board recognises the importance and
benefits of gender diversity at the Board level. Our Board
currently has one female Director out of six Directors, and the
Company is committed to improving gender diversity as and
when suitable candidates are identified. The Company will
continue to take gender diversity into consideration during
recruitment and increase the female proportion at all levels
over time with the ultimate goal of achieving gender diversity,
such that there is a pipeline of female senior management and
potential successors to the Board in the future.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Nomination
Committee held two meetings to make recommendations to
the Board on relevant matters relating to the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and discussed and reviewed the
structure, size and composition of the Board.
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The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are
disclosed on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

Attendance of meetings

The attendance of each Director at Board meetings, Board
Committees meetings and general meetings of the Company
for the year 2022 is set out below:

RAZEENBERECRER AR M

R A

ERHERH

R-ZF-__FE SEFRESF

e . B

ER=IEAN

EZZEeERMBRAENHERRAT -

Attendance out of number of meetings

ikal=f HERR P8
General
Audit Remuneration Nomination meeting
Name of director Board Committee Committee Committee (Note 1)
YN
BEnE 28 ENZEE  FMZES REZES (HaE1)
Executive Directors HiTEE
Chen Xiao Liang BRR
(resigned with effect (BZE-Z
from 22 April 2022) MAZ+-Hi
i) 3/4 - - - 11
Qin Song S
(resigned with effect (BZZ-Z
from 21 January 2022) —A-t+—H#
BHE) 2/3 - - - 1/
Huang Wanru g 6/7 - 2/2 2/2 2/2
Jiang Xiang Yu FEge30) 6/7 - - - 2/2
Non-Executive Director IHiTEE
LiLi &3] /7 212 212 212 212
Independent Non-Executive BV 38 /7EE
Directors
Lam Ying Hung, Andy MEE I 2/2 2/2 2/2 2/2
Lui Tin Nang EPNGZ /7 212 212 2/2 2/2
Siu Man Ho, Simon BEXZ /7 2/2 2/2 2/2 2/2
Note: 5T -
1. The annual general meeting and extraordinary general meeting were 1. BERBAEASLREEIAESBR - -~

held on 12 January 2022 and 10 June 2022 respectively.
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MECHANISM TO ENSURE INDEPENDENT
VIEWS FROM DIRECTORS

During the year, the Nomination Committee also reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of mechanisms to ensure
independent views and input are available to the Board. Taking
into account the following channels, the Nomination
Committee considered that the Company had in place
mechanisms which remain effective to ensure a strong
independent element on the Board. To ensure independent
views and input from any Director, the following mechanism is
established by the Board:

Each of the independent non-executive Directors shall
provide a written annual confirmation of independence to
the Company on their compliance with the independence
requirements as set out under Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Nomination Committee shall assess the
independence of independent non-executive Directors
upon appointment and annually to ensure they can
continually exercise independent judgement.

Currently, approximately 33.3% of the Board members
are executive Directors while approximately 16.7% and
50.0% of the Board members are non-executive Director
and independent non-executive Directors respectively,
which exceeds the requirement of the Listing Rules that
at least one-third of the Board are independent non-
executive Directors.

At least 14 days’ formal notice of regular Board and
Board Committee Meetings will be given to all Directors,
and all Directors are invited to include any matters for
discussion in the agenda. By at least three business days
in advance of every regular Board and Board Committee
Meeting, Directors are provided with the meeting agenda
and the relevant board papers containing complete,
adequate and timely information to enable full deliberation
on the issues to be considered at the respective
meetings.
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All Directors are required to declare their direct/indirect
interests, if any, in any business proposals to be
considered at the meetings and, where appropriate, they
are required to abstain from voting on any Board
resolution concerned.

Independent non-executive Directors should attend all
regular meetings of the Board and Board Committees on
which they serve. They should also attend general
meetings of the Company to acquire understanding of
the views of the shareholders.

Independent non-executive Directors receive fixed fee(s)
for their role as members of the Board and Board
Committees and no equity-based or incentive based
compensation program is granted to independent non-
executive Directors as this may lead to bias in their
decision-making and compromise their objectivity and
independence.

The Company Secretary provided induction pack and
orientation program for all new recruits to the Board.
Such program would familiarise the newly appointed
Director with the nature of the business, the corporation’s
strategy, the internal control and corporate governance
practices and policies, and directors’ duties and
responsibilities. Subsequent information packages are
regularly provided to the Directors to keep them abreast
of their responsibilities and infuse them with new
knowledge relevant to the Group’s current business and
operating environment.

To facilitate proper discharge of Directors’ duties and
responsibilities, all Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors) are entitled to seek advice from the
Company Secretary as well as from independent
professional advisers at the expense of the Company.
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During the Board and Board Committee meetings, the
independent non-executive Directors are encouraged to
express freely their independent views and inputs in an
open and candid manner. The Chairman also encourages
questions and challenges from Directors, in particular
independent non-executive Directors and their comments
and concerns are closely followed up by the
management.

In addition to Board meetings, the Chairman schedules a
meeting annually with independent non-executive
Directors without the presence of other Directors to
discuss the affairs of the Group.

The Company Secretary is required to prepare minutes
that record not only the decision reached but any
concerns raised or dissenting views expressed by
Directors. Draft versions of the minutes are circulated to
all Directors for their comment and confirmation before it
is finalised for records. Minutes of all Board and Board
Committee Meetings are available for Directors’
inspection.

The implementation and effectiveness of the above
mechanisms have been reviewed by the Boards on an annual
basis and the Boards believe these measures would allow
Directors to contribute effectively and independent views and
input are available to the Boards and Board Committees.
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WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining the
highest standards of openness, probity and accountability. We
encourage reporting of concerns and actual or suspected
misconduct or malpractice or unethical acts (e.g. corruption)
by any of our staff and/or external parties in any matter related
to the Group.

The Group has established a whistleblowing policy which aims
to enable the Company’s employees and those who deal with
the Company to raise concerns, in confidence and anonymity,
with the audit committee about possible improprieties in
matters related to the Company, in order to help detect and
deter misconduct or malpractice or unethical acts in the
Company.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

The Company takes a zero-tolerance approach towards all
forms of bribery and corruption and is committed to observing
and upholding high standards of business integrity, honesty,
fairness, impartiality and transparency in all its business
dealings at all times. We strictly prohibit any form of fraud or
bribery, and are committed to prevention, deterrence,
detection, reporting and investigation of all forms of fraud and
bribery.

The Group has established an anti-corruption policy which
sets out the basic standard of conduct which applies to all
directors, officers and employees of the Company and its
wholly owned subsidiaries. It also provides guidance to all
employees on acceptance of advantage and handling of
conflict of interest when dealing with the Company’s business.
The Company also encourages and expects our business
partners including suppliers, contractors and clients to abide
by the principles of the policy.
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=
ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Board acknowledges its responsibilities for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements of the Group for each
financial year, which should give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Company and the Group and of the
results and cash flow for that year in compliance with relevant
laws and applicable accounting standards.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2022, the Directors have adopted
appropriate and consistent accounting policies and made
prudent and reasonable judgments and estimations.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2022 have been prepared on a going-concern
basis. The responsibility of the external auditor is to form an
independent opinion, based on their audit, on those
consolidated financial statements of the Group prepared by
the Board and to report their opinion to the Shareholders. A
statement by the auditor about their reporting responsibilities
is set out in the Independent Auditor’'s Report.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the remuneration
paid/payable to Mazars CPA Limited in respect of audit and
non-audit services is summarised as follows:
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The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group and for reviewing their
effectiveness. The Group’s internal control system is designed
to safeguard assets against misappropriation and unauthorized
disposition and to manage operational risks. These systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. Internal control and risk management
systems are reviewed annually to ensure its continuous
effectiveness. The Group has in place a risk management
framework which has the following five components: risk
identification, risk assessment, risk treatment, reporting and
monitoring.

A review of the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal
control for the year covering all key controls, including financial,
operational and compliance and risk management controls, is
conducted by rotation and performed annually. The
examination consisted of enquiry, discussion and validation
through observation and inspection. The result of the review
has been reported to the Audit Committee and the Board and
areas of improvement, if any, have been identified and
appropriate measures have been put in place to manage the
risks. The Company’s internal audit department independently
reviews the effectiveness of the internal controls and risk
management, including financial, operational and compliance
controls, in the key activities of the Company’s business and
submits a report at least once a year to the Board for its review
and monitors the effectiveness of the system of internal control
and risk management of the Group.

For the year of 2022, no significant control failings,
weaknesses, risk or critical internal control issues have been
identified. Based on the reports from the Group’s internal audit
department, the Audit Committee and the Board consider the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems are
adequate and effective and the Group has complied with the
provisions on risk management and internal controls as set out
in the Code.
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The Company has procedures and internal controls for the
handling and dissemination of inside information. The Group
strictly prohibits unauthorised use of inside information. The
Group strives to identify inside information and any information
which may potentially constitute inside information at the
earliest opportunity. Such information is then assessed and
handed to the Board for decision on the need for disclosure.
Inside information and other information which is required to
be disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules and the SFO will be
disclosed in accordance with all applicable requirements in
due course. Inside information would be kept strictly
confidential until such disclosure.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
The constitutional documents of the Company are available on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

During the year, there was no change in the Company’s
constitutional documents.

With effect from 1 January 2022, the Listing Rules have been
amended which requires, among others, listed issuers to adopt
a uniform set of 14 “Core Standards” for shareholder protections
for issuers set out in Appendix 3 of the Listing Rules. As such,
the Board proposes to amend the existing amended and
restated memorandum and articles of association (the “Existing
M&A”) of the Company (the “Proposed Amendments”) and to
adopt the second amended and restated memorandum and
articles of association (the “New M&A”) of the Company in
substitution for and to the exclusion of the Existing M&A in order
to (i) bring the relevant provisions of the Existing M&A in line with
the amendments made to the Listing Rules and the applicable
laws and procedures of the Cayman Islands; (i) expressly permit
a general meeting of the Company to be held as, in addition to
a physical meeting, an electronic meeting or a hybrid meeting
where shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) may
attend the general meeting remotely through electronic means
in addition to physical attendance in person; and (i) make other
consequential and housekeeping changes.

The Proposed Amendments and the adoption of the New
M&A are subject to the approval of the Shareholders by way of
a special resolution at the forthcoming AGM, and will become
effective upon the approval by the Shareholders at the AGM.
The New M&A will be published on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

ARRHRERIEREREARBERIEF LA
HRERHE « ARBBME L REREEAAE
HE - AEBENFRERHEBRANRHEE
RAEFRIERKARHEEMNEER - ERYEAE
BOHBETTAE - WIRREF S AMEH IR
FEHPRTE o REBE LR REH LS K
{5 - AW ERHNEH B SR B B R E R R
RATBERRETURE - AR HERRNEE
A AS & BRARRE -

BERXHF
A Y R SR T RO 28 ) B 32 A 4 0
B0 -

RIER - KA AR SR I 3 -

BT —F—F—Bi LTmRAIEKE
7 B ER(ERERE) EHETARET
AR BRORFE S| A _E TR R & = P
—EAH14ENGR— THROKF ] Bt
EEg@Bgi ARRBRAKET NENIE
BERAALARN(REASERXAR A
R ([BRRERT ) - WIRAARRBIEIERT M
BEizABERAR((HFEaSER AR
RBID) - B KRB A AR AEMEZA
A0 K AR BN IA () (23R A A B AR A S 4R Rl Y
FERB R XAT & S LT AR RIVEH MV ERT A K@
RRASEEERNER  (\BFTHREReE
v NBFERZIORAAEH (KRBT 4
FEON  RABBER(RER]) R EBETF S
AEBHFEORRRE) TABITAQFN
BRERARE - (i) 1T H AR & B N A B0 E I8

4

= °

RIS R] MR A BT A LA RIAR
AR REEBRRBFAE LSRR ZERN
TR - TTAMEE - WARRERR
BRERBFERG LHER - TTAIER - FAES
B2 M S A R TSR AN B BB SR FTEY
ME o

20225 F5  HEERBR AR

45



46

Corporate governance report
TEERREE

DIVIDEND POLICY

In recommending or declaring dividends, the Company shall
maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its working
capital requirements and future growth as well as its
shareholder value. There is no pre-determined dividend payout
ratio and the declaration and distribution of dividends shall be
determined at the sole discretion of the Board taking into
account, among others, the financial results, cashflow
situation, future operations and earnings, capital requirements
and expenditure plans and any other factors that the Board
may consider relevant. The Company may declare and pay
dividends by way of cash or scrip or by other means that the
Board considers appropriate. The declaration and distribution
of dividends shall also be subject to the articles of association
of the Company and all applicable laws and regulations. The
Board will review the policy from time to time and make
relevant amendments as necessary.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company aims to maintain regular, effective and fair
communication with shareholders and is committed to
conveying important and relevant information to shareholders
on a timely basis. In compliance with the Listing Rules, at least
20 clear business days’ notice will be given to the shareholders
for annual general meeting and at least 10 clear business
days’ notice will be given for all other meetings. All general
meetings of the Company have been conducted by way of poll
and detailed procedures for conducting a poll were explained
at the commencement of the meeting. Results on all general
meetings will be published by way of an announcement
immediately following the relevant general meeting.

To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a
shareholders’ communication policy which sets out various
communication channels for establishing a twoway relationship
and communication between the Company and the
Shareholders. The policy is reviewed on an annual basis to
ensure its effectiveness. The Company maintains a website as
a communication platform for shareholders and investors,
where information and updates on the Group’s business
developments and operations, financial information and other
information are available for public access. Shareholders and
investors may write directly to the Company’s principal place
of business in Hong Kong for any inquiries.
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Corporate governance report
TEERRESE

The Board considers that general meetings of the Company
provide an important channel for shareholders to exchange
views with the Board. The Chairman of the Board as well as
the chairmen and/or other members of the Board committees
have endeavored to be available to answer questions raised
by the shareholders.

During the year, the Company has reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders’
communication policy through discussions amongst Board
members during board meetings. The Company has reviewed
communication activities and engagement with Shareholders
conducted in 2022 and was satisfied with the implementation
and effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication policy
which allowed Shareholders to engage actively with the
Company.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

In accordance with Article 58 of the articles of association of
the Company, one or more shareholders of the Company
holding as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all
times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary, to require an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall
be held within two (2) months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionists themselves may do so in the same manner, and
all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionists by the Company.
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If a shareholder wishes to nominate a person to be elected as
a Director, the following documents must be validly served to
the Company’s principal place of business at 3/F, 38 On Lok
Mun Street, On Lok Tsuen, Fanling, New Territories, Hong
Kong: (i) his/her notice of intention to propose a resolution at
the general meeting; and (ii) a notice executed by the
nominated candidate of his/her willingness to be appointed
together with his/her information as required to be disclosed
under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules, within the period
commencing on the day after the dispatch of the notice of the
general meeting appointed for such election and ending on the
date falling seven days after the dispatch of the said notice of
the general meeting.

Any Shareholder may direct their enquires and proposal by
mail to the Company’s principal place of business at 3/F, 38
On Lok Mun Street, On Lok Tsuen, Fanling, New Territories,
Hong Kong.

Shareholders should direct any questions about their
shareholdings to the Company’s Hong Kong branch share
registrar: Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far East
Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong.
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Profile of directors and senior management

EENSNEEEERE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Mr. HUANG Wanru (E& ), aged 54, was appointed as an
executive Director and a member of the Remuneration
Committee with effect from 31 March 2020. He was appointed
as a member of the Nomination Committee with effect from 21
January 2022. He was appointed as a vice president of the
Group in October 2011 and resumed the same position in
March 2020 when he rejoined the Group after brief departure
from the Group in June 2018 for other business engagements.
With effect from 22 April 2022, he has been re-designated as
the Chairman of the Company. With years of extensive working
experience in the finance field, Mr. Huang has been
responsible for the financial and management information
system of the Group. Since he joined the Group in May 1998,
he has been serving in various subsidiary companies of the
Group in various roles such as cost accounting, finance
manager and finance controller. Since March 2008, he has
been appointed as the financial controller of the Group. He
was also appointed as director of certain subsidiaries of the
Group.

Mr. JIANG Xiang Yu (3 ¥ HI), aged 67, was appointed as
an executive Director with effect from 16 July 2021. He was
appointed as a vice president of the Group in September
2011. Since he joined the Group in June 1999, he has been
serving in various subsidiary companies of the Group as
general manager and has over 20 years of experience in the
cigarette package industry. Mr. Jiang was appointed as
director of certain subsidiaries of the Group.
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Profile of directors and senior management

ESNSNEEEBERE

Ms. LI Li (Z2%]), aged 51, was appointed as an non-executive
Director on 22 July 2015. Ms. Li is a Chairman of the board of
directors of Masterwork Group Co., Ltd. (K ERZRI £
MDA IR A 7)) (“Masterwork” together with its subsidiaries,
the “Masterwork Group”), a company whose issued shares
are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock code:
300195). She is also an executive director of certain
subsidiaries of the Masterwork Group Co., Ltd. and Tianjin
Ming Xuan Investment Limited Company* (FXZZ &L E AR
A Al). She has been appointed as a member of the
supervisory board of Heidelberger Druckmaschinen AG, a
company listed on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange, since 25
July 2019. Ms. Li is qualified as a senior economist in the
People’s Republic of China. She has extensive management
experience in the printing and packaging companies.

Mr. LAM Ying Hung, Andy (M3 }55), aged 58, was appointed
as an Independent Non-Executive Director on 4 March 2009.
Mr. Lam is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and
a member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. Lam has over 25 years of
experience in accounting, banking and finance sectors. Mr.
Lam is the Managing Consultant of Lontreprise Consulting
Limited. Mr. Lam is an associate member of various
professional organisations, namely The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators, The Hong Kong Institute of
Company Secretaries and The Hong Kong Institute of
Bankers. Mr. Lam is also a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and a Certified Public
Accountant of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”). Mr. Lam is an Independent Non-
Executive Director of Xingfa Aluminium Holdings Limited and
Synertone Communication Corporation and Weiye Holdings
Limited, all of them are companies listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. Mr. Lam received his Master of
Professional Accounting and Master of Science in
E-commerce for Executives both from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University.

* The English name is not an official name and is provided for
identification purpose only
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Profile of directors and senior management

EENSNEEEERE

Mr. LUI Tin Nang (& X §£), aged 65 was appointed as an
Independent Non-Executive Director on 4 March 2009. Mr. Lui
is the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee of
the Company. Mr. Lui has a Bachelor degree in Science from
the University of Leeds, a Master Degree in Business
Administration from the University of Bradford in United
Kingdom and a Postgraduate Diploma in insolvency from
HKICPA. He is a fellow member of the HKICPA (Practicing),
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England & Wales, the
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong, and The Society of Chinese
Accountants and Auditors. He is also a member of the
Chartered Institute of Management Accountant, Institute of
Certified Public Accountants in Australia and the Certified Tax
Adviser. He has years of experience in accounting, auditing,
taxation, corporate finance and business advisory. Mr. Lui was
publicly censured by the Stock Exchange on 15 July 2019 for
certain breaches and he was reprimanded by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants on 2 November 2020
for failure to comply with certain rules and practice note.
Details of the above are set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 9 August 2019 and 21 April 2021.
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Profile of directors and senior management

ESNSNEEEBERE

Mr. SIU Man Ho, Simon (X %), aged 49, was appointed
as an Independent Non-Executive Director on 4 March 2009.
Mr. Siu is the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a
member of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration
Committee of the Company. Mr. Siu is a practising solicitor of
the High Court of Hong Kong. He obtained a Bachelor of Laws
degree from the University of Hong Kong in 1996 and is a
partner of a Hong Kong law firm, namely Sit, Fung, Kwong &
Shum Solicitors. Mr. Siu is also a China Appointed Attesting
Officer appointed by the Ministry of Justice of the PRC. His
areas of practice include corporate finance, capital markets,
securities, mergers and acquisitions, joint ventures and general
commercial matters. Mr. Siu is also an independent non-
executive director of Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings
Limited (stock code 897), Shuang Yun Holdings Limited (stock
code 1706) and HKE Holdings Limited (stock code 1726), all
of which are companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. He also actively participates in charitable and social
services in Hong Kong. He was previously appointed as the
director of Hong Kong Pok Oi Hospital. He is acting as the
legal adviser for United Hearts Youth Foundation and VQ
Foundation as well as the school manager of The Association
of Directors and Former Directors of Pok Oi Hospital Ltd.
Leung Sing Tak College. He is also a member of the
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference in Yangjiang City of Guangdong Province, the
PRC
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Profile of directors and senior management

EENEAREEERRE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LI Shujun (Z# &), aged 46, has been the Human Resource
Director of the Group since May 2022. He first joined the
Group in June 1998 and has worked for the Group in the roles
of deputy general manager, office manager and operation
management manager in various subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. Li has over 24 years of experience in the cigarette package
industry. He is currently the deputy general manager, executive
director and/or general manager of four subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr. Li obtained his qualification as printing
technology senior engineer in November 2015 and he has
been a member of the Packaging and Printing Subcommittee
of the Printing Standardisation Technical Committee in the
PRC since March 2022. Mr. Li was also awarded the
Certificate for High-Level Professional in Shenzhen by the
Human Resources and Social Security Administration of the
Shenzhen Municipality of the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”) for the period of April 2021 to March 2026 and the
Certificate for High-Level Talent in Shenzhen Pingshan by the
Organisation Department of Communist Party of China
Pingshan District Committee of Shenzhen Municipality of the
PRC for the period of January 2022 to December 2027. He
was also appointed as director of certain subsidiaries of the
Group.

Mr. DU Chuan Hui (#{&#&), aged 38, has been the financial
controller of the Group since May 2022. He first joined the
Group in 2008 and has worked in the roles of financial
controller, finance manager and accountant in Shenzhen Kecai
Printing Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Group. Mr. Du is
graduated from Anhui University of finance and Economics in
2008 and holds a bachelor’s degree of Business
Administration. He is a non-practising member of The Chinese
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He was also
appointed as director of certain subsidiaries of the Group.
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Profile of directors and senior management

EENSNEEERERE

Mr. ZHUANG Kun (E i#), aged 41, has been the General
Manager of marketing department in 2023. He first joined the
Group in 2003 and has worked for the Group in the roles of deputy
general manager of printing, marketing and project management
in various subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Zhuang has over 20
years of experience in the cigarette package industry. Mr. Zhuang
obtained bachelor’s degree of Packaging Engineering from Wuhan
University in 2016. Mr. Zhuang has extensive management and
practical experience in printing skill, new technology research and
cost control of printing and packaging. He was appointed as a
director of one of the subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. NG Wing Ching (& 7k8), aged 43, is the Financial Controller
and Company Secretary of the Company. Mr. Ng joined the
Group in July 2021. He holds a bachelor’s degree of Business
Administration (Accounting) from the City University of Hong
Kong. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and has nearly twenty years of experience
in auditing, accounting and corporate governance.
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Independent auditor’s report
B2 AR

mazars

To the members of Litu Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Litu
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together
the “Group”) set out on pages 64 to 216, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2022, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, and of its financial performance and cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements” section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Mazars CPA Limited

PERIR(EHE) GHASHAAERAE
42nd Floor, Central Plaza,

18 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
BRBFHEE1SRTIRERL2IE

Tel EB5E: (852) 2909 5555

Fax {8 H: (852) 2810 0032

Email BE: info@mazars.hk

Website #814: www.mazars.hk
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B2 AR

KEY AUDIT MATTERS BRETTEE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional FEEHEHEIBBEESNEEHE - R A
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the HAEIMGAPBRENBIARAEENSE
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These 18 ° ZEEIE TN ES R B BESMER
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the H&HEERRERIE EET@UREEE
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming 12 #tEBHNER

our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion

on these matters.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RRETER EEEENTRERRETSENTE

Impairment assessment of goodwill

BB R ER

Refer to note 19 to the consolidated financial statements
DR A IR EZ N T 19

We identified the impairment assessment of QOur key procedures in relation to the impairment
goodwill as a key audit matter due to significant assessment of goodwill included:

judgements and estimations exercised by the ZEZEREERENGETNEEREFBIE

Group’s management in impairment assessment.

EEBEERENHABERENFEE R e Discussing with the Group’s management on

B BEEEEREAETRENGREELERY their approach to impairment assessment and
T 2 d 5T o understand their key controls over the

impairment assessment process;
e H EEEETEEBNWMENGNAERTRE
HEDRER(ARAZ 80 = 292

o Evaluating the independent qualified professional
valuers’ competence, capabilities and objectivity;

e MEBUSGERBEZEMEMNBEN BEOIK
BEM

o Reviewing the valuation report provided by the
independent qualified professional valuers and
assessing its reasonableness;

s HEHBUAERBEEMEMARHNMEER
HWREERRAIE
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B X HERE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

BREEEH

FARETSEE W)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEEENTREBRRETSEEANTE

Impairment assessment of goodwill (continued)

BERE R ()

Refer to note 19 to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

PERARE TS RE ML 19 (4B)

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s goodwill
amounted to approximately HK$728,704,000 (net
of accumulated impairment loss of approximately
HK$355,868,000) relating to the business
combinations in previous years which are subject to
impairment assessment in accordance with Hong
Kong Accounting Standard 36 “Impairment of
Assets” issued by the HKICPA.
RZBEZZF+ZA=+—H  E5ENEER
#)728,704,000% sT( 0 Bx R 5 B E B B ff)
355,868,000 7T) * W IIBEFEMNEHEH - A
RIEEEE JrEﬂﬁ/‘@ﬁE%ﬁﬁ”JiS/% 2R 2RI 5 36 5%
[ &R | EITRER A -

As detailed in note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements, in determining whether goodwill is
impaired requires an estimation of the recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less
costs of disposal and its value in use of the cash-
generating units (“CGUs”) to which goodwill has
been allocated. Significant judgements, estimations
and assumptions were required by management of
the Group in assessing the recoverable amounts of
the CGUs.

WA M EmAWMT 10T - BERNERES
BEAGTRESEE - BIAR EER L EK 4
EoiimBReELEN((ReEEREM])HRE
REERES E’ﬁa‘m% IR R E A B A
KeeiEk - ESBETEEAERERNHE - &
B EEE

Assessing the appropriateness of the valuation
approaches and checking their mathematical
accuracy;

AHEHET ZER R EAREHFERE

Assessing the reasonableness of the key
assumptions based on our knowledge and
understanding of the industry and market;
BRBERFETERTSHOMBL THIEEE

BREARE

Checking, on a sample basis, the completeness,
reliability, accuracy and relevance of the input
data used by management and the independent
qualified professional valuers; and
BEREEEERBIABREXEGERA
WABIREE R - A5 - ERELAER &

Reviewing the sensitivity analyses performed by
the management to evaluate the potential
impacts on the recoverable amount and
impairment.

EHHEREBETHNEREDN - AT EE A
WEleREMRENBELE -
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Independent auditor’s report

B AR E

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

REEEH

EARETSIE (&)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEREFTRERRETSENG X

Expected credit losses (“ECL”) assessment of trade receivables

BEZRUWRERMFESR (RHEEEE]

Refer to notes 24 and 39 to the consolidated financial statements

DRI B TE AT AT 24 K 39

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s trade
receivables amounted to approximately
HK$363,892,000 (net of allowance for ECL of
approximately HK$6,353,000). Reversal of loss
allowance amounting to approximately HK$46,000
has been recognised during the year.
RZEBEZZF+=-A=+—H X E5ENEFE
WK I8 /% #) 363,892,000 % 7T (IR FE HAE B B 18
1 15 496,353,000 7T ) © & 18 8 & 1 2] 49 46,000
BITERAFEHER

We consider this matter as a key audit matter
because of their significant judgement and
estimations exercised by the Group’s management
in the ECL assessment of trade receivables.

MR EXEEEENEZHRWTIREREEER
FHER TR ERHE M fEE - EFRLERERAR
FAtEE o
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Our key procedures in relation to the ECL assessment
of trade receivables included:
EERESRWIBETRMEE BB GETHEER
EFaE

o Understanding key controls on how the
management estimates the credit loss allowance
for trade receivables;

e THRERBEBWMAGFEZIRUFBEEBRESE
B EZ P

o Evaluating the independent professional valuer’s
competence, capabilities and objectivity;

e MMBUERRMGEMOBEL EHEEER
1|\£_'E :

o Reviewing the ECL assessment prepared by
management and ECL valuation report issued by
the independent professional valuer;

s EREEERAEMNTEHEEBBILIEVE
FMEMELNFEREEBERT RS

e Assessing whether there is evidence of
management bias on impairment assessment of
trade receivables by evaluating the consistency
of judgement made by the management year on
year through discussion with the management to
understand their rationale;

o  FBEERENRABRBEIREETFIEAE
ZIRE - AAEBBEAEES B KmaThE
BREBBRBREEERGE S EWFIR 2R
ERFTERR



Independent auditor’s report

B X HERE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

REETER

EARETSE (&)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EERFIPEERRETSRNS X

Expected credit losses (“ECL”) assessment of trade receivables (continued)

BESRWHERMFEER (RBEEER] G (&)

Refer to notes 24 and 39 to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

LIEAR B I TE AR M it 24 ) 39 (#)

Management assessed the allowance for ECL of
trade receivables based on probability-weighted
estimate of credit losses over the expected life of
these receivables and where there are any events or
changes in circumstances indicate a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
trade receivables.

EIR BN E RYGRIATA B B R B E =14 3K
BRI BRREE SHRYGIERT R RRERER
AN ERRBEEBEERENEATTEES
JEW IR E E B8R -

Testing settlement of trade receivables
throughout the year, on a sample basis, to
ensure the reliability of past collection history for
management’s recoverability assessment;
MEAAE S RURERBEFEZBER
S NERBEERRELER S - NEERE
A AT Y EE

Assessing whether items in trade receivables
ageing report were classified within the
appropriate ageing bracket by comparing
individual items in the report with the relevant
sales invoices on a sample basis;

FEHIE L B8 H R IAR R RS A ER1E B
HEAEAHEER  IAZREASEEREE
DEREERRIRAER

Assessing the appropriateness of the
methodologies and critical judgements made by
management leading to the conclusion of the
recoverability assessment;

B REER T E MR N Em L AR B
SEEH 2 BB BT R R EE

Assessing the reasonableness of recoverability
of trade receivables with reference to credit
history including default or delay in payments,
settlement records, subsequent settlements and
ageing analysis; and

SR RIJEBEN TR FELSE - BRBEMNR
AREROITEEE LS - FHHE HEWGRIA
ZAKREMELREE &

Evaluating the judgements made by management
over the expectation of occurrence of the
impairment event against the evidence available.
HEMSRE  FEEEBYHBERESHZ
FEHA(EH 2 HIER -

20225 F5  HEERBR AR
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Independent auditor’s report
B2 AR

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the 2022 annual report of the Company, but does
not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.

LITU HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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Independent auditor’s report
B2 AR

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

BB ERGE M BRRRARE
MEE

EENERRAERTERAMERRERM
ETEFAERNAGFRERMEMNEKRE
MR - W ABRESFER N ZBANR
o ARERBEEFHENZTRIGERA B
TERER)EL - BRt 2N EE M
& o BEFMARARRENATEEREMA
TEEIAREERNSE -

BEETEESERNZE  EREEEER
ERETHEZ TIETRREREREMTT
FERMERERIRA o #5RER A A] R EGF 3k i
MEL - HERRERESERABERATA
FEEREREGEVBRRIEL LR
ER - RIBAR BB RS RERUL -

ERBERBRAERETETEES &
EREXRHAE REBXIEREE - BF

jaray
=
Ih -

o PRI R B R KR K EE AR T & BUR
EMBHRRFEERHERRAMNER -
Rt RBITEFEF AEEZE AR
ANERFTERMEENESERE  (F
REFERNER - ARNEEFRI LY
RER BE FEER ERRM
SR EABEZENERN - FILREE
3R R R T 8 2 B K88 RR R ) R
RERAREHRFNERMERNEKN
$H SRR [

EAHEBO R IE - ARRET

igi 3=
BENESAEF EXIFEEY B
SEAMEENEREERER -
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Independent auditor’s report
B2 AR

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

LITU HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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Independent auditor’s report
B2 AR

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong,

31 March 2023

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is:

Chan Chi Wai
Practising Certificate number: PO5708

REMHREXR GRS BRRARE
WEE &)

BENMMREEFLER  BHHEFETA
BB ERBRER  YHRRFER
ARERAERSEYEETE L ENMAR
BEREMEE - AR RHEREE M REETT
Bk AR s e (WER)

REREERBNFART  BEEETHAH
B A M BERRNBETERERNER
MK ERESFE - EEERBEIREF
Wl EER - RIFERIVER T AR
BEZER  SERHRELHNERLT - HE
BEREESHRETABRERENNEE
BREBOEEN QRN - IFEFRETE
EREREEZLER -
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HFESEED
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

HeZEBEER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

2022 2021
—E-= —ET-—F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
BEE FExT FET

Revenue &= 5 984,495 1,158,852
Cost of sales & AR (881,418) (997,365)
Gross profit EF 103,077 161,487
Other income Hapg A 7 51,782 41,575
Other net gains and losses H e R ES1EF5E 8 16,749 (104,983)
Reversal of loss allowance on trade 2 5 & = {th fE LIS R IB &

and other receivables and BHEERBERE

contract assets, net B EFER 9 74 2,486
Selling and distribution expenses HERSHEX (24,632) (26,180)
Administrative expenses ITERFAX (119,588) (113,725)
Finance costs A& K AR 10 (10,199) (14,416)
Share of result of associates BaN [t NI} 21 1,573 70,126
Share of result of a joint venture DMh—HEEhEEE 22 38 (83)
Profit before taxation RR % A= A 11 18,874 16,287
Taxation IE 12 (9,459) (5,665)
Profit for the year FEEA 9,415 10,622
Other comprehensive Hbh2mE (E518) s

(loss) income
Items that will not be reclassified to T2 E ¥ 7155 184

profit or loss: AIIEAE -
Exchange differences arising from  E#EINEE S &2 R

translation from functional EEmELELEZR

currency to presentation currency (171,120) 37,479
Share of other comprehensive (loss) 9 15EE4 A & 8y H Aty

income of associates 2 (EE) = (34,805) 12,213
Share of other comprehensive PME—EEEENEA

income of a joint venture e g - 228
Total other comprehensive Hitt2m (F5i8) WS A5

(loss) income (205,925) 49,920
Total comprehensive (loss) FE2HE (BB WEEH

income for the year (196,510) 60,542

LITU HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022



Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

HeZEBEER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FHET FHET
Profit for the year AT ALTEGEEERR :
attributable to:
Owners of the Company ZiN/NETE ZEWN 6,204 8,628
Non-controlling interests I IR i Z 3,211 1,994
9,415 10,622
Total comprehensive (loss) BT ALEAETE(EE)
income attributable to: &gt
Owners of the Company KREHEB A (197,000) 57,230
Non-controlling interests SRR 490 3,312
(196,510) 60,542
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Earnings per share BREF
Basic and diluted EARNEE 14 0.004 0.006

2022FF# HEEIRBRAF]
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Consolidated statement of financial position

e BB ER

At 31 December 2022 A—ZE-—F+=-HA=+—H

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B EE FERT FH&T
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - B MR 16 914,396 887,241
Right-of-use assets FREEE 17 86,100 103,347
Investment properties "EYE 18 145,148 55,780
Goodwill PEES 19 728,704 797,504
Intangible assets EREE 20 2,231 32,279
Interest in an associate R —fE & A E A 21 335,495 455,869
Interest in a joint venture R—EEELENER 22 - 8,559
Deferred tax assets EEHIBEE 34 15,223 5,895
Rental and other deposits paid EfEe REMES 26 5,848 3,889
2,233,145 2,350,363
Current assets RENEE
Inventories e 23 102,683 121,648
Trade receivables S RTE 24 363,892 364,539
Contract assets BHEE 25 33,799 144,569
Other receivables, prepayments HubpelhZhoE - A I8
and refundable deposits KARER] & 26 33,791 57,013
Tax recoverable A] Y Bl F IR 6,918 4,271
Structured deposits RIBMTR 2,629 -
Pledged bank deposits BIEERITIER 27 104,512 11,488
Bank balances and cash RITEREAS 27 313,292 440,350
961,516 1,143,878
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Consolidated statement of financial position

e PRI RER

At 31 December 2022 A—Z - —F+-HF=+—H

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B5E FExT FHET
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables B o EN A 28 243,182 256,211
Other payables and accruals Hib Nt RE N e B B 29 120,336 133,458
Lease liabilities HEa’ 30 - 333
Amount due to a non-controlling  FE{f — RS M B A T IEFZE &
interest of a subsidiary BEESFIE 31 4,233 2,552
Bank borrowings RITEE 32 266,633 342,428
Income tax payable FEfFTIS L 6,064 10,748
640,448 745,730
Net current assets REBEEEE 321,068 398,148
Total assets less HEERRBERSE
current liabilities 2,554,213 2,748,511
Non-current liabilities FREBAE
Government grants AT #Bh & 33 22,058 25,931
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFEEE 34 57,018 49,000
79,076 74,931
NET ASSETS EEFE 2,475,137 2,673,580
2022 F% HEERBERAA
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Consolidated statement of financial position
e nBIRRE

At 31 December 2022 A—ZE-—F+=-HA=+—H

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FHET FHT
Capital and reserves EAXK#E

Share capital A& AR 35 7,839 7,839
Reserves 1 2,442,048 2,639,048

Equity attributable to owners RAEHB ANEIEER
of the Company 2,449,887 2,646,887
Non-controlling interests FEE IR 25,250 26,693
TOTAL EQUITY PR BER 2,475,137 2,673,580

These consolidated financial statements on pages 64 to 216

FOAEIPEMHEAMERREN ZF

T=F-A=tHEESSHERRESR
oo WA TIIALTHREREE

were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of
Directors on 31 March 2023 and signed on its behalf by

Mr. Huang Wanru Mr. Jiang Xiang Yu

EHEBMELE BrEREE
Director Director
2 BE
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

GEEmB PR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —Z - —F+_-_A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

LN 29N
Reserves
e
Non-
Share Share  Statutory Other ~ Dividend  Exchange  Refained Total controling Total
capta  premum  reseve  reserves  reserve  resenve  eamings  reserves Totdl  interests equity
ik
R RhEE EERE EfEE RSEE EXRR RERN REEE e Ba  BREE
HKS000  HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS000 HKS000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000
Thr TEr Thr TEr  Thr  TAn  TEr  TEn  TEr  TEn TiEn
(Note@) ~ (Noteb)  (Notec) (Note d)
(Ma)  (Wb)  (Wiko) (Ftskd)
A1 Jenuary 2021 e 7830 496913 10980 (O07T25) 16769 11199 51851 27EN OMGHE 2331 276082
Profi for the year EREH - - - - - - 868 868 868 199 1062
Other comprehensive income FEEpEENE
for the year
— Exchange differences arising fom ~~ — R s 5% A
translation from functional SHEBTEL
curmency to presentation currency EREHE - - - - - 36,161 - 3161 36161 1318 37479
— Share of other comprehensive - PEBERAN
income of associates ﬁﬁﬂ%@”&m - - - - - 1213 - 1223 12213 - 1203
— Share of other comprehensive HAERES
income of a joint venture ﬁﬁ%@l{m - - - - - 228 - 28 28 - 28
Total other comprehensive income £ E {2 ARERE
for the year - - - - - 48602 - 48602 48,602 1318 49920
Total comprehensive income EE2ENEER
for the year - - - - - 48602 8628 57,230 57230 3312 60,042
Transactions with owners: EEEARS
Contributions and distributions HERDE
Dividend recognised as distriouton ~ BRANEHRE
(note 15) (M3 15) : - - - (156,789) - - [156789)  (156,789) - (156,789)
- - - - (156,789 - - (156789 (156,789 - (156,789
At 31 December 2021 RZE--E+ZA=1-H 7839 4936913 189,880 (2,907,725) - 59801 360,179 2639048 2646887 26693 2,673,580

2022FF# HEEIRBRAF]

69



70

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

EAREEAEE
Reserves
A
Non-
Share Share  Statutory Other Dividend Exchange Retained Total controlling Total
capital premium  reserve reserves  reserve  reserve - eamings - reserves Total interests equity
2R
RA  RHEE ZERE HtHE RSBE EXRE RERA  REEE @it BE BEEE
HK$000 HK$000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tén TER FEx  TEn  TEr TEr  TER  TEr  TEn  TEn  TEn
(Notea)  (Noteb)  (Notec) (Note d)
(Wita)  (HEb)  (Me GED)
At 1 January 2022 WZZ-—%-f-H 7839 4936913 189,880 (2,907,725) - 50801 360,179 2639,048 2646887 26,693 2,673,580
Proft for the year ERad - - - - - - 604 624 6204 3201 9415
Other comprehensive loss for the year ~ £E 02 B
— Exchange differences arising fom ~~ — R &% A
translation from functional SHERmEL
curmency to presentation currency EREE - - - - - (168,399) - (168399) (168,399)  (2721) (171,120)
— Share of other comprehensive loss = A —EELATH
of an associate 2 EER - = = = - (34805 - (34805  (34809) - (34805
Total other comprehenive loss EREM2EEEER
for the year = = = = - (203.204) - (03204) (203204 (2721) (205925)
Total comprehensive (loss) income EERE(FR) KieR
for the year = = = = - (08204 6204 (197,000 (197,000 490 (196,510)
Transfer to statutory resenve BRTITHE = - : - - B - - - -
Transactions with owners: HEEARS:
Contributions and distributions RERAK
Final dlvidend for 2022 proposed “ECCFRERERS
(note 15) (M3 15) - - - - 615 - (62719) = = = -
Dividends paid to non-controling BEZFE )
interests of a non-wholy FERERRENRS
owned subsidiary - - - - - - - - - (1933 (1,989
- - - - B - (B - -9 (9%
At 31 December 2022 RZE--#+-fA=1-H 7839 4936913 190,774 (2907,725) 62715 (143403) 302,774 2442048 2449887 25250 2,475,137
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

For th

Notes:

(@)

e year ended 31 December 2022 2 —F - —F+ A =+—HIFE

Share premium presents the excess of the net proceeds or
consideration from issuance of the Company’s shares over their par
value. The application of the share premium accounts is governed by
the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations for enterprises in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), the Company’s PRC
subsidiaries are required to maintain statutory reserve. Appropriation to
such reserve is made out of profit after taxation as reflected in the
statutory financial statements of the PRC subsidiaries while the amounts
and allocation basis are decided by its board of directors annually. The
appropriation to statutory surplus reserve may cease if the balance of
the statutory surplus reserve has reached 50% of the PRC subsidiaries’
registered capital. The statutory reserve can be used to make up prior
year losses, if any, and can be applied in conversion into capital by
means of capitalisation issue.

Other reserves comprised () the merger reserve which arose from the
difference between the nominal value and premium of shares of merged
subsidiaries over the nominal value of the shares issued by the
Company in exchange thereof; (i) issue of shares of the Company to
the former controlling shareholder of the Company in exchange of his
entire equity interests in the subsidiary; and (iii) reserve resulting from
the transactions with non-controlling interests in relation to the change
of equity interests in the subsidiaries in prior years.

Exchange reserve comprises the translation differences between the
Group’s net assets in functional currency to the Group’s presentation
currency.
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ERBEEEND - BOEERNAERZHAS
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BRROERATRTE » AR AR BEME A BARL
EERE - PEEZRENBESRDEFEMEAR
AAEM B WMRABREEN BN - e R
DEEFEREZEEFRE - WETRHRRER
EAREEDP BB AR EMEARNS0% - AIF]
TEEBREEATRHBHE AEREN BIERS
E—FENEER(WNE)  TAERANMCETE

HitFEREBE()AMHE  DEELAAHMNER
AR EENRRERER AR BAETHRR
BERNOEENEZE  (\ARRRZBIE A
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
mMEHESRER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B EE FERT FH&T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KT
Profit before taxation BR B A8 18,874 16,287
Adjustments for: SHEE
Share of result of associates DIREEE AR EE 21 (1,573) (70,126)
Share of result of a joint venture DME—EEEhEFEE 22 (38) 83
Finance costs A& A A 10,199 14,416
Amortisation of intangible assets T B B 20 23,740 40,254
Depreciation e
— property, plant and equipment  — ¥1% - & MR E 16 104,186 97,148
— right-of-use assets — FREEE 17 2,480 3,616
— investment properties — REME 18 6,834 4,048
Impairment losses on goodwill EEREERE 19 - 96,531
Reversal of impairment losses on ME - BB NMERERE
property, plant and equipment EsiE R 16 - (27)
Reversal of loss allowance on B 5 & HAth fE SR IE K
trade and other receivables BREEBBRE
and contract assets, net bEdEIbEE 9 (74) (2,486)
Interest income M BUA 7 (3,940) (5,230)
Gain from changes in fair value of 1R A R BEE AEZE
financial assets at fair value ([ AREBERTA
through profit or loss (“FVPL”) Bal)WemEE
AREEZHKE 8 (784) (285)
Gain on disposal of an associate k=l /NC 8 - (4,116)
Gain on disposal of property, HEYE - KE R
plant and equipment & e 8 (4,879) (1,760)
Gain on disposal of HEEPEEMNRE
intangible assets 8 (35) -
Gain arising from early RARIEEES L
termination of lease contracts EEmka (22) -
Government grants for WHEMZE - BB &
acquisition of property, plant BRIEN BB €
and equipment 7 (1,882) (3,329)
Loss on deregistration of a e EhE
joint venture B8R 8 801 -
Recognition (Reversal) of write- MR (B E)RE
down on obsolete inventories FEMOR 11 6,037 (3,409)
Unrealised exchange losses REIFEH EE
(gains), net (Yezs) F%58 19,174 (4,082)
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

nv_\/E\| IE, ﬁ)ﬁ% %
For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE
2022 2021
—sE=-= —E-—F
Note HK$°000 HK$’000
ihE=g THERT FHT
Changes in working capital: BEELE
Inventories FE 381 (2,586)
Trade receivables =y U EeE (36,596) 162,071
Contract assets BHEE 96,979 (27,912
Other receivables, prepayments HibpelisiiE - BN RIE
and refundable deposits NARIER] & 16,469 12,157
Trade payables B SN RIA 7,208 35,792
Other payables and accruals EmEMNZERETER (2,622) 33,679
Cash generated from operations KEEARE 260,917 390,738
Income taxes paid =ANIZIES! (11,321) (14,476)
Net cash from RETHEELRSFEH
operating activities 249,596 376,262
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BREEE
Interest received 2 HFE 3,940 5,230
Dividend received from an B —RigE A U ER AR B
associate, net of withholding tax (FBRFEHER) 82,914 72,992
Acquisition of a subsidiary WiHE — Rk B A A 43 (233,274) -
Acquisition of property, plant WM - BB REE
and equipment (67,719) (142,747)
Proceeds from disposal of & — A = A B PT1S RUR
an associate - 4,116
Proceeds from deregistration of a  sEi— & &%
joint venture IREE S 8,105 -
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE - WE K& G
plant and equipment FTiS50R 8,799 49,642
Proceeds from disposal of HE®mPZEEMESIIA
intangible assets 5,981 -
Placement of pledged FEEHEMRITFER
bank deposits (107,308) (11,321)
Withdrawal of pledged R EIRIRITFER
bank deposits 10,867 14,703
Purchase of financial assets BERALBET AR
at FVPL MEEEE 39 (230,128) (565,424)
Redemption from financial assets ~ BERIZ AR EET AEZR
at FVPL e REE 39 228,213 55,709
2022 3 NEERARAF
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

;nv_\éiﬁﬁ\;ﬁi %

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

2022 2021
—E—-= —E-—F
Note HK$°000 HK$’000
ihE=g TERT FHT
Net cash used in RETBHEARSFER
investing activities (289,610) (7,100)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEEE
Dividends paid EfIRE 15 - (156,789)
Interest paid A F) A (10,372) (14,806)
New bank borrowings raised ISR ITEE 363,673 482,685
Repayment of bank borrowings BBETEE (415,911) (561,548)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEEE o 972)
Net cash used in METHEARSER
financing activities 36 (62,610) (251,430)
Net (decrease) increaseincash BRE&RHFRELEZEER
and cash equivalents R #EhnH 5 (102,624) 117,732
Cash and cash equivalents at REHNRERRE
the beginning of the Z{EEA
reporting period 440,350 315,391
Effect of foreign exchange HNETE R E B R R 2
rate changes (24,434) 7,227
Cash and cash equivalents at BEMRREREASEE
the end of the reporting HE > RRBITESR
period, represented by bank REE
balances and cash 313,292 440,350
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
e R

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

GENERAL

Litu Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman lIslands on 11 November 2008 as an
exempted company with its shares listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). Its ultimate controlling party is Mr. Cai
Xiao Ming, David (the “Controlling Shareholder”). The
address of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate
information section to the 2022 annual report of the
Company.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are engaged in
provision of the printing of cigarette packages,
manufacturing of paper packaging materials,
manufacturing of laminated papers, sales of radio
frequency identification (“RFID”) products, printing of
packages and decoration matters, research and
development on printing technology, wholesale, import
and export of the packaging products and other related
services.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is different from the
Company’s functional currency of Renminbi (“RMB”). The
directors of the Company adopted HK$ as presentation
currency. For the convenience of the consolidated
financial statements users, the consolidated financial
statements are presented in HK$, as the Company’s
shares are listed on the Stock Exchange.

—REH
HEZEBEBRAR(ARR DR =F
ENF+—A+—BARRASESEM
PRI R ERRRR - EROD R BB
BXZMAERAR (B ER L
e HRRIERTT BEBRATE(E
PRAZER D) » AR AR GEM TR e =
BEXWANMANARR T =
FERAPEH —ERKE -

RRBBREEBRAR > ARRRE
MERR(GEA [ AEEDMEEE
BREHBERKHR - REREER
M SUEEEH - SHEST IR ([ 5
SRR DER - BEFFRERIMENR -
ENR ot s k% - BREMAH
B Nt th O DA R B AR AR RE AR TS ©

HEMBHBRRAET(AET 25
BRIRARBHEEEARE (A
RED - RRREERMWETRZES
B RETBRERGAVBRROA
T HEMBHRERUNETES  RE
RN RBBAD RS F £ 7 o

20225 F5  HEERBR AR

75



76

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

eI ERRMHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and interpretations issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Companies Ordinance. The consolidated financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

All amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand,
unless otherwise indicated.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a basis consistent with the accounting
policies adopted in the 2021 consolidated financial
statements except for the adoption of the following new/
revised HKFRSs that are relevant to the Group and
effective from the current year.

The Group has applied, for the first time, the following
new/revised HKFRSs that are relevant to the Group:

Proceeds before
Intended Use
Cost of Fulfiling a Contract

Amendments to HKAS 16
Amendments to HKAS 37
Reference to the

Conceptual Framework
2018-2020 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Annual Improvements
to HKFRSs
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 16: Proceeds before
Intended Use

The amendments clarify the accounting requirements for
proceeds received by an entity from selling items
produced while testing an item of property, plant or
equipment before it is used for its intended purpose. An
entity recognises the proceeds from selling any such
items, and the cost of those items, in profit or loss and
measures the cost of those items applying the
measurement requirements of HKAS 2.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any
significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 37: Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract

The amendments clarify that for the purpose of assessing
whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37, the cost
of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that relate
directly to the contract. Costs that relate directly to a
contract include both the incremental costs of fulfilling
that contract (for example, direct labour and materials)
and an allocation of other costs that relate directly to
fulfilling contracts (for example, an allocation of the
depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and
equipment used in fulfilling the contract).

The adoption of the amendments does not have any
significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

2.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e BHRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3: Reference to the
Conceptual Framework

The amendments update a reference in HKFRS 3 to the
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting issued in
2018. The amendments also add to HKFRS 3 an
exception to its requirement for an entity to refer to the
Conceptual Framework to determine what constitutes an
asset or a liability. The exception specifies that, for some
types of liabilities and contingent liabilities, an entity
applying HKFRS 3 should instead refer to HKAS 37. The
exception has been added to avoid an unintended
consequence of updating the reference.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any
significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs — 2018-2020
Cycle
HKFRS 1: Subsidiary as a First-time Adopter

This amendment simplifies the application of HKFRS 1 for
a subsidiary that becomes a first-time adopter of HKFRSs
later than its parent — i.e. if a subsidiary adopts HKFRSs
later than its parent and applies HKFRS 1.D16(a), then a
subsidiary may elect to measure cumulative translation
differences for all foreign operations at amounts included
in the consolidated financial statements of the parent,
based on the parent’s date of transition to HKFRSs.

HKFRS 9: Fees in the “10 per cent” Test for
Derecognition of Financial Liabilities

This amendment clarifies that — for the purpose of
performing the “10 per cent test” for derecognition of
financial liabilities — in determining those fees paid net of
fees received, a borrower includes only fees paid or
received between the borrower and the lender, including
fees paid or received by either the borrower or lender on
the other’s behalf.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs — 2018-2020
Cycle (continued)

HKFRS 16: Lease Incentives

The amendment removes the illustration of payments
from the lessor relating to leasehold improvements. As
currently drafted, Example 13 is not clear as to why such
payments are not a lease incentive.

HKAS 41: Taxation in Fair Value Measurements

This amendment removes the requirement to exclude
cash flows for taxation when measuring fair value,
thereby aligning the fair value measurement requirements
in HKAS 41 with those in HKFRS 13.

The adoption of the above amendments does not have
any significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

A summary of the principal accounting policies adopted
by the Group is set out below.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements is historical cost,
except financial assets at FVPL, which are measured at
fair values as explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of the Company and all of its
subsidiaries. The financial statements of the subsidiaries
are prepared for the same reporting year as that of the
Company using consistent accounting policies.

2.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

eI ERRMHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

All intra-group balance, transactions, income and
expenses and profits and losses resulting from intra-
group transactions are eliminated in full. The results of
subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control and continue to be consolidated
until the date that such control ceases.

Non-controlling interests are presented, separately from
owners of the Company, in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income and within equity in the
consolidated statement of financial position. The non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets in event
of liquidation, are measured initially either at fair value or
at the present ownership instruments’ proportionate
share in the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. This choice of measurement basis
is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Other
types of non-controlling interests are initially measured at
fair value, unless another measurement basis is required
by HKFRSs.

Allocation of total comprehensive income

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income is attributed to the owners of the
Company and the non-controlling interest even if this
results in the non-controlling interest having a deficit
balance.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Changes in ownership interest

Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted to
reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair
value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the
Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit
or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any retained
interest determined at the date when control is lost and (i)
the carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill),
and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling
interests at the date when control is lost. The amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to the disposed subsidiary are accounted for on
the same basis as would be required if the parent had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Any
investment retained in the former subsidiary and any
amounts owed by or to the former subsidiary are
accounted for as a financial asset, associate, joint venture
or others as appropriate from the date when control is
lost.

2.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e BHRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZEZ—ZT - —F+_-_F=+—HILFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Group.
The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. The Group reassesses whether
it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the elements of
control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position which is
presented in note 44 to the consolidated financial
statements, interests in subsidiaries are stated at cost
less accumulated impairment loss. The carrying amount
of the investments is reduced to its recoverable amount
on an individual basis, if it is higher than the recoverable
amount. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by
the Company on the basis of dividends received and
receivable.

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control of those
policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the net assets of the arrangement. A joint arrangement is
an arrangement of which two or more parties have joint
control. Joint control is a contractually agreed sharing of
control of an arrangement, which exists only when
decisions about the relevant activities require the
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. The
Group reassesses whether it has joint control of an
arrangement and whether the type of joint arrangement
in which it is involved has changed, if facts and
circumstances change.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

The Group’s investments in associates or joint venture
are accounted for under the equity method of
accounting, except when the investment or a portion
thereof is classified as held for sale. Under the equity
method, the investment is initially recorded at cost and
adjusted thereafter for the post-acquisition changes in
the Group’s share of the investee’s net assets and any
impairment loss relating to the investment. Except to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee,
the Group discontinues recognising its share of further
losses when the Group’s share of losses of the investee
equals or exceeds the carrying amount of its interest in
the investee, which includes any long term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in
the investee.

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of an associate or a
joint venture is measured as the excess of the cost of
investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquired
associate or joint venture. Such goodwill is included in
interests in associates or joint ventures. On the other
hand, any excess of the Group’s share of its net fair value
of identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of
investment is recognised immediately in profit or loss as
an income.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates and joint ventures
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the
investees, except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred, in
which case they are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

eI ERRMHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
measured at the excess of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree
and the fair value of any previously held equity interest in
the acquiree (if applicable) over the acquisition date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed of the acquired business.

Goodwill on acquisition of business is recognised as a
separate asset and is carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses, which is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. For the purpose of impairment test and
determination of gain or loss on disposal, goodwill is
allocated to cash-generating units (“CGU”). An
impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed.

On the other hand, any excess of the acquisition date
amounts of identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed of the acquired business over the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree (if applicable) and the
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the
acquiree, if any, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as an income from bargain
purchase.

Any resulting gain or loss arising from remeasuring the
previously held equity interests in the acquiree at the
acquisition-date fair value is recognised in profit or loss or
other comprehensive income, as appropriate.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. The cost of an item
of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase
price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the
asset to its working condition and location for its intended
use. Repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or
loss during the year in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less
accumulated impairment losses of property, plant and
equipment, other than construction in progress, over their
estimated useful lives as set out below from the date on
which they are available for use and after taking into
account their estimated residual values, using the
straight-line method, at the following rates per annum.
When parts of an property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost or valuation of the items is
allocated on a reasonable basis and depreciation
separately:

Buildings Over the shorter of
the term of lease or

26-30 years

Leasehold improvements 3 years
Plant and machinery 5-20 years
Furniture and office equipment 3-5 years
Motor vehicles 4-5 years
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e BHRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZEZ—ZT - —F+_-_F=+—HILFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Properties in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost,
less any recognised impairment loss. Costs include any
costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management and,
for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready
for their intended use.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests
of properties which includes both leasehold land and
building elements, the entire consideration is allocated
between the leasehold land and the building elements in
proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition.
To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can
be made reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented
as “right-of-use assets” in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included
in profit or loss in the year in which the item is
derecognised.

If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-
occupied property becomes an investment property, the
Group accounts for such property in accordance with the
policy stated under “Property, plant and equipment” up
to the date of change in use, and the cost and
accumulated depreciation of that item at the date of
transfer are transferred to investment property for
subsequent measurement and disclosure purposes.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investment properties are properties that are held by
owner or lessee, to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation. These include properties held for a currently
undetermined future use.

Investment properties also include leased properties
which are being recognised as right-of-use assets and
subleased by the Group under operating leases.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
investment properties over their estimated useful lives
and after taking into account of their estimated residual
value, using the straight-line method, at the following rate
per annum:
Buildings 26-30 years
If an item of investment property becomes owner-
occupied property because its use has changed as
evidenced by commencement of owner-occupation, the
cost and accumulated depreciation of that item at the
date of transfer are transferred to property, plant and
equipment for subsequent measurement and disclosure
purposes.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the
period in which the property is derecognised.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e BHRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is
recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are
carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated
impairment losses.

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which
is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with finite useful lives
are reported at costs less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis
as intangible assets that are acquired separately.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an
intangible asset are measured at the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and are recognised in profit or loss in the period
when the asset is derecognised.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development activities (or from the development phase of
an internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the
following have been demonstrated:

the technical feasibility of completing the intangible
asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

e the intention to complete the intangible asset and
use or sell it;

e the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

e how the intangible asset will generate probable
future economic benefits;

e the availability of adequate technical, financial and
other resources to complete the development and
to use or sell the intangible asset; and

e the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during its
development.

The amount initially recognised for internally generated
intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred
from the date when the intangible asset first meets the
recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-
generated intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

eI ERRMHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZEZ—ZT - —F+_-_F=+—HILFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally generated
intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses (if any),
on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired
separately.

Financial assets

Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised when and only when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instruments and on a trade date basis.

A financial asset is derecognised when and only when (i)
the Group’s contractual rights to future cash flows from
the financial asset expire or (ii) the Group transfers the
financial asset and either (a) it transfers substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset,
or (b) it neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset but
it does not retain control of the financial asset.

If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset.

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to
control the transferred asset, the Group recognises the
financial asset to the extent of its continuing involvement
and an associated liability for amounts it may have to

pay.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and measurement

Financial assets (except for trade receivables without a
significant financing component) are initially recognised at
their fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not
carried at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets. Such
trade receivables are initially measured at their transaction
price.

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as (i)
measured at amortised cost; (ii) debt investment
measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVOCI”); (i) equity investment measured at
FVOCI; or (iv) measured at FVPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the Group’s business model for managing
the financial assets and the financial asset’s contractual
cash flow characteristics. Financial assets are not
reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless
the Group changes its business model for managing
them, in which case all affected financial assets are
reclassified on the first day of the first annual reporting
period following the change in the business model.

Derivatives embedded in a hybrid contract in which a
host is an asset within the scope of HKFRS 9 are not
separated from the host. Instead, the entire hybrid
contract is assessed for classification.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

eI ERRMHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and measurement (continued)

(1)

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it
meets both of the following conditions and is not
designated as at FVPL:

(@ it is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

(b) its contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and
are subject to impairment. Gains and losses arising
from impairment, derecognition or through the
amortisation process are recognised in profit or
loss.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost
include trade receivables, other receivables and
refundable rental deposits, pledged bank deposits
and bank balances.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Classification and measurement (continued)

@

Financial assets at FVPL

These investments include financial assets that are
not measured at amortised cost or FVOCI, including
financial assets held for trading, financial assets
designated upon initial recognition as at FVPL,
financial assets resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 applies and financial
assets that are otherwise required to be measured
at FVPL. They are carried at fair value, with any
resultant gain and loss recognised in profit or loss,
which includes any interest earned on the financial
assets.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it
is:

(@ acquired principally for the purpose of selling it
in the near term;

(b) part of a portfolio of identified financial
instruments that are managed together and for
which there is evidence of a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking on initial
recognition; or

(c) a derivative that is not a financial guarantee
contract or not a designated and effective
hedging instrument.

Financial assets are designated at initial recognition
as at FVPL only if doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces a measurement or recognition
inconsistency that would otherwise arise from
measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the
gains or losses on them on different bases.

The Group’s financial assets mandatorily measured
at FVPL include structured deposits.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

eI ERRMHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities

Recognition and derecognition

Financial liabilities are recognised when and only when
the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instruments.

A financial liability is derecognised when and only when
the liability is extinguished, that is, when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expires.

Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value
plus, in the case of financial liabilities not carried at FVPL,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issue
of the financial liabilities.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade payables,
other payables and accruals, amount due to a non-
controlling interest of a subsidiary and bank borrowings.
All financial liabilities, except for financial liabilities at
FVPL, are recognised initially at their fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method, unless the effect of discounting
would be insignificant, in which case they are stated at
cost.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —Z - —F+_-_A=+—HILFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected
credit losses (“ECL”) on financial assets that are
measured at amortised cost and contract assets to
which the impairment requirements apply in accordance
with HKFRS 9. Except for the specific treatments as
detailed below, at each reporting date, the Group
measures a loss allowance for a financial asset at an
amount equal to the lifetime ECL if the credit risk on that
financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition. If the credit risk on a financial asset has not
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
measures the loss allowance for that financial asset at an
amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Measurement of ECL

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses
(i.e. the present value of all cash shortfalls) over the
expected life of the financial instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of
the difference between the contractual cash flows that
are due to an entity under the contract and the cash
flows that the entity expects to receive.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument while 12-month ECL represents the
portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from
default events on a financial instrument that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

eI ERRMHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
(continued)

Measurement of ECL (continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the
financial instruments are grouped based on the following
one or more shared credit risk characteristics:

(@ past due information

(b) nature of instrument

(c) size and industry of debtors

(d) length of customer relationship

Loss allowance is remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk
and loss since initial recognition. The resulting changes in
the loss allowance are recognised as an impairment gain
or loss in profit or loss with a corresponding adjustment
to the carrying amount of the financial instrument.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an
event of default for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience indicates that the
Group may not receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full if the financial instrument that meets any
of the following criteria.

(@) information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group); or

LITU HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

FESHBER#E)

TRMEERAMBEREE)

BRIEEER 2 (B)
ERMEEERRAREEFE 8
ERITARUAT—EALZEAREE
B E A

@ ®BHEER

b) ITEHH

(€ BEBARERITE
(o FEFBEERERE

FERBEENSBREAHNERTE N
REENHBERARERTANEE
Rl R EEEE) - Rt EL M ERE
BEBNEEANERARERR X
HEFARSHE T ANKREE -

ERZTER
AEERBATERRABEERER
EEMEBRENEN  ARBEL
BERAMESHBTANS FIMER—R
i Ry A S B A] B AR W [0 2 BF R fE
EAKIFIA -

(@) MEBELLEERBINGFRIRNE
FIRE - BEEATKRIREA(EHE
ABREAEER) 2BER(TE
BAEEFANEIMRNERR)
%



Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items

(continued)

Definition of default (continued)

(b) there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort. In particular, the following information is taken into
account in the assessment:

° the debtor’s failure to make payments of principal or
interest on the due dates;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external or internal credit
rating (if available);

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

eI ERRMHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZEZ—ZT - —F+_-_F=+—HILFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items

(continued)

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

(continued)

e  Qactual or expected changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have or
may have a significant adverse effect on the
debtor’s ability to meet its obligation to the Group.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date.

Low credit risk
A financial instrument is determined to have low credit
risk if:

(@ it has alow risk of default;

(b) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term;
and

(c) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

As detailed in note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements, pledged bank deposits and bank balances
are determined to have low credit risk.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
(continued)

Simplified approach of ECL

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group
applies a simplified approach in calculating ECL. The
Group recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL
at each reporting date and has established a provision
matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific
to the debtors and the economic environment.

Credit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired include
observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower.

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event.

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider.

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

()  the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a
deep discount that reflects the incurred credit
losses.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e BHRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
(continued)

Write-off

The Group writes off a financial asset when the Group
has no reasonable expectations of recovering the
contractual cash flows on a financial asset in its entirety
or a portion thereof. The Group has a policy of writing off
the gross carrying amount based on historical experience
of recoveries of similar assets. The Group expects no
significant recovery from the amount written off. However,
financial assets that are written off could still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s procedures
for recovery of amounts due, taking into account legal
advice if appropriate. Any subsequent recovery is
recognised in profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash equivalents represent short-term highly liquid
investments which are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value.

Rental income

Rental income under operating leases is recognised
when the assets are let out and on the straight-line basis
over the lease term. Variable lease payments that depend
on an index or a rate are initially measured using the
index or rate at the commencement date and
subsequently adjusted when such index or rate changes.
Such payments are recognised as income on the
straight-line basis over the lease term. Other variable
lease payments are recognised as income in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers those
payments occurs.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Dividend income

Dividend income from investments is recognised when
the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been
established.

Interest income

Interest income from financial assets is recognised using
the effective interest method. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost that are not credit-impaired,
the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying
amount of the assets while it is applied to the amortised
cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount net of loss allowance)
in case of credit-impaired financial assets.

Revenue from contracts with customers within
HKFRS 15

The Group is engaged in printing and manufacturing of
paper packages and related materials and sales of RFID
products.

Identification of performance obligations

At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods
promised in a contract with a customer and identifies as
a performance obligation each promise to transfer to the
customer either:

(@) agood (or a bundle of goods) that is distinct; or
(b) a series of distinct goods that are substantially the

same and that have the same pattern of transfer to
the customer.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

eI ERRMHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within
HKFRS 15 (continued)

Identification of performance obligations (continued)

A good that is promised to a customer is distinct if both
of the following criteria are met:

(@) the customer can benefit from the good either on its
own or together with other resources that are readily
available to the customer (i.e. the good is capable of
being distinct); and

(b) the Group’s promise to transfer the good to the
customer is separately identifiable from other
promises in the contract (i.e. the promise to transfer
the good is distinct within the context of the
contract).

Timing of revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Group satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring a promised good
(i.e. an asset) to a customer. An asset is transferred when
(or as) the customer obtains control of that asset.

The Group transfers control of a good over time and,
therefore, satisfies a performance obligation and
recognises revenue over time, if one of the following
criteria is met:

(@ the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within

HKFRS 15 (continued)

Timing of revenue recognition (continued)

(b) the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset (for example, work in progress) that the
customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced; or

(c) the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, the
Group satisfies the performance obligation at a point in
time when the customer obtains control of the promised
asset. In determining when the transfer of control occurs,
the Group considers the concept of control and such
indicators as legal title, physical possession, right to
payment, significant risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset, and customer acceptance.

Revenue from the printing of cigarette packages and
manufacturing of laminated papers with no alternative
use are recognised over time.

Revenue from the sales of RFID products and
manufacturing of paper packaging materials are
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains
control of the distinct goods or service.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e BHRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within
HKFRS 15 (continued)

Timing of revenue recognition (continued)

For revenue recognised over time under HKFRS 15,
provided the outcome of the performance obligation can
be reasonably measured, the Group applies the input
method (i.e. based on the proportion of the actual inputs
deployed to date as compared to the estimated total
inputs) to measure the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the performance obligation because there
is a direct relationship between the Group’s inputs and
the transfer of control of goods or services to the
customers and reliable information is available to the
Group to apply the method. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised only to the extent of the costs incurred until
such time that it can reasonably measure the outcome of
the performance obligation.

The principal input applied in the input method for printing
of cigarette packages and manufacturing of laminated
papers is costs incurred.

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to
a customer before the customer pays consideration or
before payment is due, the contract is presented as a
contract asset, excluding any amounts presented as a
receivable. Conversely, if a customer pays consideration,
or the Group has a right to an amount of consideration
that is unconditional, before the Group transfers a good
or service to the customer, the contract is presented as a
contract liability when the payment is made or the
payment is due (whichever is earlier). A receivable is the
Group’s right to consideration that is unconditional or
only the passage of time is required before payment of
that consideration is due.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

For a single contract or a single set of related contracts,
either a net contract asset or a net contract liability is
presented. Contract assets and contract liabilities of
unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract
Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs
that the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a
customer that it would not have incurred if the contract
had not been obtained.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing
all incremental costs to obtain a contract if these costs
would otherwise have been fully amortised to profit or
loss within one year.

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
entity’s functional currency (foreign currency) are
recorded in the respective functional currency(ies) (i.e. the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates) at the rates of exchange prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are re-translated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not re-translated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the re-translation of monetary
items, are included in profit or loss in the period in which
they arise.
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eI ERRMHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZEZ—ZT - —F+_-_F=+—HILFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates for
the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of exchange reserve (attributed to
non-controlling interests as appropriate).

Exchange differences relating to the retranslation of the
Group’s net assets in RMB to the Group’s presentation
currency HK$ are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
reserve. Such exchange differences accumulated in the
exchange reserve are not reclassified to profit or loss
subsequently.

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost, which comprises all costs of
purchase and, where applicable, other costs that have
been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition, is calculated using the weighted
average cost method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business
less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of
any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and
all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in
the period of the write-down or loss occurs. The amount
of any reversal of any write-down of inventories is
recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories
recognised as an expense in the period in which the
reversal occurs.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
internal and external sources of information to assess
whether there is any indication that its property, plant and
equipment, investment properties, intangible assets,
right-of-use assets, investment in an associate and a joint
venture may be impaired or impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may be reduced. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated, based on the higher of its fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. Where it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the smallest group of assets that generates
cash flows independently (i.e. CGU).

If the recoverable amount of an asset or a CGU is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset or CGU is reduced to its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised
as an expense immediately.

2.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e BHRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZEZ—ZT - —F+_-_F=+—HILFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

A reversal of impairment loss is limited to the carrying
amount of the asset or CGU that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised in
prior years. Reversal of impairment loss is recognised as
income in profit or loss immediately.

The accounting policy for recognition of the impairment
loss for goodwill is stated in the accounting policy for
goodwill in the earlier part of this note.

Borrowing costs incurred, net of any investment income
on the temporary investment of the specific borrowings,
that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e. assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. Capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing
costs are recognised as an expense in the period in
which they are incurred.

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events,
when it is probable that an outflow of resources
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation, and when a reliable estimate of the
amount of obligation can be made. Expenditures for
which a provision has been recognised are charged
against the related provision in the year in which the
expenditures are incurred. Provisions are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the
current best estimate. Where the effect of the time value
of money is material, the amount provided is the present
value of the expenditures expected to be required to
settle the obligation. Where the Group expects a
provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is
recognised as a separate asset but only when the
reimbursement is virtually certain.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will
be received and all attaching conditions will be complied
with.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group would purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets are recognised as deferred income in
the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational
basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Government grants relating to compensation
of expenses are deducted from the related expenses,
other government grants are presented under “other
income” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a
lease at inception of the contract. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

eI ERRMHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

As lessee

The Group applies the recognition exemption to short-
term leases and low-value asset leases. Lease payments
associated with these leases are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group has elected not to separate non-lease
components from lease components, and accounts for
each lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component.

The Group accounts for each lease component within a
lease contract as a lease separately. The Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price
of the lease component.

Amounts payable by the Group that do not give rise to a
separate component are considered to be part of the
total consideration that is allocated to the separately
identified components of the contract.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments from lessees and included in
the cost of right-of-use assets.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability at the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which
comprises:

(@ the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

As lessee (continued)

(b) any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

(c) any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

(d) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying asset,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease, unless those
costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured at cost
less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses and adjusted for any remeasurement
of the lease liability. Depreciation is provided on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and
the estimated useful lives of the right-of-use asset (unless
the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to
the Group by the end of the lease term or if the cost of
the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group will exercise
a purchase option — in which case depreciation is
provided over the estimated useful life of the underlying
asset) as follows:

Over the term of lease
3 years

Leasehold lands
Leased properties

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value
of the lease payments that are not paid at the
commencement date of the contract.

2.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

eI ERRMHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

As lessee (continued)

The lease payments included in the measurement of the
lease liability comprise the following payments for the
right to use the underlying asset during the lease term
that are not paid at the commencement date:

(@) fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

(b) variable lease payments that depend on an index or
arate;

(c) amounts expected to be payable under residual
value guarantees;

(d) exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

(e) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising an
option to terminate the lease.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease, or where it is not readily
determinable, the incremental borrowing rate of the
lessee.

Subsequently, the lease liability is measured by increasing
the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability
and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease
payments made.

The lease liability is remeasured using a revised discount
rate when there are changes to the lease payments
arising from a change in the lease term or the
reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase option.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

As lessee (continued)
A lease modification is accounted for as a separate lease

if:

(@)

the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

the consideration for the lease increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

When a lease modification is not accounted for as a
separate lease, at the effective date of the lease
modification,

@)

the Group allocates the consideration in the
modified contract on the basis of relative stand-
alone price as described above.

the Group determines the lease term of the modified
contract.

the Group remeasures the lease liability by
discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate over the revised lease term.

for lease modifications that decrease the scope of
the lease, the Group accounts for the
remeasurement of the lease liability by decreasing
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset to
reflect the partial or full termination of the lease and
recognising any gain or loss relating to the partial or
full termination of the lease in profit or loss.

for all other lease modifications, the Group accounts
for the remeasurement of the lease liability by
making a corresponding adjustment to the right-of-
use asset.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e BHRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZEZ—ZT - —F+_-_F=+—HILFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

As lessor

The Group classifies each of its leases as either a finance
lease or an operating lease at the inception date of the
lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of the underlying asset. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

The Group accounts for each lease component within a
lease contract as a lease separately from non-lease
components of the contract. The Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component
on a relative stand-alone price basis.

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

As lessor — operating lease

The Group applies the derecognition and impairment
requirements in HKFRS 9 to the operating lease
receivables.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion
of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefits schemes
and the Mandatory Provident Fund are recognised as
expenses when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

Termination benefits

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the
earlier of when the Group entity can no longer withdraw
the offer of the termination benefit and when it recognises
any related restructuring costs.

The charge for current income tax is based on the results
for the year as adjusted for items that are non-assessable
or disallowed. It is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, any deferred tax arising from initial
recognition of goodwill; or other asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination that at the
time of the transaction affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss is not recognised.

The deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is recovered or the liability is settled, based on
tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

eI ERRMHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, tax losses
and credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising
on investments in subsidiaries, associates and a joint
venture, except where the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences is controlled by the Group and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the

Group.

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family
is related to the Group if that person:

(i)  bhas control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is @ member of the key management personnel
of the Group.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
e R

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HlEZ —ZE -~ F+ - A=+—HIFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESIBX#E)
(continued)
Related parties (continued) BER (&)
(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the (b) ﬁﬁ?*/\T_ﬁﬂfEfTﬂmﬂ¥ AER
following conditions applies: REEBRE

()  the entity and the Group are members of the () ZEBEXEEBER-—%E
same group (which means that each holding ZRERB(AEERA
company, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is A MBARKRRRWEA
related to the others). AFILEEREE) -

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the (i) —FHERRE—EBRZHE
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of AAHEERE(HS—F
a member of a group of which the other entity BEAKE NG ZEEE K
is a member). BRRIZBERTRAED

%)

(i)  both entities are joint ventures of the same iy METEHYAR-—F=F2
third party. BEBE -

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and vy —HERBAFE=FEEZA
the other entity is an associate of the third EhE ME—EBRZE
entity. —HERZEBERA] -

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan V) EBERARLAEENEAEESR
for the benefit of employees of either the EELZE\HJMEE T ava
Group or an entity related to the Group. If the ZEEBARTETE - MAKE
Group is itself such a plan, the sponsoring NEERZTE - RIEED)
employers are also related to the Group. B E X BN E B &

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a vi) EEX(@FTHBATZES
person identified in (a). S HREES] o

(vi) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant (i) (@) FTE R A TH EEE
influence over the entity or is a member of the BAFENLBZER (i
key management personnel of the entity (or of ZEBZIERAT])

a holding company of the entity). BEKE -

(vii) the entity, or any member of a group of which (vii) ZEBIZEBBESE
it is a part, provides key management EfAIpK B A R & E iR i
personnel services to the Group. FEEFBEABRE -

2022FF# HEEIRBRAF]



118

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

eI ERRMHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity
and include:

(@) that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(b) children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse
or domestic partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate includes
subsidiaries of the associate and a joint venture includes
subsidiaries of the joint venture.

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements,
are identified from the financial information provided
regularly to the Group’s chief operating decision maker
(“CODM”) for the purpose of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines
of business and geographical locations.

Individual material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

3.

FUTURE CHANGES IN HKFRSs

At the date of authorisation of the consolidated financial

statements, the HKICPA has issued the following new/

revised HKFRSs that are not yet effective for the current

year, which the Group has not early adopted.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting
Policies @

Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single
Transaction

Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

HKFRS 17
Amendment to HKFRS 17 Initial Application of
HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9
— Comparative
Information @
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or
Non-current @
Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants @
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback @
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of
and HKAS 28 Assets between an
Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture ©

Amendments to HKAS 1

) Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
@ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
@ The effective date to be determined

The directors do not anticipate that the adoption of the

new/revised HKFRSs in future periods will have any
material impact on the results of the Group.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATION
AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and assumptions concerning the future and
judgements are made by the management in the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements.
They affect the application of the Group’s accounting
policies, reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses, and disclosures made. They are assessed
on an on-going basis and are based on experience and
relevant factors, including expectations of future events
that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. Where appropriate, revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period of
revision and future periods, in case the revision also
affects future periods.

Revenue recognition from sales of products with no
alternative use over time

Under HKFRS 15, control is transferred over time when
the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date. Significant judgement is required in determining
whether the terms of the Group’s contracts with
customers in relation to printing of cigarette packages
and manufacturing of laminated papers with no
alternative use create an enforceable right to payment for
the Group. The Group has considered the relevant local
laws that apply to those relevant contracts and opinion
from external legal counsel. Based on the assessment of
the Group’s management, the relevant sales contracts
create an enforceable right to payment after taking into
consideration the legal opinion, contract laws and the
legal and regulatory environment in the PRC. Accordingly,
contracts relating to printing of cigarette packages and
manufacturing of laminated papers with no alternative
use is considered to be performance obligation satisfied
over time.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —Z - —F+_-_A=+—HILFE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATION
AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Impairment assessment of goodwiill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amounts of the CGUs to
which goodwill has been allocated, which is the higher of
the its value in use and fair value less costs of disposal.
The value in use calculation requires the Group to
estimate certain assumptions, including the discount rate,
terminal growth rate, gross margin and sales growth rate
in order to derive the net present value of the discounted
future cash flow model. Where the actual future cash
flows are less than expected, or changes in facts and
circumstances which results in downward revision of
future cash flows or upward revision of discount rate, a
material impairment loss or further impairment loss may
arise. The fair value less costs of disposal requires the
Group to estimate certain assumptions and adoption of
appropriate valuation methodology. Owing to inherent
risk associated with estimations in the timing and
magnitude of the future cash flows and fair value less
costs of disposal, the estimated recoverable amount of
the CGUs may be different from its actual recoverable
amount and profit or loss could be affected by accuracy
of the estimations.

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of
goodwill was HK$728,704,000 (2021: HK$797,504,000).
During the year ended 31 December 2022, no
impairment loss on goodwill (2021: impairment loss of
HK$96,531,000) was provided. Details of the recoverable
amount calculation are set out in note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements.

4,

EXRGrHERT R E @)

BB R E R
ErmERtREAGHESEHE
MWREEABMMAIWE SR  BIE
REEEARBERLEKRAREF
MEEE FEERAEEERLAEE
EEtETRE  BRETEER  HKIE
& FENERNHEERE  UFH
FIRAKRRSRERANFIRE i

Xfﬁ)iﬁ%miﬁ#ﬁﬂﬁﬁ%%&

MEBCBERRIRSRNE THIT
iﬁ%taﬂ Al s IR EBAREE R
SE—FREBE - AREERLE
mﬁziﬁ‘ilfﬁﬁr%?ﬁj“&%)ﬂ

BEEERE - BRAKRBERER
@fﬁﬁfﬁﬁﬂj’%&ﬂ?#%&%%ﬂ%%ﬁ
NigERREERR  BeEEBMIER
A] U [E) < R A] BE B B R AT W Bl BT
R R &t BB EHE o

RZEFEZ_Z_F+=A=+—H B2
#) BE ™ (B A& 728,704,0008 7T ( = &
—— 4 :797,604,00087C) c HE—
§::¢+*HZ+—E¢$§’ﬁ

BN EREEE(ZFE=-—F : HE
/%f,596,537,000,%7z)aﬂﬁ§§1% o AT UL
Bl A EFBRNGEE M B mE
BizE19 o

20225 F5  HEERBR AR

121



122

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

eI ERRMHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATION
AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Loss allowance for ECL

The measurement of loss allowance for trade and other
receivables and contract assets under HKFRS 9 requires
judgement, in particular, the estimation of the amount
and timing of future cash flows and collateral values when
determining impairment losses and the assessment of a
significant increase in credit risk. These estimates are
driven by a number of factors, such as risks of default,
losses given default, changes in which can result in
different levels of allowances.

The Group’s ECL calculation on trade and other
receivables and contract assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and losses given
default. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculations, based on credit risks of the debtors or
comparable companies in the market, existing market
conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the
end of each reporting period. It has been the Group’s
policy to regularly review its models in the context of
actual loss experience and adjust when necessary.

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of the
Group’s trade receivables amounted to HK$363,892,000
(2021: HK$364,539,000). Net impairment losses of
HK$6,353,000 (2021: HK$6,944,000) has been
recognised for the Group’s trade receivables as at 31
December 2022. Further details, including the key
assumptions and inputs used for impairment calculation
of the Group’s trade receivables are set out in notes 24
and 39 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATION 4. EREEHFTRHEE &)
AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) A THBERENEFERR (&)
Allowance for inventories FERE
The Group’s management reviews the condition of REREHR  AEEEERNTFE
inventories, as stated in note 23 to the consolidated ARG (RAR A B IS TR T 5E 23 A&k ) &
financial statements, at the end of each reporting period, AR APRE « R B R Y E EY
and makes allowance for inventories that are identified as GFEFREE ASELKEEERE
obsolete, slow-moving or no longer recoverable. The TEERN  W2REHMEKRRT
Group carries out the inventory review on a product-by- TIGAR N ET IR B -
product basis and makes allowances by reference to the
latest market prices and current market conditions.
REVENUE 5. W&
() Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with i) EFENWESE
customers
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Printing and manufacturing of ENfRI| J2 S8 4 B 5
paper packages and related K AEREM R
materials
— Printing of cigarette packages — Elfil| & /&6 2 683,123 871,855
— Manufacturing of paper — RS PEM R
packaging materials 204,912 168,076
— Manufacturing of laminated — RS AR
papers 22 13,523
Sales of RFID products 455 51 48 35 Bl E o 96,438 105,398
Total revenue B 984,495 1,158,852
20225 FH NEERBRAF
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

5. REVENUE (continued) 5. W& &)
() Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with () EBEFEHWEDE(E)
customers (continued)
Timing of revenue recognition Uy 22 7 R B
Manufacturing
Printing of of paper Manufacturing Sales of
cigarette packaging  of laminated RFID
packages materials papers products Total
Al R HEGHA
EEA%K gaEM HEERE ARER -
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL ThEL TAL THEL FhEL
Year ended BE-3-CF
31 December2022 +=F=1-H
LEE
At a point in time i - 204,912 - 96,438 301,350
Over time e 683,123 - 22 - 683,145
683,123 204,912 22 96,438 984,495
Year ended BE-3--F
31 December2021 +=A=1+-H
LFE
At apoint in time RERS - 168,076 - 105,398 273,474
Over time Faks A 871,855 - 13,523 - 885,378
871,855 168,076 13,523 106,398 1,158,852
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

5. REVENUE (continued) 5. W& &)
() Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with () EBEFEHWEDE(E)
customers (continued)
Geographical market BT
Manufacturing
Printing of of paper Manufacturing Sales of
cigarette packaging  of l[aminated RFID
packages materials papers products Total
Al B HESE
BEE% gaEM HERAH ARER - H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEL TR T T T
Year ended BE-3-CF
31 December2022 +=F=1-H
LEE
The PRC H 683,123 204,912 22 77,389 965,446
Others (Note) Hith (BsE) - - - 19,049 19,049
683,123 204,912 22 96,438 984,495
Year ended BE-ZT--F
31 December 2021 +ZA=1—H
IL5E
The PRC H 871,855 168,076 13,523 79,555 1,133,009
Others (Note) Hith (BisE) - - - 25,843 25,843
871,855 168,076 13,5623 105,398 1,168,852
Note: Others mainly included Federative Republic of Brazil, India, Mz R B eEnmg A - 60
the Republic of Tirkiye, the Portuguese Republic, the E-LHHEHAMBE - HEFEM
Republic of the Marshall Islands and the Republic of Korea - HAEBRHEHAMBE R AKERE
(2021: Republic of Indonesia, the United States of America (ZZF=—1F : HFERITHME -
and the Republic of Korea). EF|EERERAERE)
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e BHRRNE

5. REVENUE

Printing of cigarette packages and
manufacturing of laminated papers

The Group’s contracts with customers for printing
of cigarette packages and manufacturing of
laminated papers are tailor-made based on
customers’ specification with no alternative use to
the Group. Taking into account the contract terms,
the legal and regulatory environment in the PRC, all
contracts provide the Group’s enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date and
hence the revenue is recognised over time.

Under the Group’s standard contract terms, the
customers have no right to return products except
those with quality flaw. The Group generally does
not require the customers to pay in advance. The
customers should settle the trade receivable within
60 to 90 days upon the issue of value added tax
invoice.

A contract asset is recognised over the period
based on the progress towards complete
satisfaction of a performance obligation representing
the Group’s right to consideration because the
rights are conditioned on the Group’s future
performance in delivery of goods. The contract
assets are transferred to trade receivables when the
rights become unconditional. The Group typically
transfers the contract assets to trade receivables
when the goods are delivered to the customers.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HlEZ —ZE -~ F+ - A=+—HIFE

5. REVENUE (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers (continued)

Manufacturing of paper packaging materials
and sales of RFID products

Revenue from the manufacturing of paper
packaging materials and sales of RFID products is
recognised when control of the goods has
transferred, being at the point the goods are
delivered to the customers. Delivery occurs when
the goods have been shipped to the customer’s
specific locations.

Under the Group’s standard contract terms, the
customers have no right to return products except
those with quality flaw. The Group generally does
not require the customers to pay in advance. The
customers should settle the trade receivables within
60 to 90 days upon the issue of value added tax
invoice.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers

All the Group’s contracts with customers are for
periods of one year or less. As permitted under
HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or
partially unsatisfied) as at 31 December 2022 and
2021 is not disclosed.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZEZ—ZT - —F+_-_F=+—HILFE

6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the
Company, being the CODM, for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance
focuses on types of goods delivered. No operating
segments identified by the CODM have been aggregated
in arriving at the reportable segments of the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
reorganised its internal reporting structure for which the
previous printing and manufacturing of cigarette
packages and related materials business and
manufacturing of laminated papers business were
aggregated into one single operating and reportable
segment in view of the similarity of their economic
characteristics. Prior year segment disclosures have been
represented to conform with the current year’s
presentation.

The Group’s operating and reportable segments currently
are (i) printing and manufacturing of paper packages and
related materials and (i) sales of RFID products. The
CODM considered the Group has two operating and
reportable segments which are based on the internal
organisation and reporting structure.

LITU HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

6.

7 B E F
RARBRETESBREMAAD
ARTES(NEBLEREKE)ZH
AR ERRARAEMER - K%
B 3 A A (48 3 B R R BB A
BENBEATROTREHE o

L= )R

BE-_ZT_—_H+-_A=1+—HL#F
B AEEEHEHARNME2HRAE &
RERTHENR| R SUE R E R K KA
MEERRRIEE S EEBORER
BREL MEZEEBAHRE—K
ERAHEDE - E—FERDEH
BEMDRBAFEN2HETRAL -

AREBOZ LR AR E DA B AT A ()
EUE'J&%%%&@%%&*HE%TM# ()

HEFABAIER T2LERKE
RRAREEAMEL S &T#&%%a‘ :

TIRB A ERAER  2 R IREE D
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DIERE)
Segment revenues and results AR R EE

AT BAREIZ A R E 5 a8 2 H UL
mREEDMN

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and
results by reportable segment.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-_Z-_—_F+-A=+—HL#EF

E
Printing and
manufacturing
of paper
packages and Sales of
related materials  RFID products Total
ERIRBiE
HEER HEMNE
HEAH BHER @t
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$000
THER FEx THRT
Segment revenue HEkE 888,057 96,438 984,495
Segment result DEEE 85,736 16,317 102,053
Unallocated other income APEEAMUA 51,782
Unallocated other net gains Ao B E M E R
and losses BiEFH 16,749
Unallocated expenses RAEEX (143,196)
Reversal of loss allowance on B 5 REMEKFIER
trade and other receivables BHRERERE
and contract assets, net o) %58 74
Finance costs BERK (10,199)
Share of result of an associate HE—REE AR EE 1,573
Share of result of ajoint venture DL —FA & 38
Profit before taxation BB AR 18,874
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6.

Segment revenues and results (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

DEER (&)
2B 3R I A (40

BE-_Z-_—f+=-B=+—HL#EF

(Represented) E(RE5)
Printing and
manufacturing
of paper
packages and Sales of
related materials RFID products Total
Nl e 3438
mE% HESTHR
@R HAIEm @t
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET TET
Segment revenue o EbE 1,053,454 105,398 1,158,852
Segment result NEEE 163,073 12,408 175,481
Unallocated other income ADEEMUA 41,575
Unallocated other net gains AABEM Y R
and losses BEFE (104,983)
Unallocated expenses AoEFEX (153,899)
Reversal of loss allowance on & 5 J E A e U 208
trade and other receivables BHNEEBE
and contract assets, net BEREFE 2,486
Finance costs BB (14,416)
Share of result of associates DEEE A EIEE 70,126
Share of result of a joint venture D —fIA 42 2E (83)
Profit before taxation KR35 AR F 16,287
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HlEZ —ZE -~ F+ - A=+—HIFE

6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment revenues and results (continued)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies described
in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

Segment result represents the profit or loss generated by
each segment without allocation of corporate
management expenses, directors’ emoluments, share of
result of an associate and a joint venture, finance costs,
unallocated other income, unallocated other net gains
and losses, loss allowance on trade and other receivables
and contract assets, net, amortisation of intangible assets
relating to customer relationship and other unallocated
expenses. This is the measure reported to the CODM for
the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment.

All of the segment revenue reported above is from
external customers.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6.
Segment assets and liabilities
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and
liabilities by operating and reportable segments:

Segment assets

DEBE R ()
THEERARE
NTRAEERKEERAIREDEE
DHEBERBEIN
PHEE
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FETT
(Represented)
(F2=5))

Printing and manufacturing of paper — Efil| &z SU3&E 4% £ 8¢

packages and related materials Mgk 1,077,235 1,312,747
Sales of RFID products 6 5T S R E @ 186,027 200,157
Total segment assets DEPEEBE 1,263,262 1,512,904
Unallocated property, plant and ROMYE - BFE REHE

equipment 151,508 5,093
Right-of-use assets FREEE 86,100 103,347
Investment properties HEMEHE 145,148 55,780
Goodwill [EES 728,704 797,504
Intangible assets | EE 2,231 32,279
Interest in an associate R—EEE AR AR 335,495 455,869
Interest in a joint venture R—HEEEPENER - 8,559
Deferred tax assets REFRIEE E 15,223 5,895
Rental and other deposits paid ENHEEREMES 5,848 3,889
Other receivables, prepayments and  E fth fEUS ZXIB « FEFFRIE

refundable deposits RARER & 33,791 57,013
Tax recoverable AU E I 6,918 4,271
Structured deposits HERMETFR 2,629 -
Pledged bank deposits DEMRITER 104,512 11,488
Bank balances and cash RITEBREIRE 313,292 440,350
Consolidated assets SEBE 3,194,661 3,494,241
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HlEZ —ZE -~ F+ - A=+—HIFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. oHER B
Segment assets and liabilities (continued) ITHEEREE(E)
Segment liabilities PEERE
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FH&T
(Represented)
(F&&E7)
Printing and manufacturing of paper  EDffIl & &iE w2 &
packages and related materials TR 228,005 248,226
Sales of RFID products EE =Lk Yall)= 15,177 7,985
Total segment liabilities NEPEERRE 243,182 256,211
Other payables and accruals HiENZELETER 120,336 133,458
Amount due to a non-controlling JE A<t — RE B BB A B SR8 BR
interest of a subsidiary P I 4,233 2,552
Bank borrowings RITEE 266,633 342,428
Government grants BSfEE 22,058 25,931
Lease liabilities mEARE - 333
Income tax payable FERTFTISHR 6,064 10,748
Deferred tax liabilities BB E 57,018 49,000
Consolidated liabilities mReaE 719,524 820,661
Segment assets represent certain property, plant and NHEERREEFBREBLE R
equipment, trade receivables, contract assets and AEESHEE TYE - BEKEE -
inventories which are directly attributable to the relevant BORWAKIE  6HRNEEANRTFE -
operating and reportable segment. Segment liabilities PHEERREEFBREBRLER
represent trade payables which are directly attributable to AHREDENE S EMNKIE - L5t
the relevant operating and reportable segment. These are BRI EDEXRBANERFELE
the measures reported to the CODM for the purpose of AREZWOTESN ©
resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DEERE)
Other segment information Hith o &R
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-—_FE-_—f£+-A=+—-H1L%&E
E
Printing and
manufacturing
of paper
packages
and related Sales of
materials  RFID products ~ Segment total Unallocated Total
DRREE
HaER HERE
RBR RAER AHEE AAR @it
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TER T#En T ThT
Amounts included in the measurement of  sENBEE HHEER
segment result or segment assets: SANEE:
Adaitions to non-curent assets (Note) ~ FEEREIAE () 58,492 4,707 63,199 234,019 297,018
Depreciation and amortisation nEREH 110,94 16,400 127,341 9,899 137,240
Reversal of loss alowance ontradeand B RAMEUIES B
other recelvables, net BosE - = = (74 (74)
Gain on disposal of property, plantand ~ HENE « BERRENNE
equipment (4,885) 11 (4,874) (8) (4,879)
(ain on disposal of Intangjble assets HERFEEN IS - - - (39) (35)
Provision for recognition of write-downon - ERREZERHAR
obsolete inventories 5,784 253 6,037 - 6,037

Amounts regularly provided tothe CODM ~ EEIR T ELEREE

but not included in the measure of REBTERNE

seqment result: PRFERTANSE
Interest income V9N (1,977) 213 (2,250) (1,690) (3,940)
Interest expenses HER® (Al 193 7,904 2,295 10,199
Note: Non-current assets excluded goodwill. Misk - SEMBEETBIERE o
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e IS HRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DEERE)
Other segment information (continued) HitpHER (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE-_Z-_—F+-A=+—HL#E
(Represented) E(RE5)
Printing and
manufacturing
of paper
packages and
related Sales of
materials RFID products Segment total Unallocated Total
MhIRgE
gaxR HESR
@ HhlEm PHEE I @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T Tin T Tt Tt
Amounts included in the measurement of BN BEEHHEER
segment result or segment assets: HANEE:
Addions to non-curent assets (Note) ~ REFEREIAE (H3) 104,499 34,117 138,616 4,181 142,747
Depreciation and amortisation TEREH 85,401 17,791 103,192 4,874 145,066
Impairment losses on goodwil BEHERR - - - 96,531 96,531
Reversal of impaiment losses on property, #1% - BERAEHEEERR
plant and equipment - - - 21 20
Reversal of loss alowance ontrade and B 5 R A ENUER REERE
other receivables, net et - - - (2522) (2522)
Loss allowance on contract assets, et~ A#EEEERETE - - - 3 3%
Gain on disposal of property, plantand ~ HENE - BRRFENNE
equipment - - - (1,760) (1,760)
Reversal of recognition of write-downon ~ BEAREGFEHAEE
obsolete inventories 2,578) (831) (3,409) - (3409
Amounts regularly provided tothe CODM IR BB %%
but not included in the measure of RERTENTE
seqment resut: PRFERTANSE
Interest income FBMA (2,580) (180) 2,766) (2,464) (5,230)
Interest expenses MERT 13,458 97 14,395 21 14416
Note: Non-current assets excluded goodwill. MitE : R EEREOIERGE o
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eI ERRMHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZEZ—ZT - —F+_-_F=+—HILFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DEER )
Revenue from major products and services FEEMRRBERE
An analysis of the Group’s revenue from its major EEAEETEERMRFKEN S
products and services is set out in note 5 to the &R AR S B IS R&R M55 -
consolidated financial statements.
Geographical information hEE R
The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong and REBNEE LB (GEME) K &2
the PRC (country of domicile). %o
Information about the Group’s revenue from external ﬁ%ﬁ$%%§9l\%ﬁ§ﬁﬂ&¥ﬁﬁﬁﬂ
customers is presented based on the geographical TRBHIETIZZEY] - MAmEYMH
market irrespective of the origin of goods. Information R o *ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%@ih&béﬁ%ﬁ’ﬂﬁ
about the Group’s non-current assets is presented based B DIREEMMIEMLERZT -
on the geographical location of the assets.
Revenue from Non-current
external customers assets (Note a)
REIIHEF W= FERBEE (Mitta)
2022 2021 2022 2021
—=E=-= T —F == T4
HK$’000 HK$’ 000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
The PRC A 965,446 1,133,009 1,654,852 1,875,576
Hong Kong &8 - - 227,575 4,464
Others (Note b) H A (fI5EDb) 19,049 25,843 - -
984,495 1,158,852 1,882,427 1,880,040
Notes: HiE -

(@) Non-current assets excluded those relating to deferred tax
assets and interest in an associate and a joint venture, in which
the operations of these associate and joint venture are mainly
carried out in the PRC.

(b)  Others mainly included Federative Republic of Brazil, India, the
Republic of Turkiye, the Portuguese Republic, the Republic of the
Marshall Islands and the Republic of Korea (20271: Republic of
Indonesia, the United States of America and the Republic of
Korea).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6.
Information about major customers

Details of the customers contributing 10% or more of
total revenue of the Group are as follows:

7 ERE R ()
AREEEFNER

157N B E 10% A LR S 3
T

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FERT FH&IT
Revenue from printing and REORRBERBER
manufacturing of paper A8 BE AR Y U 2
packages and related materials

Customer A ZEA 353,170 364,688
Customer B =258 115,764 171,301

OTHER INCOME 7. HfbA
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FH&T
Interest income on bank deposits IRITFAF B UA 3,940 5,230
Sales of scrap materials HERER 6,309 7,556
Processing fee income MIBUA 254 6,778
Rental income, net of direct expenses &I « B EERE 15,355 6,275
Government grants (Note) BB S (MisE) 18,897 11,559
Write off of other payables 8 L Aib FE S FROR 1,245 -
Sundry income HETE U A 5,782 4177
51,782 41,575

Note: Government grants were received from the government of the
PRC mainly as incentives granted by local authority for
encouragement of its business development and innovation
except for an amount of approximately HK$1,882,000 (20217
HK$3,325,000) which was granted for the acquisition of property,
plant and equipment (as detailed in note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements). These grants are accounted for as financial
support with no future related costs expected to be incurred nor
related to any assets.

During the current year, the Group recognised government
grants of approximately HK$207,000 (2021: HK$nil) in respect of
Covid-19-related subsidies.

MisE : BUS@EBI S AT EBET - £2 A7
ERAFEERERERAIF ME L 85w
& ERRKRIEYE -« BE k& mER
7 491,882,000 jt( = £ = — F:
3,325,000 7T ) B M (FE18 R 4R & M 15 3R
KKIFE33) - ZEWBE HARIIIEN 5
BB NG E AT AR -
BEAMEESERE -

RANFE - REE B Covid-1948E12 Bk #E
RBUT B & #9207,0008 T (= F = —
F:THr) -
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eI ERRMHE

8. OTHER NET GAINS AND LOSSES

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

2022 2021

—E-= —E -4

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

B EE FET FHET

Net foreign exchange gains HNIE Uy 25 5 5E 1,231 6,200
Fair value gain on realised B IR AT Y

structured deposits A EERE 784 285

Gain on disposal of an associate & — k4 A T - 4,116
Gain on disposal of intangible  H&E#EFAEMRZR

assets 35 -

Gain on disposal of property, HEDE - BEKL

plant and equipment B € 4,879 1,760

Impairment loss on goodwil EESDEREY 5] 19 - (96,531)
Loss on deregistration of A ERENEE

a joint venture 22 (801) -

Others HAb 10,621 (20,813)

16,749 (104,983)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

9. REVERSAL OF LOSS ALLOWANCE ON

9. BEENRHMEBUREREGNE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND EEBRERE R
CONTRACT ASSETS, NET
2022 2021
—E-—fF —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHT FHEIT
Net loss allowance reversed FA T ZIE BB EERRD
(recognised) on: (MR F5 -
— Trade receivables — B S EWEIE 46 2,515
— Contract assets — ABE - (36)
— Other receivables — Efb WA 28 7
74 2,486

Details of loss allowance assessment for the year ended
31 December 2022 are set out in note 39 to the

RS E T -_—_F+-_/F=+—H
FFENEBERETIHFBEIRES

consolidated financial statements. B IR R MIFE39 ©
10. FINANCE COSTS 10. RE KA
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FExT FHEIT
Interest expenses on bank BITERRBZHF B
borrowings and overdrafts 10,199 14,378
Imputed interest expenses HEEBENHEER S
on lease liabilities - 38
10,199 14,416
2022 F% HEERBERAA 139
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eI ERRMHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

11. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
This is stated after charging:

11. BRBLARF
W HIEMBR A TS ITHIE -

2022 2021
—E_-_ T —F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
BEE FERT FHIT
Staff costs, including directors’ 8 TA(A » BIEE S5 B
remuneration
Salaries and other benefits e REMET 92,872 128,672
Contributions to retirement RIREFIFT IR
benefits schemes 7,006 11,106
Contractual termination BRI IR
benefit 27,378 15,678
Total staff costs @8 TR 127,256 155,456
Auditor’s remuneration % £5 M 3 I 1,800 2,100
Cost of inventories FEKAR (@) 646,907 779,255
Amortisation of intangible assets & E#E S ((T ALE
(included in cost of sales and PRAR AT )
administrative expenses) 23,740 40,254
Depreciation e
— property, plant and equipment — #1% - = K& G 104,186 97,148
— right-of-use assets — EAREE 2,480 3,616
— investment properties — REME 6,834 4,048
Total depreciation and TEREHETE
amortisation 137,240 145,066
Research expenses (included in  #iZEF S (Gt ASHERAN)
cost of sales) 46,347 58,740
Direct operating expenses REEEAHSBAHMEE
arising from investment MENBEELERX
properties that generated (FrAEAULA)
rental income (included in
other income) 15,831 13,906
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

11. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (continued) 11. BRBEANER ()

Note: FiEE -

(@  Included in cost of inventories were staff costs, depreciation and @ FEXABEEINA  TEREHERE
amortisation and recognition of write-down on obsolete PR E 17 & MR 5 Bl #780,761,000 T
inventories of approximately HK$80,761,000 (2021: = F = — 4 :102,424,000;% € )
HK$102,424,000), HK$106,669,000 (2021: HK$95,432,000) 106,669,000/ 7( = T = — 4
and HK$6,037,000 (2021: reversal of write-down of 95,432,000% 7T ) }% 6,037,000 7T (= F
HK$3,409,000) respectively which are recognised during the = —4F : BB 3,409,000/ ) © B
year. REEHER -

12. TAXATION 12. BiI1E
2022 2021
—E-= T —F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
hE=g FET FHT
Current tax EEIH A
The PRC o]
Enterprise Income Tax (‘EIT”) {15/

(TEZEAMER) 3,491 3,300

Overprovision of EIT in prior BEFELEMSESH
years FREE R (924) (6,960)
2,567 (3,660)

Deferred tax FEEHE 34

Origination and reversal of B N R
temporary differences 16,184 9,325
Benefit of tax loss recognised B iR T IB A 18 % (9,292) -
6,892 9,325
9,459 5,665

Hong Kong Profits Tax has not been provided as the BARASEENFBILIERNBEEEK

Group’s profits neither arose in, nor derived from, Hong NG - I EAHRE SRS HRE -

Kong.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e BHRRNE

12. TAXATION

The PRC EIT is calculated at the applicable prevailing tax
rates from 15% to 25% (2021: 15% to 25%) in the PRC.
Pursuant to the “Enterprise Income Tax Law for Foreign
Investment Enterprises and Foreign Enterprises”, some
PRC subsidiaries, being a High-Tech Enterprise, were
entitled to a reduced EIT rate of 15% for three years from
the date of approval.

Upon the New Tax Law and Implementation Regulations
coming into effect, the PRC withholding income tax is
applicable to dividends payable to investors that are
“non-PRC tax resident enterprises”, which do not have
an establishment or place of business in the PRC, or
which have such establishment or place of business but
the relevant income is not effectively connected with the
establishment or place of business, to the extent such
dividends have their sources within the PRC. Under such
circumstances, dividends distributed from the PRC
subsidiaries, associates and a joint venture to non-PRC
tax resident group entities shall be subject to the
withholding income tax at 10% or lower tax rate, as
applicable. Under the relevant tax treaty, withholding tax
rate on distribution to Hong Kong resident companies is
5%. Deferred taxation has been provided on
undistributed earnings of all subsidiaries and associates
(as detailed in note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements).
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

12, BIE(#)

PRI SEERIET B EAE R
K% E225%( —ZFE = —F : 15% %
26%) 5t & - REB(RBEIIEIREDE
MINE R EFERE) - BT EWB
Aal(BEa i) B#FE A e
AEFARRREEEMGERNE
15% S

AR EIEARG A E - P ETE
FriSTEARENE [EPRERMAT
TEIREENRE  ZFIFFBEER
MBI R P BN I B
5 EL A R B AR A M ok B 1B AR
FAURAER LBzl iR
B EUZERETIRETRRHAR -
REZEBRT  PREMBAR - BE
R REEERN TIHEFEERRN
MEEEETENREEZ10%MHTE
HMAASRBERRBERE (WER) &
o REBERABHKIBE  AEEER
NENRTR B IES 5% R TEIEL < &
EHBESRAT AN B QR R E QR
WARDRBFFREE (GBEREEY
T FES4) ©
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e M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HlEZ —ZE -~ F+ - A=+—HIFE

12. TAXATION (continued)

Reconciliation of income tax expenses

. BiR (&)
FT 8L AR

2022 2021
—E_— —ET—F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
BEE FERT FHT
Profit before taxation ek B ATV A 18,874 16,287
Income tax at applicable tax Eﬁ%ﬁ”%%
rate of 25% (2021: 25%) (ZF=—%F :25%)
SHTEBPEH (@) 4,719 4,072
Share of result of associates DIRE S N FIEE (393) (17,531)
Share of result of a joint venture {5 —f& L ¥%EE (9) 20
Non-deductible expenses AR X 1,931 33,944
Unrecognised tax losses RERTIEER 6,554 1,943
Additional tax benefit on 3R S M EEIMNSE IS 7 2
research and development
expenses (b) (8,632) (12,961)
Deferred tax on undistributed ~ FrEIKH B AT, L A7
earnings of the PRC R IR B N HELER A
subsidiaries/associates 11,057 8,929
Tax effect of undistributed EHRBREPEHERD IR
earnings reinvested in the ARW G2
PRC not taxable (290) (703)
Income tax on concessionary  REEMRRFEREH
rate (4,554) (5,088)
Overprovision in prior years BEFEBERE (924) (6,960)
Income tax expenses for the FRMEHXZH
year 9,459 5,665
Notes: P3E

() The applicable tax rate of 25% represents the applicable income
tax rate of the subsidiaries in Shenzhen, Anhui, Jiangsu and
Hubei in the PRC which constitute the substantial part of the
Group’s operation for the years ended 31 December 2022 and

2021.

(b) Pursuant to the relevant tax rules and regulations, the Group
could obtain additional tax benefit, which is a further 75% to
100% (2021: 100%) of certain qualified research and
development cost incurred endorsed by the Shenzhen, Anhui,
Jiangsu and Hubei Local Taxation Administrators.

(@  BEABR25% REMRFERI - 28 -
TEREHILHK B AR ER TS
EMZEMBRARIEAEEHZ T
T FRZZE_—F+_RA=1+—HILHF
BRI D ER

(o) RFBEBEERBRARER  AEEES

BHNGIEESR - BERNRI - 28 JTE

e & B B R R 0] 6 s T & B

B AN ERINTE% E100% (ZF=—4F :
100%) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the
year, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules and the

13. EERTHARFHR A R&
EEES

RAE £ R B R~ BB BE 8 R
EEEMITHREHFMIT -

Companies Ordinance, are as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-B--HE+-A=t-HLFE

Contributions
Salaries to retirement
and other Performance benefits
Fees benefits bonus schemes Total
R BINER
ik Rt fER RARA HE L agm
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
TR THER TR THER TR
Executive directors HTES
Mr. Chen Xiao Liang (note a) BRI R L4 (Fizta) - 157 - 6 163
Mr. Huang Wanru (note b) FBMmEE (FiD) - 725 282 52 1,059
Mr. Jiang Xiang Yu (note ) BHmEE (Witc) - 685 485 - 1,170
Mr. Qin Song (note d) SR A (3t a) - 148 862 9 1,019
Non-executive directors FHTES
Ms. LiLi EX e - - - - -
Independent non-executive ~ BUEHTES
directors
Mr. Lam Ying Hung, Andy MEREE 169 - - - 169
Mr. Lui Tin Nang BREEE 169 - - - 169
Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon EYE Sk 169 - - - 169
507 1,715 1,629 67 3,918
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 13. EERITHARFMRESRER
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID SHES ®)
EMPLOYEES (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-Z--51-A-T-HLEE

Contributions
Salaries to retirement
and other ~ Performance benefits
Fees bengfits bonus schemes Total
ek RIRER
e EthiER| FRIEA SRl BEM

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TAL TRL TR TR

Executive directors UITES

Mr. Chen Xiao Liang (note a) BRI R L4 (Fizta) - 504 - 18 522
Mr. Huang Wanru (note b) FBmEE (Fib) - 588 282 49 919
Mr. Jiang Xiang Yu (note ) Bamti (Fic) - 303 - - 303
Mr. Qin Song (note d) SRS (FifsEa) - 1,667 897 79 2,643
Ms. Zheng Jinghui (note € HE2 st (fite) - 284 282 25 591

Non-executive directors FYTES
Ms. LiLi THut - - - - _

Independent non-executive ~ BIYFHTES

directors
Mr. Lam Ying Hung, Andy MEREE 145 - - _ 145
Mr. Lui Tin Nang BREgEAE 145 - - _ 145
Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon EYC i 145 - - _ 145

435 3,346 1,461 171 5413
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (continued)

Notes:

(@)

Mr. Chen Xiao Liang has been re-designated as the chief
executive officer of the Company with effect from 21 January
2022 and resigned from the position with effect from 22 April
2022.

Mr. Huang Wanru has been re-designated as the chairman of the
Company with effect from 22 April 2022.

Mr. Jiang Xiang Yu was appointed as an executive director of the
Company with effect from 16 July 2021.

Mr. Qin Song resigned from the position as an executive director
and chief executive officer of the Company with effect from 21
January 2022.

Ms. Zheng Jinghui resigned from the position as an executive
director of the Company with effect from 16 July 2021.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
for their services in connection with the management of
the affairs of the Company and the Group. The
independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were for their services as directors of the
Company.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 13. EERTTHERTMRAER

EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (continued)

There was no arrangement under which a director or the
chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year (2021 HK$nil).

The five highest paid individuals included three (20217:
three) directors of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2022, details of whose emoluments are set
out above. The emoluments of the remaining two (2021
two) individuals during the year are as follows:

S¥ES #)

FALEEFTLTRAHEBRKFE
HetiMeneh(—F-—F : F
BTT) e

HE_T-_—_F+A=+—HL*F
B heRaHEERE=®R(=ZF
T ZHB)RRRES  HEBF
BEHALEX - B TWAB(ZFZ—F -

HE) EARKEEEHHOT -

2022 2021

—E-= —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHT FAETT

Salaries and other benefits e RHEAER 1,328 2,490
Contributions to retirement IRRAE R B R

benefits schemes 18 296

1,346 2,786

The emoluments of the five highest paid individuals,
excluding three (2021: three) directors, were within the

hEseHEE(TMERE=4(=F
Z—F ZH)EF)NHERN N

following bands: Bl
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
No. of No. of
employees employees
EEAH EE A
Nil to HK$1,000,000 =% 1,000,000/%8 7T 2 -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T £ 1,500,000,8 7T - 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 /8 7T £ 2,000,000,8 7T - 1

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the
directors of the Company, the chief executive officer of
the Group, senior management, or the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.

HE-_T-_—_FRk=-FT=-_—F+=A
=+—HLEFE FAEEBEREAR
AEMES  AEETHREH =R
EREIAERR FEE T EMBM
T UAFEEMAREERMALRE
C SERBEIRAEE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE 14. BREF|
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per AARBEAEARLEREARE SR
share attributable to owners of the Company is based on TR TP BB E

the following data:

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F

Earnings EF
Profit for the year attributable to AR E SRR ERZF 8

owners of the Company for the ZN/NSIE PPN Y

purpose of basic earnings per share & F| (F#T)

(HK$'000) 6,204 8,628
Number of shares RGEE
Weighted average number of ordinary B AT E &G IEARZEF]H

shares in issue for the purpose of BETTE @A hnE

basic earnings per share ('000) SEHE (T 1,567,885 1,567,885
Diluted earnings per share are same as the basic GRESRFEGRERZTER -
earnings per share as there are no dilutive potential BEE_TE__FR-_FT=—
ordinary shares in existence during the years ended 31 +ZA=t+—HBLEETERELES
December 2022 and 2021. SBEENT K -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HlEZ —ZE -~ F+ - A=+—HIFE

15. DIVIDENDS 15. R E
2022 2021
—E=-= B
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Dividends for ordinary shareholders — ERER A D IR ARNA 7
of the Company recognised as LB RS
distribution during the year:
2020 final dividend, paid at ERNZZE_TFEREARE
HK10.00 cents per share &% 10.00 781 - 156,789

The final dividend of HK4 cents per share in respect of
the year ended 31 December 2022, amounting to
approximately HK$62,715,000 has been proposed by
the directors of the Company and is subject to approval
by the shareholders in the annual general meeting.

The directors of the Company do not recommend the
payment of a dividend for the year ended 31 December
2021.

ARRESEERBE-_ZT ==
+Z A=+ RALFERHNKRHRE
lﬂx4 Bl A H%62,715,000/8 7T
MHARFRRARRBF RS LiE -

ARAREETEBENBE-_FT—_—F
TZA=+—BLEFERNES -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. Y% - BERRXE
Furniture
Leasehold Plant and and office Motor  Construction
Buildings  improvement machinery  equipment vehicles  in progress Total
BFHE
BT BEHE HEREE BOZRE AE HEIR &t

HK000  HK§O000  HKEOOD  HKBOO0  HKSO00  HKBOOD  HKSO00
TER TERL TET TER TETL TEL TER

Recondiiation of camying amount ~ BREELE - 2 -F-—%
-yearended 31 December 2021 TZA=F-HII£E

At the beginning of the reporting period 5555 £347] 332,008 1,686 341,952 12,662 6,714 207,370 902,392
Additions RE 3,286 3,680 59,486 1,693 438 74,264 142,747
Transfer from construction in progress EEBERETR 66,666 12,026 28,842 5,020 (991) (106,569) -
Transfer toinvestment properties ~ BEERENE (36,437) - - - - - (36,437)
Disposals it @) - w4324 3,292 224 - 47,882
Depreciation 7% (24,430) (982) (63,209 (7.279 (1,248) - (97,149
Reversal of impairment loss REERED - - - 27 - - 27
Exchange differences ERZEE 9,09 210 8,671 244 125 5,197 23,542
Atthe end of the reporting period RS EIR 350,146 16,620 306,418 8,975 4814 180,268 887,241

Reconciliation of carrying amount REEHER - BE-E-_F
-yearended 31 December 2022  tZR=1-HLLEE

At the beginning of the reporting period 75 5 #3147 350,146 16,620 326,418 8,975 4,814 180,268 887,241
Additions AE 2,130 - 2,260 3,828 2,663 53,268 64,139
Additions — acquisition of a RE - WE-RNHBAR

subsidiary (note 43) (FizE43) 152,733 - - 4 - - 152,779
Transfer from construction in progress BEBEETR 163,016 (221) 56,327 72 - (219,189) -
Transfer to investment properties B ZHRENE (FizE18)

note 18) (14,142) - - - - - (14,142)
Disposls e - - - (3,568) 091) 61) (3920)
Depreciation i (31,469) (3830) 63,780) (3.469) (1,649 - (l04189)
Exchange differences EAEE (30,700) (959) (25,237) @17 (345) (9.857) (67,515)
At the end of the reporting period  RE&HK 591,720 11,604 295,988 5,471 5,183 4430 914,3%6
At 1 January 2022 RZE--%-A-A
Cost A 556,932 17,867 869,727 36,619 17,367 180268 1,678,780
Acoumulated depreciation and ZIHTERRESE

impaiment losses (206,786) 1247 (543309 (07,644) 12559 - (915%9)
Net carrying amount REFE 350,146 16,620 326,418 8,975 4814 180,268 887,241
At 31 December 2022 RZB-—#+-f=1-B
Cost A 806,012 16,530 803,572 16,685 17,069 443 1,664,298
Accumulated depreciation and ZIHTERAESE

impaiment losses (214,299) 696 (507,584 (11214 (11,886) - (M99
Net canying amount BESE 591,720 1604 295,988 5471 5,183 440 91439
The Group’s buildings are located in the PRC and Hong AEENEFURPEREE - HE
Kong which are under lease terms of 50 years. BB0LE
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. EREEE
Leasehold Leased
land properties Total
HE i HEME st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHEL THEL
Recongiliation of carrying amount RHEYR - HE_T_—F
- year ended 31 December 2021 +t-A=+—HIEE
At the beginning of R # )
the reporting period 102,904 1,272 104,176
Depreciation e (2,643) 973) (3,616)
Exchange differences fE 5 =R 2,775 12 2,787
At the end of the reporting period N B S 103,036 311 103,347
Reconciliation of carrying amount JREEE — BE-S=—F
-year ended 31 December2022 +—-A=+—-HULFE
At the beginning of R B
the reporting period 103,036 311 103,347
Transfer to investment BREREME (HE18)
properties (note 18) (6,585) - (6,585)
Depreciation e (2,480) - (2,480)
Early termination of leases REKIHEE - (311) (311)
Exchange differences fE i Z 78 (7,871) - (7,871)
At the end of the reporting period ¥4 Hi R 86,100 - 86,100
At 1 January 2022 R-E-—&5—A—R
Cost AR 126,800 933 127,733
Accumulated depreciation ZEHiE (23,764) 622) (24,386)
Net carrying amount REFE 103,036 311 103,347
At 31 December 2022 R-B-_—&#+-A=+-H
Cost BN 108,114 - 108,114
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (22,014) - (22,014)
Net carrying amount REFE 86,100 - 86,100

2022FF# HEEIRBRAF]
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HlZ2 —E -~ F+_-_A=+—HIFE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

The leasehold land represents the land use rights situated
in the PRC. At the end of the reporting period, the
remaining lease term of the lands are within the range
from 30 to 46 years (2021: 31 to 47 years).

As at 31 December 2021, the Group leases factory
premises for its daily operations. Lease contracts have
fixed term of 3 years without extension and termination
options. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual
basis and contain different terms and conditions. In
determining the lease term and assessing the length of
the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the
definition of a contract and determines the period for
which the contract is enforceable.

Details of the interest expenses on lease liabilities and
lease maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set out in
notes 10 and 30 respectively to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for
staff dormitories. At the end of the reporting period, the
portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of
short-term leases to which the short-term lease expense
disclosed as below.

17. FRAEEE @)

FAE LI P B A i (s A4 -
RIREEIR -t THEBANF30
BARF (ZEZ—F 31 F474F) -

R-ZF-_—F+-A=1+—H &%
ESEREEHEREYE - HEAS
HIEEE MR A3F - PRIEH LI
EEE - HEGKRERNBEREDE
T EFEE TRGR RGNS - BE
T HR R AFAE T AT BUGH HIR B - AR E
JEF & #)E)TE & I T E & #) 7 58 il A
TTEVHARR -

HEABENERAXREERENHEE
FEBEDMEFEBED RIERER S M5
FMIFE10 %30 °

AEBFTHRE T EEFI L AHEE -
E’\#l?ziﬁﬁifi REREHE S B EE
ERXR TXHENSHHAEASHE

+.

" e

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Lease payments: MERK -

Short-term leases recognised in RiERERNEREE
profit or loss 1,191 2,382
Low-value assets KEEBEEE - 116
Expenses recognised in profit or loss A EZHERH 1,191 2,498
Lease payments on lease liabilities HEAGBNHEERNK - 1,010
Total cash outflow for leases HERS R BzE 1,191 3,508
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

17.

18.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have
commitment under leases (2021: HK$756,000) for the
above short-term leases.

Restrictions or covenants

Most of the leases impose a restriction that, unless the
approval is obtained from the lessor, the properties can
only be used by the Group and the Group is prohibited
from selling or pledging the underlying assets. For the
leased properties, the Group is required to keep those
properties in a good state of repair and return the
properties in their original or current condition at the end

17. FRHEEE®)

R-ZTE-_—F+-A=+—H K&
B e ENEEAE (-
Z—1F 1 756,00087C) °

PR =k 22 5%

REBHEDERRS - BRIFELE
AL MEREATAAKEER LA
KETBHEXEREREE - YR
HEWE AEEARBVERRY
e RN EE S REIZERRK
BRZIEME -

of the lease.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 18. BEY
2022 2021
—=2-= —E-—4F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Reconciliation of carrying amount  REE ¥ R
At the beginning of the reporting period 7 ¥ 25 Ei %) 55,780 22,305
Additions — acquisition of a NE — WHE—REIM B A
subsidiary (note 43) (Pff5E 43) 80,300 -
Transfer from property, plant and EREYE  BENRE
equipment (note 16) (FzE16) 14,142 36,437
Transfer from right-of-use assets EBEOGREEE
(note 17) (HI&E17) 6,585 -
Depreciation e (6,834) (4,048)
Exchange differences M =R (4,825) 1,086
At the end of the reporting period  RIFEHR 145,148 55,780
Cost [D#%N 231,179 124,403
Accumulated depreciation REE (86,031) (68,623)
Net carrying amount BREFEE 145,148 55,780
20225 FH NEERBRAF
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18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Investment properties with carrying amount of
approximately HK$14,142,000 (2021: HK$36,437,000)
and HK$6,585,000 (2021: HK$nil) respectively have been
transferred from buildings under property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets due to change in
management’s intention for the use of particular factory
premises. These factory premises have no longer been
self-occupied by the Group since the inception of lease
agreements with third parties during the year.

The Group leases out warehouses, office properties and
factory premises under operating leases with fixed
monthly rental charges. The leases typically run for an
initial period of 1 to 6 years (2021: 1 to 6 years) without
extension and termination options.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a
result of the lease arrangements, as all leases are
denominated in the respective functional currencies of
group entities. The lease contracts do not contain
residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to
purchase the property at the end of lease term. The
Group has purchased insurance to protect the investment
properties against any loss that may arise from accidents
or physical damages of the properties.

All the properties held for rental purposes have
committed lessees for coming years. Below is a maturity
analysis of undiscounted lease payments to be received
from the leasing of investment properties.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

18. REWX (&)

BREED B #414,142,0008 Tt ( = &F
——1F : 36,437,000% 7T ) } 6,585,000
BL(ZFE=Z—F : TET)NKEY
XD EMHE  BERKBEURERE
EEETEFER ARAEEEHE
THMEMERENOERNEEZ - g1
AEERE=FHHAEHZRBE
ZEREMETBRASEBTHA -

AEEREAMEEHEERERE
BE -MAMERBEYE - HA—
BT EBH1ZE6F(ZT=—F 12
6F)  TRIERRIRILIEERE -

HRAEHESUNEEEEEENY
REEEIE HAKEYERNHEELR
BrmARINERR - HEANHTES
FABEERE LABAREDRE
mEBEYMENEERE - AEBER
BREAREREVERZBINKY
EYIERIE A GBI RR -

FIFRERENMEMEE BARAKRE
BRINHEE - UTREREMEEE
R ERE ARITIR B E N RN -

2022 2021

—Eg=-= —E-—4F

HK$°000 HK$’'000

FET FHET

Year 1 F15F 14,798 11,820

Year 2 E2F 14,392 12,143

Year 3 EIF 13,542 6,394

Year 4 F4F - 1,469
Undiscounted lease payments to be A AU ER 9 AR B 3R AR & 5 3k

received 42,732 31,826
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Fair value measurement of the Group’s investment
properties

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties as at
31 December 2022 was HK$413,948,000 (2021:
HK$279,341,000). The fair value has been arrived at on
the basis of a valuation carried out by Vincorn Consulting
and Appraisal Limited (2021: Roma Appraisals Limited),
an independent qualified professional valuer.

The following table gives information about how the fair
value of the investment properties at the end of the
reporting period is determined (in particular, the valuation
approaches and inputs used), as well as the fair value
hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are
categorised based on the degree to which the inputs to
the fair value measurements is observable.

18. REYX (&)

FEEREVENDIABETE

AEBREYER T - _F+_A8
=+—HMAREEA413,948,000%8
TL(=ZF = —4F : 279,341,000;%7T) °
AABENBEBYAEREEGHE
Bk R AR AR (ZF=—
F : BEERFE AR A F]) EITHE
BEMEE °

TRIEABNAETREMER &
SHRNAABENEFR (K52
RETERBARE)  URBREAR
EBEFEGABEBENAIBEREE - K
RRBEAEIBRENAAEEER -

Fair value
Investment properties hierarchy  Valuation technique Significant inputs
REN= ARBEEER HERWK BEABARE
Industrial property Level 3 Market comparable Recent transaction prices for
located in Shenzhen approach similar properties
RIRRYIE T3 E=/ T35 Al L EUE BUMERIRR 5B
Industrial property Level 3 Depreciated replacement  Estimation of the market value

located in Bengbu

ISR TR E=R FrEF MBI

Industrial property Level 3 Market comparable
located in Hong Kong approach

URBANITENE EFE=H 3% Al L B8O

cost approach

for the existing structures
less deductions for physical
deterioration and all relevant
forms of obsolescence and
optimisation

BB EBOMESTHEREYE
RACHYHIBR A K BT B A8
R r @R R EL

Recent transaction prices for

similar properties
BOUMENLRZHE

2022FF# HEEIRBRAF]
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

18.

19.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest
and best use of the properties is their current use. There
has been no change from the valuation technique used in
prior year.

GOODWILL

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill has been
allocated to seven individual CGUs, comprising
subsidiaries engaged in printing and manufacturing of
paper packages and related materials, manufacturing of
laminated paper business, sales of RFID products and
property investment (20217: six individual CGUs
comprising subsidiaries engaged in printing and
manufacturing of cigarette packages and related
materials, manufacturing of laminated paper and sales of
RFID products).

LITU HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

18.

19.

REYZF(#)
REFTERORAEER - WENK
= R B EE AR R E R A AR
PTARMN E—FEL EEH -

k5

REAATNE  HEESEELE
BERBREeELEN  BRIEFNR R
SERBERABME - BEE AR
X% HES AR EMEDERRE
B AR (ZF=—F : NEESIH
TELEN  BREEENRREES
BERRIAEME  REEESARHE
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

19. GOODWILL (continued)
At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts
of goodwill net of impairment losses recognised allocated
to these CGUs are as follows:

19. HE (#)
RIREHIR - EEEE (IR ERER
REEBE) CESIREEZSHSELS
IR -

Manufacturing Sales of
Printing and manufacturing of paper of laminated RFID Property
packages and related materials paper products investment
HEMR
ORREELAERABNH HERAg RAER NERE
CGU-1 CGU-2 CGU-3 CGU-6 CGU-4 CGU-5 CGU-7 Total
BeEL ReEE R4 ReEE R4 BeEL BeEE
Efi-1 Efi-2 Ef-3 Efi-6 Efi4 Efi-5 Efi-7 &t

HK§ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
TERL T TR

HK§ 000 HK$000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000
T TiEn TEL TR TERL

Reconcilation of camying amount BHEHE -8E-3--F

- year ended 31 December 2021 T-R=t+-BIL5E

Atthe begining of he reporting perod A& R4 689,432 135,309 2853 18,24 37 9,181 - 885,408
Impaiment loss HEEA (93.260) - 26%0) - (391) - - (96,531)
Exchange diferences EiEH 480 2003 7 1319 4 219 - 8627
Atthe end of th reporting perod REEER 600,977 18752 - 49,565 - 9430 - 797,504
Reconciliation of carying amount ~~ SREEHEK - BE-E-_F

- year ended 31 December 2022 TZB=t-BLEE

Atthe begining of e reporting period A& 84 600977 137,532 - 49,565 - 9430 - 797 504
Realocaton ENAR (203574 - - - - - 23574 -
Exchange difirences ERER (52,89) (10821) - (3899) - (1,184) - 68800)
Athe end of the reporting period R EEK 344,507 126711 - 45,666 - 8216 208574 728704
At1 January 2022 RZB-—&-f-R

Cost A 939,504 137532 16,455 49,565 38 12514 - 1,186,068
Accurmulated impaiment losses ZihEEA (338617) - (¢6.455) - (398) (3084) - (388.554)
Net carying amount BESE 600,977 13753 - 49,565 - 9430 - 797,504
At31 December 2022 RZEZZE+ZA=1-H

Cost A 539276 126711 42800 45,666 %7 11,08 318,666 1,084,572
Accumulated impairment losses ZirnEEA (194,769) - (¢2,800) - (37) 2.840) (115,09 (365,868)
Net carrying amount FETE 344,507 126,711 - 45,666 - 8246 203,574 728,704

In addition to goodwill, property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets (including allocation of corporate
assets) that generate cash flows together with the related
goodwill and opening net working capital balances which
are largely integrated with the cash flows from the CGU
under review are also included in the respective CGU for
the purpose of impairment assessment.

REES ELBRSRONE B
REEREREE (RECEEENS
) S FIEMHER R EEE S FH
2B (A H0 5 BB E B IR & 2 A B 4
BA) TRAEN A BN R SE
4 BB -

2022FF# HEEIRBRAF]
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19. GOODWILL (continued)

The Group has engaged independent qualified
professional valuers, Flagship Appraisals and Consulting
Limited (“Flagship”) and Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate
Appraisal and Advisory Limited (“JLL") (2021: Flagship
and JLL) to perform appraisals of the recoverable amount
of several CGUs arising from printing and manufacturing
of paper packages and related materials, manufacturing
of laminated paper, sales of RFID products and property
investment at the end of the reporting period. The
recoverable amounts of CGUs are the higher of their
value in use and their fair value less costs of disposal.

At the end of the reporting period, the recoverable
amount of CGU-1 and CGU-7 (2021: CGU-1) were
determined based on the fair value less costs of disposal
and the remaining CGUs were determined based on the
value in use calculations.

The value in use calculations used discounted future cash
flow model based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a five-year period and a pre-tax
discount rate of 18.37%, 13.82% and 18.51%
respectively for CGU-2, CGU-5 and CGU-6 (2021:
15.98%, 14.49%, 14.06%, 13.61% and 16.06%
respectively for CGU-2, CGU-3, CGU-4, CGU-5 and
CGU-6). Cash flows beyond five-year period is
extrapolated using a steady growth rate of 3.0% (2021:
3.0%). Cash flow projections for the CGUs are based on
the expected terminal growth rate, gross margin and
sales growth rate during the budget period, which were
determined based on past performance of the Group and
the management’s expectations for the market
development.

The fair value less costs of disposal has been determined
by cost approach based on adjusted net asset value
method. The significant inputs are observable market
price of the assets and liabilities and the unobservable
adjustments on the fair value of these assets and
liabilities.
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9. BE#)

RBEMR  AEEZBBIAER
EXHEMEEEETEBERARA
A ([ ) MPEBITERFMHRE
AERAR(THERT] (ZF-—
F o JEME R ERTT) B DR K BLE AR
BERIABME BEEEHE  HE
TR B EmNA MM ERERMELS
THReEEAFEMM AW E S BEETTHF
o M ELBEL A AW O SR AE
AEEREAREER L EKRAHNEK
=&

RBEMR ReELEU A LR
EEBN-T(ZF=—F HoEFE
fiz—1) AT YR Bl £ FEAR B A e B ER H
ERABELB TREEEEMRE
EREEAEETE -

ZEREEAEFTAEAREEEE
HERERFHBANMBEENITER
ARKBeRBRAELRREELES
-2 HMEELEBEMN-SRREELS
fi7-6% Bl £ A 7 BT 47 30 £ 18.37% »
13.82% K 18.51% (ZFE = —4F : pt#
CELEN-2  BLEFEN-3 H
RELE-4 BeEFBE-5RE
2 EE B -65 FEF AT F
15.98% ~ 14.49% * 14.06% - 13.61%
K 16.06%) - AR EMNEREERE
BREBTERRRION(ZF - —F:
3.0%)FEH - BeEABMHIRENR
TERRETEE AN TFER RS RE
EFERRIEEEREET -  BALE
BREASENBEIRRAREEEY™M
BEROHEMETE -

NAEBEMDEKRANE EAKAER
BRAEREEFEEETE -BEABA
BEAEERABNABEMELZ
SEERABNAREBENTAIERE
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

19. GOODWILL (continued) 19. & (&)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, certain
premises within CGU-1 area are leased out for earning
rental income, the Group reorganised its reporting
structure of a subsidiary in a way that changes the
composition of the CGU-1 to two CGUs, namely CGU-1,
printing of cigarette and related materials business, and
CGU-7, investment properties business, for which
goodwill of HK$203,574,000 has been reallocated from
CGU-1 to CGU-7 by using the proportionate of areas of
the premise occupied by CGU-1 and CGU-7. At the end
of the reporting period, the management of the Group
has determined goodwill directly related to CGU-1 and
CGU-7 amounting to HK$344,507,000 and
HK$203,574,000 (2021: HK$600,977,000 and n/a)
respectively.

The recoverable amount of CGU-1 and CGU-7 have
been determined by the directors of the Company with
reference to the valuation report prepared by Flagship for
both years. No impairment loss on goodwill of CGU-1
(2021: impairment loss of HK$93,260,000) and CGU-7
(2021: n/a) have been made during the year.

The recoverable amount of CGU-1 of HK$602,619,000
(2021: HK$1,017,108,000) and CGU-7 of
HK$261,688,000 (2021: n/a) were classified as level 3
under fair value hierarchy. Sales prices of comparable
properties in term of size, location, accessibility and other
relevant factors in close proximity adjusted for differences
in key valuation attributes, such as size, location and
accessibility were used to value the properties, which
were determined based on the management’s
expectations for the market performance and consistent
with external sources of information. One of the key
unobservable inputs used in this valuation approach is
price per square metre. A decrease in the price per
square metre would result in decrease in fair value
measurement of the properties by the same percentage
and vice versa.

HE-_T-_—_F+-A=+—HLF
B BMEEABMN-1EBERNNEIY
E¥LAUBRDRESKRA  AEEEAR
ENBARNEHREE BREES
BN 1MEKERAEMERSELSE
i - BNIR e EE M1 (ENRIEE XA
BMHEER) RBRSELEN -7(RE
M ET) - E A2 208,574,000 %
TEERREEAEN 1 MNASELS
-7 hEERELOERESELS
MNAEFOEEREGELEEN-T7 - R
REHR ALETEECETHE
CELBENARBCELEN-THE
FEREM R 25 5 & 344,507,000 7% 7T &
203,574,000 T( = &£ = — F:
600,977,000, 7T & T H)

ReEEENIRASEASM-TR
MEFENATKRESEHRARAIES
BT BER2ZEERENGEERS

AFEEHETIRREEESEMN1HE
BREBER(ZE-—F: FHEEE
93,260,000/ T ) R & EHE B -7
WEEBREEE(ZFE=—F: T4#
) o

REeEEEXEBN-1MAKE 5
602,619,000 T( = &£ = — 4
1,017,108,000;& L) 3R & EE A B 17
9 AT Y [@ 4 28 261,688,0008 7T ( =&
Z—F  TEFA)YERARBERER
ME=He ER/N B RAEER
HiEBEZEB I LRy
ENEB (AN B RAEESE
EHESFREZEAR)EARMEMR
B HBREEEEYMSRENTE
HAEE F M BRANERE B AROR — B » 3% fh
BAENEENAEREGASE 2 —
BEFTKER BEFREBRTK
EEYMELAABEFERRAFED
EE TR+ ROZIRAA o

20225 F5  HEERBR AR
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19. GOODWILL (continued)

If an adverse change of 5% in market price of the
properties of CGU-1 and CGU-7, while other specific
assumption remain constant, an impairment loss on
goodwill of HK$19,006,000 and HK$15,429,000
respectively would be recognised. In reality, a change in
one of the aforementioned assumptions may accompany
a change in another assumption which may have an
offsetting impact. Action is also usually taken to respond
to adverse changes in economic assumptions that may
mitigate the impact of any such change.

Because the expansion of market share and the effect of
winning tenders, the management of the Group considers
that no impairment loss on goodwill of CGU-2 for both
years with reference to the value in use calculation of the
CGU-2 based on the valuation report issued by JLL.

The management believes that any reasonably possible
changes in any of these assumptions would not cause
the aggregate carrying amount of CGU-2 to exceed its
aggregate recoverable amount at the end of the reporting
period.

Because of the effect of the loss of tenders and the drop
in average selling price across various products tiers in
CGU-3 and CGU-4, their value in use were adversely
impacted and was estimated to be lower than their
carrying value of goodwill, intangible assets and tangible
assets. An impairment loss on goodwill of HK$2,880,000
and HK$391,000 directly related to CGU-3 and CGU-4
respectively have been made during the year ended 31
December 2021 with reference to the value in use
calculation prepared by the management of the Group.
The carrying amount of goodwill of CGU-3 and CGU-4
were fully impaired during the year ended 31 December
2021.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HlEZ —ZE -~ F+ - A=+—HIFE

19. GOODWILL (continued) 19. & (&)

CGU-5

Because of the expansion of market share which
successfully improve the performance of CGU-5, the
management of the Group considers that no impairment
loss on goodwill of CGU-5 for both years with reference
to the value in use calculation of the CGU-5 based on the
valuation report issued by JLL.

The management believes that any reasonably possible
changes in any of these assumptions would not cause
the aggregate carrying amount of CGU-5 to exceed its
aggregate recoverable amount at the end of the reporting
period.

CGU-6

Because the diversification of customer base, the
management of the Group considers that no impairment
loss on goodwill of CGU-6 for both years with reference
to the value in use calculation of the CGU-6 based on the
valuation report issued by JLL.

The management believes that any reasonably possible
changes in any of these assumptions would not cause
the aggregate carrying amount of CGU-6 to exceed its
aggregate recoverable amount at the end of the reporting
period.

ReELER-5
MRS EERR e A RS EL
Bf-50EE  AEEEEERAM
B4 [ OB & AR A -5 B AR
ERE - PR EIR I BT R
B o AL R 25 OB 2 0 55 PR (B
{5t -

BEERR  HIZERERNERNSE
MRS TS EBRERRACELE
-5 A EBEFWOADTER -

BEeELBEN-6

HREPERBERN  AREEEER

AMEFENRSEL BN -6HEM
BREER ET2EREMERT
FHNHERENREELBEMN-6
REEE -

EEEME  EAUHERINETMNE
BRI eEReELEL-6/
FRE AR ERRE N RS B R AT el
R
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 20. EBEEE
Customer Licenses and
relationship franchises Total
EFEE BRBRRIESTE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THIL THL THL
Reconciliation of carrying amount REEYE - 82T —F
- year ended 31 December 2021 TZA=+—HLFE
At the beginning of the reporting RIRE
period 65,386 6,965 72,351
Amortisation B3 (39,769) (485) (40,254)
Exchange differences fE 5 Z%H - 182 182
At the end of the reporting period RIFEHR 25,617 6,662 32,279
Reconciliation of carrying amount  BREEEE — BE-S=—F
-year ended 31 December 2022 +tZA=+—-HLEEE
At the beginning of the reporting R B4
period 25,617 6,662 32,279
Amortisation i (23,608) (132) (23,740)
Disposal HE - (6,316) (6,316)
Exchange differences fE 5 ZE - 8 8
At the end of the reporting period ~ RIR&EHEK 2,009 222 2,231
At 1 January 2022 RZZ-Z—F—HF—H
Cost DN 393,011 9,664 402,675
Accumulated amortisation BT & (367,394) (3,002) (370,396)
Net carrying amount REFE 25,617 6,662 32,279
At 31 December 2022 R-B-_-&+-A=+-—H
Cost B 7N 393,011 274 393,285
Accumulated amortisation ERe i (391,002) (52) (391,054)
Net carrying amount REEE 2,009 222 2,231
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 20. BILEE (&)

The customer relationship included in intangible assets
was arisen from business combinations in previous years.
The acquisition of the customer base has allowed the
Group to stabilise the revenue base from packaging and
printing business.

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts
of customer relationship allocated to CGU-1 and CGU-6
are as follows:

AABLEENTEFPBEHEENBESF
EHRBEAH REEPEREAS
BRE B 5 M E RIS 15 e Y as EAE -

R IR - DR RS E B
RERSELEN-6MESWEERE
m

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Printing and manufacturing of R REERTHE
paper packages and related R i@ E
materials:
CGU-1 RS EEBER 1 - 18,604
CGU-6 MEEEER-6 2,009 7,013
At 31 December Nt+t=—A=+—8 2,009 25,617

The customer relationship has finite useful lives. The
customer relationship of CGU-6 is amortised based on
the proportion of estimated revenue for each year to the
projected gross revenue from these existing customers.
The revenue and the consumption of economic benefits
of the customer relationship of CGU-6 are highly
correlated as the fair value of these customer relationship
as at acquisition date was determined based on
contracts and anticipated contracts with these
customers. The customer relationship of CGU-1 and
licenses and franchises are amortised on a straight-line
basis over 10 years and 20 years respectively.

BEFHUFABRETEATH ReEE
B -6MBEFPBEERRBETFEFHE
HZERER LB BRSNS T
N - REEEBEN-6MBRARE
FPRARLEENZEESEMEE  RE
RZERFBERBEBBHONARE
BENREEZETFNAHLESRE
HET REELBEN1NEFBER
AR FFA] B RS RIEE 106 & 20
FRIREREER o

20225 F5  HEERBR AR
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

21. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 21. A—EBE QRN ER
2022 2021
—=-= =
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FET FET
Cost of investment, unlisted WERA - JEET 289,304 289,304
Share of post-acquisition profits and 715 & B& 18 ¥4 Tl Kz
other comprehensive income, Ha 2wl
net of dividends received (kB W E) 48,050 133,619
Exchange differences fEHZR (1,859) 32,946
335,495 455,869
Details of the Group’s associate at the end of the RBEEAR  AEBENBLSAFFE
reporting period is as follows: o
Principal place of Proportion of
business and place ownership interest
Name of associate of incorporation held by the Group Paid up capital  Principal activity
TEEERUR AEEHEN
BEARER ST AR 3Lt B BEEERLA HERE FEEE
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
% %

FEEBIBERAR The PRC 31 31 RMB163,052,000  Provision for cigarette
Changde Gold Roc Printing Co., Ltd. printing package
(“Changde Gold Roc”) services

FE AR#163,052,000t  REEEZORSERSE

* English translation of company name for identification purpose * B AR BBERER

only
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

21. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued) 21. R—EBE RRNER &)

Fair Value of investments REAAEE

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the associate is a
private company and there is no quoted market price
available for the investments.

Relationship with associate

Changde Gold Roc, which operates and has an
established customer base in Hunan province, the PRC,
is a strategic partner of the Group in developing the
provision for cigarette printing package services business
in the region. The operating period of Changda Gold Roc
was 28 years starting from April 1995. The management
of Changda Gold Roc is in the process of application of
the extension of the operational duration.

Financial information of associate

Summarised financial information of the associate of the
Group is set out below, which represents amounts
shown in the associate’s financial statements prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs and adjusted by the Group for
equity accounting purposes including any differences in
accounting policies and fair value adjustments.

RZBE - —FR_FB-—F+_A8
—+t—B BERARALARREER
BEWEASTIERE -

EBE QTR
FREBRTEREEa LR EAR
EEFPAER EAKEREBENERE
HEIEENRI B R IRTE EB RIS o
FReBNKEHRE - ANEFN
ARFRB_TNF BReBEE
BIEEHRBEREEHR -

BENRNMBEER

REEB L NR WM B AR EED
T BEEREBEREVEHRE LR
00 AN BE s S k- PN d:
AEERBEESTRERE  BES
AR ERZERER AR BERE
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 E = —

[Ep——

e

21. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)

FH-A=+—HILFE

21. R— F’ﬁHﬁ“M’D\TE’H‘Em(#”

Financial information of associate (continued) BEQNTNMBER (&
2022 2021
—E-= —ET-—F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FERT FHIT
Gross amount AEER
Non-current assets EMBEE 547,398 755,342
Current assets mENEE 799,553 988,523
Current liabilities mEBE (287,076) (296,974)
Non-current liabilities EmEAE (2,775) (4,670)
Equity & 4 1,057,100 1,442,221
Reconciliation Ea):3
Gross amount of equity A& HE 4B %8 1,057,100 1,442,221
Group’s ownership interests REEHEEEED 31% 31%
Group’s share of equity REEH1HAHE 327,701 447,088
Goodwill S 7,794 8,781
Carrying amount of interests HEREMmE 335,495 455,869
Gross amount AaEE
Revenue W 1,091,427 1,244,662
Profit for the year FEm A 5,074 226,213
Other comprehensive (loss) income  FEH 2 mE (E18) Wi
for the year (112,272) 39,395
Total comprehensive (loss) income B2 (E18) 54258
for the year (107,198) 265,608
Group’s ownership interests REEHEEERERD 31% 31%
Group’s share of result REBE (S 1,573 70,126
Group’s share of other REEBSGHEMEE
comprehensive (loss) income (BE) = (34,805) 12,213
Dividends received from the RAFEBBEAR
associate during the year Uk BR Y B B 87,142 76,834
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —Z - —F+_-_A=+—HILFE

21. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued) 21.

Contingent liabilities of associate
At the end of the reporting period, there are no contingent
liabilities incurred by the Group in relation to its interest in

R—EBE QRN ER (@)
BEATDNRREE
RIS - AEEBERE N
RAMEREERABRE -

an associate.

22. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE 22 RA—EEeELENER
2022 2021
—E=-= T —F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Cost of investment, unlisted KEKAN - FEE™ - 8,825
Share of post-acquisition losses and {5 Uk & 12 &8 &
other comprehensive losses, Hi2mEERE
net of dividends received (FNBRE KBRS - (393)
Exchange differences MEH Z5 - 127
- 8,559
Details of the Group’s joint venture at the end of the RBEEAR  AEBHNELSDEFE
reporting period is as follows: o
Principal place of Proportion of
business and place ownership interest
Name of joint venture of incorporation held by the Group Paid up capital  Principal activity
TEEEHUR AEEHEN
RELERR SR A L st B RERESLA BRRE TEER
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
% %

RYTRHER RN ERAA The PRC - 49 RMB15,000,000  Developing 2D Barcodes
(TRHED) and 020 solutions
(Shenzhen Keju Internet Technology
Co., Ltd.") (Keju")

HE AR 150000007  ERERZ#HER020
BRAR
* English translation of company name for identification purpose * HN R TR AR
only
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eI ERRMHE

22. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (continued)

The Group held 49% of ownership interest of Keju.
However, under a shareholders’ agreement, the Group
had the joint control over Keju because the director
resolution would be effective only when approved by all
directors.

Pursuant to the board meeting of Keju in October 2021,
Keju had applied for deregistration during the year. The
deregistration resulted in a loss on deregistration of
approximately HK$801,000 recognised during the year.
The deregistration was completed on 31 May 2022.

Fair Value of investment

As at 31 December 2021, the joint venture is a private
company and there is no quoted market price available
for the investment.

Financial information of a joint venture

Summarised financial information of the Group’s joint
venture is set out below. which represents amounts
shown in the joint venture’s financial statements prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs and adjusted by the Group
for equity accounting purposes including any differences
in accounting policies and fair value adjustments.
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22.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

22. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (continued) 22. R—BEELENER (&)

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHBxT FET
Gross amount P
Non-current assets SERBNEE = 42
Current assets mEEE = 17,943
Current liabilities B E - (517)
Equity Rt - 17,468
Included in above: it gIEE G -
Cash and cash equivalents ReMRSFEIEE - 15,618
Reconciliation E):3
Gross amount of equity IR = 17,468
Group’s ownership interests RN B REER n/a & A 49%
Group’s share of equity and carrying 7~ £ B 515 B&#E K&
amount of interest HDEREE - 8,659
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & 2=

—Fo A=t -BLFE

22. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (continued) 22, R—BEELENER (&)

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FET
Gross amount AEEE
Revenue Wz 1,271 10,357
Profit (Loss) for the year FRERM (E8) 77 (170)
Other comprehensive income Hi R E AR E U ES
for the period/year - 467
Total comprehensive income H/ FRE2AKEHEE
for the period/year 77 297
Group’s ownership interests NEBHEBERER 49% 49%
Group’s share of result REBDEEE 38 (83)
Group’s share of other REESEHMEEIE
comprehensive income - 228
23. INVENTORIES 23. 78
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FET
Raw materials B R 72,336 90,231
Work-in-progress RS 1,649 1,172
Finished goods BUAL 28,698 30,245
102,683 121,648

A write-down on obsolete inventories of HK$6,037,000
due to the decrease of net realisable value (2021: reversal
of write-down of HK$3,409,000 due to the rise of net
realisable value) has been recognised in cost of sales
during the year.

AR B FERD  BREFEHR
6,037,000/8 70 B RN F [E 1) §5 &5 i AR
TR (=T —F  HEEFE LI
B pE R B R 3,409,000, 7T )
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

24. TRADE RECEIVABLES

24. B 5 BWRIA

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHT

Trade receivables B S REWGIE
— third parties —$£=5 345,437 353,404
— an associate — —RIBtE AT 24,808 18,079
370,245 371,483
Less: allowance for credit losses o EEEERE (6,353) (6,944)
363,892 364,539

The Group allows a credit period of 60 days to 90 days
to its trade customers. The following is an ageing analysis
of trade receivables presented based on the date of
goods delivery/invoice at the end of the reporting period,
which approximated revenue recognition dates except
for receivables arising from printing of cigarette packages
and manufacturing of laminated papers which are
recognised over time upon application of HKFRS 15.

At the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of
trade receivables (before allowance for credit losses) by
invoice date is as follows:

AEEETHESRFE60BE90HM
EEH - LTARBREHREINE
M/ BEAR(EAKEERAEE
A EREREAYBREENFES
EEREERNERNEERE R
EIE A BEWGRIERIN) 258 S EK
RIBRBRER D AT o

REs K B EKIEREER
R I (FHEIS BB BB AT
mF -

2022 2021
—Eg-= —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
0 to 90 days 0Z90H 341,279 338,432
91 to 180 days 91 £ 180 H 19,415 22,075
181 to 365 days 1812365 H 5,275 2,509
Over 365 days HBiE365H 4,276 8,467
370,245 371,483

2022 F% HEERBERAA
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HlZ2 —E -~ F+_-_A=+—HIFE

24. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 24. EZREIWFIEE)
At the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of RWEBRR - BHRKGIEFIREE
trade receivables (net of allowance for credit losses) by EiERHE) IRBI B ENERE DT ¢

due date is as follows:

2022 2021

—E=-= T —F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FHET

Neither past due nor impaired R BRI AR E 318,851 336,404

0 to 90 days 0Z90H 32,504 21,819

91 to 180 days 91%F180H 10,252 2,342

181 to 365 days 1812365 H 2,157 1,538

Over 365 days HiE365 H 128 2,436

45,041 28,135

363,892 364,539
As at 31 December 2022, included in trade receivables RZFEZZF+ZHA=+—8" Bl
were bills receivables of approximately HK$24,248,000 TR 424,248,000 L (ZFE=—4F -
(2021: HK$599,000), which are held by the Group for 599,000/ )it NE S EMWGRIA + T)
future settlement of trade receivables due from third BAASERBUHBEENE =74
parties. All bills received by the Group are with a maturity REE S EINRIE o AL EWEE FT

period of less than one year. BEBER—FARNE -

Other than bills receivables amounting to approximately % BB 424,248,000 T ( Z&F = —
HK$24,248,000 (2021: HK$599,000), the Group does F 599,000, ) W EEMEE N » K
not hold any collateral over these balances. SEW BB F AR B EAERm o
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE —ZF— —

FH-A=+t—HILFE

24,

TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Based on the Group’s assessment of historical credit
loss experience of these debtors, including all available
forward-looking information and expected settlements,
the Group does not consider default has occurred
despite the contractual payments are overdue more than
90 days due to these customers are mainly state-owned
cigarette companies with strong financial positions. The
management of the Group considers default occurred
when the debtors get into financial difficulty or the
debtors do not repay any trade receivables though the
Group has pursuit for several times, which indicate the
Group may not collect these trade receivables.

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks
and impairment of trade receivables is set out in note 39
to the consolidated financial statements.

24. EZEBWRIE#E)

REASEHZERIGRTBEREE
ERCE (BB A AATEEE R &
BHEE) R ARZEEPIR
RUBRREENEFZEERF - A
FEENNREEAHEBOR  AEE
WEMRZ L) - AEBEEEERAS
BEEBABIREVBRBRESA
I AR B 5 RUR (R E A&
BEZ BN KELEY  BRA%
B RN EE P RKGRIR -

BRAKEMAREERRRE SE
W IERAE ) B R B NMR B B I IR
FEE39 °

25. CONTRACT ASSETS 25. EHEE
2022 2021
—=E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FH&T
Printing and manufacturing of paper — E[ffl| &2 &1 4% 6 %
packages and related materials K ABRAM £ 34,007 144,796
Less: allowance for credit losses B EEEEERE (208) (227)
33,799 144,569
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZEZ—ZT - —F+_-_F=+—HILFE

25. CONTRACT ASSETS (continued)

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s right
to consideration for work completed and not billed
because the rights are conditioned on the Group’s future
performance in delivering the goods to the customers at
the reporting date on provision of printing of cigarette
packages and manufacturing of laminated papers. The
contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when
the rights become unconditional. The Group typically
transfers the contract assets to trade receivables when
the products are delivered to the customers. The
decrease in contract assets is attributable to the
decrease in the ongoing contracts as at 31 December
2022.

The consideration is payable on the earlier of the delivery
and acceptance of the finished goods by customers or
notice from the customer to cancel the order. If the
customer cancels the order, the Group is immediately
entitled to receive payment for work done to date.

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks
and impairment of contract assets is set out in note 39 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

26. OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS 26. HMEWRIE - EARERT
AND REFUNDABLE DEPOSITS RETS
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FETT
Rental and utility receivables =9 UNZE i e/ e 8,397 4,419
Other tax receivables H b fE YR TE 4,587 7,964
Prepayment for material purchase BE RM KRR A 7,143 26,619
Receivables from sales of M EERHY PR U GRIE
scrap materials 4,900 12,403
Refundable deposits to suppliers and & FHER LEFEH
customers ARIER € 1,626 2,658
Rental, utility and other deposits e AR NMEMEZS 7,176 5,809
Staff advances BT 1,475 610
Other receivables H e zg 4,335 420
39,639 60,902
Analysed as: DT
Non-current JEBNEA 5,848 3,889
Current BN EH 33,791 57,013
39,639 60,902
Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks BEANEBMRASZEERE R EMME

and impairment of other receivables, including rental and
utility receivables, receivables from sales of scrap
materials, refundable deposits to suppliers and
customers, staff advance, rental, utility and sundry
deposits and others is set out in note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements.

WHIB(REHRE KA R R HEE KK
B HEBERMNBKTIE . XN TH
ERAMEFPRIRERS BTN
e AARMEERSUAREM) RE
e MmN 39 -

HV BRI
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

27. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK

BALANCES AND CASH

The pledged bank deposits carried interests at variable
rates ranging from 0% to 1.5% (2027: 0.35% to 1.3%)
per annum. The pledged bank deposits will be released
upon the settlement of relevant bills payables.

Bank balances carried interests at market rates ranging
from 0.001% to 0.47% (2021: 0.007% to 0.35%) per

annum.

The Group’s pledged bank deposits, bank balances and
cash that were denominated in currencies other than the

functional currency of the respective
stated below:

BE

e RIBRARRR ©

0.47%

0.35% )&t 8 °

group entities are

27. CERABTER RITERR

BRI FEIILZEFFEN T 0%
B15%(ZFEZ—F :035% % 1.3%)
HE - BEHRTERERENEH

RITHERIRTIHEN XN F0.001% =
= F = — F:0001%

==

NEBEEEERNDEEEUINNE
BFENAEBERRRITHER R
TTRBMREIIRAT

2022 2021
—=E-= —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FHT

Denominated in: IATRONEHEHE
HK$ BT 83,122 162,463
Euro BT 396 -
United States Dollars (“US$”) ESUES D, 225 3,859
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

28. TRADE PAYABLES

28. EZENFIE

2022 2021

—E-= —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FHET

Trade payables — third parties BHRNHRIE —F=5H 243,182 256,211

The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables
presented based on the date of goods receipt/invoice at
the end of the reporting period:

AT RRMERRRKE " EFRAH
I8 5 BN RBRRER DT

2022 2021

—E=-= —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT FHT

0 to 30 days 0%30H 98,959 134,358
31 to 90 days 31E90H 113,218 91,763
91 to 180 days 91E180H 30,228 28,784
181 to 365 days 181 £ 365 H 478 517
Over 365 days @365 H 299 789
243,182 256,211

The credit period on purchases of goods ranges from 30
days to 180 days. The Group monitors and maintains a
level of cash and cash equivalents sufficient to ensure
that all payables are within the credit time frame.

As at 31 December 2022, bills payables amounting to
HK$54,723,000 (2021: HK$22,408,000) were transferred
to suppliers for settling trade payables.

BEEMHNEEHNTI0HE180H -
AEEERRERERRELAREE
BIHAB - AERABEMNFTEREE
HINSZAT ©

RZEBE-_—_F+-_A=+—8 ' A%
54,723,000 L( = £ = — #F:
22,408,0008 ) W EN RIED BET
HEMNEEE S ENRE -

2022FF# HEEIRBRAF]

177



Notes to the consolidated financial statements
e IR ERER IR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZEZ—ZT - —F+_-_F=+—HILFE

29. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS HiEARERETER
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
BiiaE FHET FAT

Construction payables FEREREETNIR 11,658 18,197

Contract liabilities aHAaE (@) 137 2,615

Deposits received from suppliers 2 Y fERE T4 139 136

Government grants BB & 33 1,833 1,990

Loan payable FERTE R (b) 11,665 -

Operating expenses payables  JEfMAC&ST RETE R

and accruals 9,646 6,606

Other tax payables Ha e HiE 25,083 29,129

Salary payable N e 17,102 18,521

Sub-contracting fee payable ENSBER (€ 31,213 31,131

Others Hith 11,860 25,133

120,336 133,458

Notes: Pt -

(@  The movements (excluding those arising from increases and (@ RAFE  BEUBRE ;flj £155
decreases both occurred within the same year) of contract ARBEFENNEHREZE (TR
liabilities from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15 during R [R) — 4 2 N EE £ W) 158 0 B 2
the year are as follows: )T

2022 2021
—E-= T
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FAT
At the beginning of the reporting period &) 2,615 1,751
Recognised as revenue BB (2,615) (1,751
Receipt of advances I ER # 5Kk 137 2,615
At the end of the reporting period RIREHIR 137 2,615
At the end of the reporting period, none of the contract liabilities RBEHR BMEAHABEHRN12
were expected to be settled after 12 months. B A% &S -

(o) As at 31 December 2022, the Group has loan payable of ) RZZEZ=_F+-A=1+—H £A5H
HK$11,665,000 (20217: n/a) due to a third party which is BIEME =5 K E 311,665,000 7T
unsecured, interest bearing at 4.2% per annum (2021: n/a) and (ZZF=——%F: THEA) - EZ‘S R
repayable within 1 year. W RERNEL2% (ZFZ—F : T

F)EHE - WER—FANEE -

©)  The credit period on sub-contracting fee payable ranges from 60 © EN>BEERHNEEHNT60HZEWD

days to 90 days. Ho
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30. LEASE LIABILITIES

31.

30. HEEE

Commitments and present value of lease liabilities: MERERERRE
Present value Present value
Minimum  of minimum Minimum  of minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments
BE BEHE & RIEME
HEMRK NREE MENT NHBE
2022 2022 2021 2021
—EooF —E--o&  —E-—H& 2 —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT THERT THET FHET
Amounts payable: FERIFUR
Within one year —FR - - 342 333
In the second to fifth F-_ERF
years inclusive (BREEEMRF) - - - -
- - 342 333
Less: future finance charges  J : ARBARY - - C) -
Total lease liabilities MEaRERE - - 333 333

As at 31 December 2021, the weighted average discount

rate applied at 4.75% per annum.

AMOUNT DUE TO A NON-CONTROLLING

INTEREST OF A SUBSIDIARY

The amount due is unsecured, interest-free and

repayable on demand.

31.

R-B-_—F+-R=+—0H" i

FHMBRRRETFAL75%

/S|

BNFARERR  RERARENR

Bi& -

2022FF# HEEIRBRAF]
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32. BANK BORROWINGS

—Fo A=t -BLFE

32. SRITBE

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET TAT

Bank borrowings comprise: RITEERRE
— Secured — FEH 77,667 11,813
— Unsecured — BIKH 188,966 330,615
266,633 342,428
At the end of the reporting period, bank borrowings with REBEHIR - RITEEMBREIED

a clause in their terms that gives the banks an overriding
right to demand for repayment are classified as current
liabilities even though the directors do not expect that the

ERIIE

banks would exercise their right to demand repayment. SR o

The maturity terms of the bank borrowings based on
repayment schedule pursuant to the loan facility letters
(ignoring the effect of any repayment on demand clause)

are as follows:

RE BB T

y=

RIETORE) MER

EEERDES TIRITEE M
BnBEARBEE HEES
TIEHIRIT S 176 2 HE RN R TR

REBEEFREE i (BREMIRERE
R - RITHE

2022 2021
—E_-_C T —F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FH&T
Carrying amount repayable based on #RiE¥ETF & 7 A HAZERN

scheduled repayment dates: AT EEENIREE -
Within one year —FR 220,033 342,428
In the second year FF 31,067 -
In the third to fifth years inclusive F=ZNF(BEEEMF) 15,533 -
266,633 342,428
Fixed-rate borrowings EEEE 188,966 342,428
Floating-rate borrowings ZEEE 77,667 -
266,633 342,428
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32. BANK BORROWINGS (continued) 32. RITEE#HE)
At the end of the reporting period, the ranges of effective
interest rates (which are also equal to contracted interest
rates) on the Group’s bank borrowings are as follows:

RBERR - AEERITEENER
MR (TFHEERFTOFE)GELAT

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
Per annum Per annum
F (SEaS
Fixed-rate borrowings EEEE 3.50% — 3.85% 3.85% — 4.20%
Floating-rate borrowings FEEE HIBOR plus 1.65%
BEARRITEZE n/a
FE2101.65% iE A
All bank borrowings are denominated in the functional P E?Eﬁ{%%l:,(ﬁ e BNk
currency of the relevant group entities. BHEME -
33. GOVERNMENT GRANTS 33. BNWEIS
2022 2021
—g-= —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Arising from government grants REBTHB T
Current (included in other B (G AE D e K18
payables and accruals) MEFTER) 1,833 1,990
Non-current JERED 22,058 25,931
23,891 27,921

The government subsidies received related to the
acquisition of property, plant and equipment in the PRC.
The amount has been treated as deferred income and
amortised to income over the estimated useful lives of the
related assets on a systematic basis. During the year,
deferred income of HK$1,882,000 (2021: HK$3,325,000)
was recognised as other income in profit or loss. N

EWBAHE S BHEPBEME - K
ERBEER - ZFIEERABETIR
ARRBBEENEFAIERSF
HANBEHZHBEHEZWRA - FA -
FEIEWAA,882,0008 L (= F=—14F :
3,325,000% 7T ) PA 18 % B 58 7 FL A IR
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34. DEFERRED TAXATION 34. EIERIIE
The following is the components of deferred tax (assets) INTARRFEREEC BRAEL
liabilities recognised by the Group and movements HIE(BE) AEHEKITH R EZF -

thereon during the year.

Undistributable Timing  Inventories
Intangible profits of difference  provisions Accelerated
assetsand  subsidiaries Government ECL onrevenue  and salary tax
buildings and associate grants provision  recognition payable depreciation Tax loss Total
HWEAAR
EVEE BELAN BHGE UEEAN HFEBAER mE
KEF AAWER BABHE  EERE 0 BHEE  EAEe  HERE  HEER @3t

HKS000  HKS000 ~ HK000  HKS'0O0  HK000  HK®000  HKBOOD  HKE000  HK$'000
AT ThL ThT TAL ThL AL ThL AL ThL

At 1 January 2021 i

-A-H 10,472 27,684 (4,367) (1,447) 4,991 (1,180) 5,390 - 41,543

(Credit) Charge to RER GEA) Mk
profit or loss (6,027) 8,929 294 363 283 613 4,870 - 9,325
Utiised upon payment 1 ZiE(E - 8711) - - - - - - 8711)
Exchange differences ERER - 762 (115) (39) 140 (9 217 - 948

At 31 December 2021 and R =—F

1 January 2022 +-A=1+-H
RZE-ZF
-A-A 4445 28,664 (4,189) {1,117) 5414 (590) 10477 - 43105
(Credit) Charge to RB&GIA) R
profit or loss (3,500) 11,073 530 (152) (3,959) (1,138) 13,330 (9,292) 6,892
Utiised upon payment 15 E{E - (5,019) - - - - - - (5,019)
Exchange differences ~ ERZEH - (2413) 316 92 (323) 74 (1,171) 242 (3,183)
At31December2022 R=-F-=f
+ZB=t-H 945 32,305 (3,342) (1,177) 1,132 (1,654) 22,636 (9,050) 41,795
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34. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 34. EZEBIE (&)
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated MEEeMBRAKXRZIME - & TE
statement of financial position, certain deferred tax assets ERMEEERBBEREEEE - ATA
and liabilities have been offset. The following is the T IERE T 5 ELETIBAE SR AT ¢

analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial
reporting purposes:

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FH&T
Deferred tax assets RIETRIAE B (15,223) (5,895)
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEEE 57,018 49,000
41,795 43,105
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused R|EHR - AEBHBAREHRIEE
tax losses of approximately HK$95,819,000 (2021: B #)95819,000 (= F = —4F :
HK$10,503,000) available for offset against future profits. 10,603,000 7T ) A A5 85 R 28 ) o
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of B R R &M RIREEEMN I
HK$41,914,000 (2021: HK$10,503,000) due to the 541,914,000 T ( = & = — F ¢
unpredictability of future profit streams. 10,503,000 7T) BEREIE BRI B E -

2022FF# HEEIRBRAF]
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34. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 34. EERIE (&)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has the RBEMR - NREEFUTIRRF
following unrecognised tax losses arising in the PRC that HARERMIBEE  TRNEBHEELA
can be offset against future taxation profits of the MEEBFERFTREZSFHMER
subsidiaries for a maximum of 5 years from the year in AR KRB IR B A -

which the tax loss was incurred:

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Year of expiry BHEE
2023 —E-=% - _
2024 —EUF 1,416 2,442
2025 —E-RF 174 174
2026 —ERF 14,207 7,887
2027 —ET-tEF 26,117 -
41,914 10,503
35. SHARE CAPITAL 35. B4
2022 2021
—E-CfF —E-F
Number Number
of shares HK$'000 of shares HK$'000
ROHA TET RiNEE TET
Ordinary shares of SAE(E0.00575 LM
HK$0.005 each Lk
Authorised: ETE
At the beginning and the end of 3% B39 R &R
the reporting period 10,000,000,000 50,000 10,000,000,000 50,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRER -
At the beginning and the end of FA3R& H14) [ 3R & H K
the reporting period 1,567,884,634 7,839 1,567,884,634 7,839
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36. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 36. gi&EZEBfIELX B ENHER
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities TREFVAEEGSREESSFAELS
arising from financing activities, including both cash and EHNES pERSNIERESEH -
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing e EEELCEBEAIRE R KK
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future ReEMHEAEENGERERER
cash flows will be classified in the Group’s consolidated DEARETHFELRSRMEE -
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing
activities.
Interest
Amount due payable
toanon- (included in
controlling other
interest of Bank Dividend Lease payables and
asubsidiary  borrowings payables liabilities accruals) Total
B —F ERFE
HWEAR (Gt AHE A
FERER EARER
B RITEE ERRE HERE  EHEAR) @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL THEL THAL TAT TEL TEL

At 1 January 2021 RZE-—&
—A—H 2,484 411,206 - 1,293 553 415,536
Finance costs BERKK - - - 38 14,378 14,416
Dividends declared EERRE - - 156,789 - - 156,789
Financing cash flows (note) BY&H 4k (FfH3) - (78,869) (156,789) (1,010) (14,768) (251,430)
Exchange differences BEHEE 68 10,085 - 12 10 10,175
At 31 December 2021 and HM=Z=—F+-A
1 January 2022 =t-Bk
“Z--"F#-F—H 2,552 342,428 - 333 173 345,486
Early termination RRE&LE - - - (333) - (333)
Finance costs BB - - - - 10,199 10,199
Dividends declared EERRE 1,933 - - - - 1,933
Financing cash flows (note) EE& 3R & 7 (FisE) - (52,238) - - (10,372) (62,610)
Exchange differences ERER (252) (23,557) - - - (23,809)
At 31 December 2022 St
+=BA=+-H 4,233 266,633 - - - 270,866
Note: The cash flows represent (i) the proceeds from and (repayment BiaE - Remis () RITERENMSRER GER)
of) bank borrowings and interest expenses; (i) payment of RFERS : (i) RARE  R(i)iEEEE
dividends; and (jii) repayments of lease liabilities. B
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37.

38.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLAN

The Group participants a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The
assets of the scheme are held separately from those of
the Group, in funds under control of a trustee. The Group
contributes lower of 5% of relevant payroll costs or
HK$1,500 per person to the Scheme, which is matched
by employees.

The employees of the Group in the PRC are members of
state-managed retirement benefit scheme operated by
the PRC government. The Company’s subsidiaries are
required to contribute a certain percentage of payroll to
the retirement benefit schemes to fund the benefits. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the scheme
is to make the required contributions under the scheme.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss of
HK$7,006,000 (2021: HK$11,106,000) represents
contributions paid or payable to these plans by the Group
at rates specified in the rules of the plans.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to stakeholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt,
which includes amount due to due to a non-controlling
interest of a subsidiary and bank borrowings, net of
structured deposits, pledged bank deposits and bank
balances and cash and equity attributable to owners of
the Company, comprising issued share capital and
reserves.

The Group monitors capital using gearing ratio which is
calculated by dividing the total bank borrowings by the
total equity and adjusted gearing ratio which is calculated
by dividing the net debt by equity attributable to owners
of the Company respectively.

LITU HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

37.

38.

EBARBERGE
AEEABEMBAEREEBZMNA
FIMEABEE - FrEIEERAEE
BESHAERE THEISATENE
B AEEMEEREAEH
FEXATHBIB5% 51,5008 0 &
BEELASHER -

AEERTENEE ST EBANE
REEEMREFGFTEIMKE - KNAF]
MEBAREARRFEETAOLER
KEME URBMRERES - K
SEYMAAENETERRRES
TR PR K -

ERB R R A48 F 52 7,006,000 4 7T
(ZZF = — 4 :11,106,000/% 7T ) ¥5
NEEIRET B RET AR L = M L&
ETEIEEL s ZBIE R MR 3R o

BERE R EE

AEBEBEERN  UERAEEH
FREANUFELS  YEBELER
DEREHRAEREBEET K& KE
e BEFUR  REBREERE
BT -

AEBNEARARBRBESFR(BE
FEA — Y B8 & BSR4 A i s SRR [
RITEE HREBLEER &R
RITERRRITEBR IR E) RARF]
HAE ARG (R ERRBREHITERA
K i) -

AEBE D FIRAEEREL T (RIRTT
EEEBRABEDE) MEARE
ERER(REEFERARABESR
ANEBIEESFTH ) RETREAR »
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38. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 38.
The gearing ratios and adjusted gearing ratios as at the
end of the reporting period were as follows:

EXEBERE)
RBEPR BEERBLXLERE
BEAELENT

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Assets BE
Structured deposits EBETR 2,629 -
Pledged bank deposits EEFIRITIE K 104,512 11,488
Bank balances and cash RITEHRER® 313,292 440,350
420,433 451,838
Liabilities =Fi
Loan payable (included in other e ER (G AE b FELS
payables and accruals) TIENEGTER) 11,665 -
Amount due to a non-controlling St — KT B AR
interest of a subsidiary JEPR AR e IR 4,233 2,552
Bank borrowings RITEE 266,633 342,428
282,531 344,980
Equity xS
Equity attributable to owners of the ~ ZRA R A AFE(LHER
Company 2,449,887 2,646,887
Non-controlling interests SRR A 25,250 26,693
2,475,137 2,673,580
Net cash REFE (137,902) (106,858)
Gearing ratio BEAMGLER (5.6)% (4.0)%

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a regular basis. As part of this review, the directors of
the Company consider the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance
its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of new
debt or the redemption of existing debt.

ARAREZEHEREARE - 1ER
WEZOH D ARREFEEE
BARA R BEERIEAEREHER -
AEBRBREEENER  BEXN
BB BEITHRA RBITHES AR
CIER A ERK F LR EANRE -
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 39. €MTH

Categories of financial instruments SEIAENER
2022 2021
—Eg-= T —F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
At the end of the reporting period RIREHIR
Financial assets ctRMEE
Financial assets at FVPL BEAREBES ABGE
WeRlEE 2,629 -
Amortised cost BHRK AR 806,025 842,696
808,654 842,696
Financial liabilities SEasE
Amortised cost BESHAK AR 590,229 682,394

Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
receivables, other receivables, pledged bank deposits,
bank balances and cash, trade payables, other payables,
amount due to a non-controlling interest of a subsidiary
and bank borrowings. Details of the financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments include market risk
(currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks
are set out below. The management of the Group
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 39. €T A %)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Market risks

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to currency risk
and interest rate risk. Market risk exposures are further
measured by sensitivity analysis. Details of each type of
market risks are described as follows:

Currency risk

The functional currency of the Group’s principal
subsidiaries is RMB. While most of the Group’s
operations are transacted in the functional currency of
the respective group entities, the Group undertakes
certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies.
The Group currently does not have hedging policy in
respect of the foreign currency risk. However, the
management closely monitors foreign exchange exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities denominated in a currency other than
the functional currency of the entity at the end of the
reporting date are as follows:

BRRREERERBEK(E)

TS AR
AEENEHEHETIEAZEERR
R R @\ Ky o 5 A A — 2 A
FREDNFE - KEWIH AR
BET

B ER
AEETZMBRARNEEERA
RE - ARAKERIBOXH AR E
BERBNNEERETRS  A&H
TETETAINEFENRZ S - A&
= B B30 8 A BASINE R ) $REOR -
A BEREEERIMNERE - I
R BB E B ERIMNERR -

MRREBEGERE - REBWIEUE
B EEtENSREELRSRE
BEERAEDT -

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Assets BE
HK$ BT 84,027 162,744
Us$ ETT 2,245 9,879
Liabilities aE
HKS$ T 1,484 3,485
us$ E7T 764 3,615
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Market risks (continued)

Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group’s entities are mainly exposed to the currency
of HK$ and USS$.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 8%
(2021: 3%) increase and decrease in the RMB against
the relevant foreign currencies, respectively. 8% (2021
3%) sensitivity rate represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary
items and adjusts their translation at the end of the
reporting period for a 8% (2027: 3%) change in foreign
currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes bank
balances, receivables or payables and bank borrowings
denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency. A positive number below indicates an increase
in post-tax profit where RMB strengthens against the
relevant foreign currencies. For a 8% (2027: 3%)
weakening of RMB against the relevant foreign
currencies, there would be an equal and opposite impact
on the profit.

30. €@ T A&

BRREREEEERBE(E)

miSAR (&)

BxmE (&)

BREEDH

ZN- e EI’J*ESIKEKX/%E&% =1
LyEll s

TRAVNARB L BB E T ERE
B8% (—F = —4F :3%)MNIBERT -
REBMOBREDNNT - GURELLE8%
(ZF=—F : 3%) KREEBHINE
[ERTTRE B B A BTG - BRED
FEBRBEAINEHENREEEE R
B YRHmEMRIL8WN(—F——F
3%) IMNEE R SEFBELE - HUk
EDMBRERITESR - BPGARE
MRIBARIRITEE UAZHEEE T IASN
MEEHE) - THEBRRTARERL
HESNETHER - BRI RS N & 1F
e i AR X ARREIMNERZE8% (=

Z—%F:3%) BHEENESFHEA
REE -

Profit for the year
FERA

2022 2021
—E-= T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
HK$ BT 326 3,989
Us$ ETT 89 157

Note: This is mainly attributable to the net exposure to outstanding
bank balances, receivables, payables and bank borrowings in
HK$ and US$ at the end of the reporting period.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 39. ERIT R (&)
Market risks (continued) miGEkE (&)
Interest rate risk FI| 2 J7

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to variable-rate pledged bank deposits and bank
balances and floating-rate borrowings. The Group
currently does not have interest rate risk hedging policy.
However, the management monitors interest rate
exposures and will consider hedging significant interest
rate risk should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rate risk on floating-
rate borrowings. The sensitivity analysis is prepared
assuming the floating-rate borrowings outstanding at the
end of the reporting period were outstanding for the
whole period. No sensitivity analysis is provided on
variable-rate pledged bank deposits and bank balances
as the management considers that the interest rate
fluctuation on variable-rate pledged bank deposits and
bank balances is minimal and the impact from the
exposure to interest rate risk sensitivity is considered
insignificant.

As at 31 December 2022, if interest rates had been 400
basis points higher or lower and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s profit before tax would be
decreased or increased by approximately HK$2,594,000
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s
counterparties default on their contractual obligations
resulting in financial losses to the Group. The Group’s
credit risk exposures are primarily attributable to trade
receivables, contract assets, other receivables, pledged
bank deposits and bank balances. The Group does not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover
its credit risks associated with its financial assets, except
that the credit risks associated with certain trade
receivables are backed by bills issued by reputable
financial institutions.

The Group performed impairment assessment for
financial assets and contract assets under ECL model.
Information about the Group’s credit risk management,
maximum credit risk exposures and the related
impairment assessment, if applicable, are summarised as
below:

$%Eﬁ# BB IRITE R RTT
EHRUKZBEERASBEERENE
[E B o NS B A A ) 2K & b ¥ 0
ﬁﬁ AT B IR B BRI N 2 A R
WEERBRERLEIRFERTEERR

BUREDT

T BURE DT TIREE BB BT
EHONERBMEBEE - RS
BERNRERARKERN T EERR
BEREREEMRE BREEE
REZEEERBETERRIFEITEHS
B I ZOR EE G ) 2R [ B B R Y
FEERR/TEXN  WAERZED
ﬂi?ﬁfETTT7 R IRITAE BR IR (R BURE
DT ©
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R FFe 400 MEESBFTA EA
BHREFEITE AAEBEEE_Z
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZEZ—ZT - —F+_-_F=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 39. €M T A#)

Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets arising from
contracts with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk on trade receivables
and contract assets, the management of the Group has
delegated a team responsible for determination of credit
limit, credit approval, and makes periodic collective
assessments as well as individual assessment on the
recoverability of receivables based on historical
settlement records, reasons for extended repayment
period and past experience. The Group only accepts bills
issued or guaranteed by reputable PRC banks if trade
receivables are settled by bills and therefore the
management of the Group considers the credit risk
arising from the endorsed or discounted bills is
insignificant. In this regard, the directors of the Company
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 20% (2021:
22%) and 53% (2021: 51%) of the total trade receivables
which are due from the Group’s largest customer and the
five largest customers respectively within the printing and
manufacturing of cigarettes packages and related
materials segment.

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment
under ECL model on the trade receivables and contract
assets individually or collectively. Except for debtors with
internal credit ratings graded as P4, P5 and P6, which
are assessed for impairment individually, the remaining
trade receivables and contract assets are grouped based
on shared credit risk characteristics by reference to
repayment histories for recurring customers and current
past due exposure for the new customers.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 39. €T A %)

Credit risk (continued)
Other receivables/pledged bank deposits/bank balances

In order to minimise the credit risk on other receivables,
the management of the Group makes periodic individual
assessments on the recoverability of receivables based
on historical settlement records, past experience and
forward-looking information. The Group performs
impairment assessment under ECL model on other
receivables individually.

The credit risk on pledged bank deposits and bank
balances are limited because the counterparties are
banks with high credit ratings assigned by PRC credit
rating agencies or state-owned banks located in the
PRC.

In determining the ECL for pledged bank deposits and
bank balances, the management of the Group has taken
into account the estimated default loss rates in reference
to the international credit rating agency and forward-
looking information, as appropriate. There had been no
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
The management of the Group has estimated the ECL
based on the carrying amounts of pledged bank deposits
and bank balances at the end of the reporting period
multiplying the estimated default loss rates. The Group
has considered the consistently low historical default rate
and concluded that credit risk inherent in the Group’s
outstanding pledged bank deposits and bank balances is
insignificant.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 68% (2021:
64%) of the total pledged bank deposits and bank
balances was due from the three largest banks.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

39. £@T R (&)
HEEMETEAEREE (&)

(continued)

Credit risk (continued) SRR (E)

Other receivables/pledged bank deposits/bank balances A Y TE B R IRTT 735 iR
(continued) =13 C D)

REE AR R D B EH B
R - MIEHR - REBELI9% (=
F——4F 1 99%) & 5 K H b UK
HREBATBEREEE XN T

The Group is also exposed to the concentration on
geographic segment of the PRC. At the end of the
reporting period, approximately 99% (2027: 99%) of the
Group’s trade and other receivables are arising from

counterparties whose principal place of operations is the

PRC.

The Group’s internal credit risk grading comprises the
following categories:

Internal credit

7\70

AEENNFEERBFREIEAT
Bl -

Trade receivables/

rating Description contract assets

RS EFTR it BESRWRIE SHNEE

P1 The counterparty has a low risk of default, Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired
refers to state-owned cigarette companies
and receivables backed by bank bills

P1 HFEFNBEDRREE EREEFELAR >HITEAEEEE — RER
HRITRAR SRR R U IR EERE

P2 Debtor frequently repays within due dates and  Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired
has no past due amounts or the length of
customer relationship is more than three
years with no default history

P2 EHALBEINHERNEE  YERAHHKIE - 2HEHREEEE — RHR
IEFHARRBA=-FAETEED EERE

P3 Debtor frequently repays after due dates and  Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired
has past due amounts

P3 BEBALSEIHRERERT 8 HRE >HITEMEEEE — RER

LITU HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 39.
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk (continued)
Other receivables/pledged bank deposits/bank balances
(continued)

Internal credit
rating Description
REBIE EFTAR #ut

£RTA#)
MEEMETEAEREE (&)

FERE(E)
H it JE W% TE, B IR TR
TTAERR (HE)

Trade receivables/
contract assets
BEEWRE GHNEE

P4 Debtor with significant outstanding past due
balances which expects to be fully settled
within one year

P4 BN —FRABRBENERARSERH
RBEREVEBA
P5 Debtor with significant outstanding past due

balances which settles from time to time and
expect to be fully settled within two years

P5 TREE WA EABBENER
RFEBHERNESLA

P6 There is evidence indicating the asset is
credit-impaired

P6 FEBBRTEELREERE

pP7 There is evidence indicating that the debtor is

in severe financial difficulty and the Group
has no realistic prospect of recovery

P7 BRBRTEBABIEENBNE -
1 A8 5= B R R 22 BT Uk B R R

Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired

THEHEEEE — RHR
EERE

Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired

THEHEEEE — RHR
EERE

Lifetime ECL - credit-impaired

EMEMEEER — B8
EERE

Amount is written off

SRR S

2022FF# HEEIRBRAF]
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZEZ—ZT - —F+_-_F=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Other receivables/pledged bank deposits/bank balances
(continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the
Group’s trade receivables, contract assets, other
receivables, pledged bank deposits and bank balances
which are subject to ECL assessment:

. ERIAE)
AR SEEERKE (&)

FERR(E)

H it JE W KB, E I IRTT AR
TT#EER ()
TRAVAETRBEEEBENGN
AEEEZEEKE  GHEE - H
b EUCRIR » B R IRITF R ERTT
EEANEERR -

Financial assets at External Internal
amortised cost and credit credit
contract assets rating rating 12-month or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
RBERATIGENEREE I ]
RENEE FEFR GFEFR 12@A% 2HEHEEFE MREAE
2022 2021
—E--F 2o
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
it ot THET FET
Trade receivables (note a) 24 n/a P1 Lifetime ECL (not-credit-impaired) 217,692 182,525
2 5 RE (it a) TEm PHENEEEE(REREERE)
p2 Lifetime ECL (not-credit-impaired) 109,399 172,161
PHENEEEE(RUREERAE)
P3 Lifetime ECL (not-credit-impaired) 39,358 8,616
2 HEREREHR(REREERAMA)
P4 Lifetime ECL (not-credit-impaired) - -
2HEREEHE(REREERE)
P5 Lifetime ECL (not-credit-impaired) 11 6,138
THRAEEEE(REBEERE)
P6 Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 3,785 2,143
FHRBEESE(LREEHNE)
370,245 371,483
Contract assets (note a) 25 n/a P1 Lifetime ECL (not-credit-impaired) 28,398 127,997
AHERE (Mita) TEA PHENEEEE(REREERE)
P2 Lifetime ECL (not-credit-impaired) 5,609 16,224
2HENEEEE(RUREERAAE)
P3 Lifetime ECL (not-credit-impaired) - 575
2HEREREHR(REREERE)
34,007 144,796
Other receivables 26 n/a (note b) 12-month ECL 28,128 26,587
H i I EIE ek (Mzb)  12@ABHEERE
Pledged bank deposits 27 AAA* n/a 12-month ECL 104,512 11,488
BHEARITER TEM 12{E AEEEEER
Bank balances 27 AAA* n/a 12-month ECL 312,929 440,068
RITHEER TEH 12EREHEERE

*

The rating is originated from the PRC credit rating agencies.

LITU HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Other receivables/pledged bank deposits/bank balances

(continued)
Notes:

(@) For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group has applied
the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss
allowance at lifetime ECL.

(b) For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the Group
uses past due information to assess whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition. At the end of the
reporting period, these amounts are not past due or they have
no fixed repayment terms (2021: nil).

Collective assessment — internal credit rating

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the
Group applies internal credit rating for its customers. The
following table provides information about the exposure
to credit risk for trade receivables and contract assets
which are assessed based on collective assessment as
at 31 December 2022 within lifetime ECL (not credit-
impaired). At the end of the reporting period, debtors with
significant outstanding and long aged balances or credit-
impaired with gross carrying amounts of HK$3,796,000
(2021: HK$8,281,000) for trade receivables were
assessed individually.

39.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

o oY),
HHERERERBREE (A)

FERR (&)

H it JE Wk TE, B IR TR
TTREER ()

BT -

@ HEZEBEFEARAGHEENS @ ~A%EH
ERERAEEMHRELENEIRNBLT
ARt EEHEREEERNEERE

) FAMEERBREERES  AEEFN R
HANTEEERRETERBARES
BB - RMERR - ZESBEREY
SEEEESR(—FE-—F ) -

EReFTE — AEE BAFAR
EALAEBEEERKREEEP—BH -
AEBEHEXFERASEETR -
TR IEZNEHBEBHEEBB(GRY
REERBE) ABE_E-__F+=A4
—t+—HMEBRTEMTHESEK
HEREGHNEEFERBRNER - ¥
HRERARSREZHEBFIARERE
£3,796,0008 (= T = — F:
8,281,0008) ABEERKBERE
R REERENEB A
HEITERBIFEE o
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eI ERRMHE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Collective assessment — internal credit rating (continued)

39.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

EWMTAM®)
MR EE R BREK ()

FERE(E)
BREVIE — NEBEEFFAR (B)

Gross carrying amount

REAE
Average loss rate Trade receivables Contract assets

Internal creditrating ~ ABEETR THYEEER B 5 EWFE EHEE

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
—ECDCof ZE--F ZE-CF ZE--F ZE-C-FE T

% % HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
TER TET TER TER
P1 P1 0.26 0.01 217,692 182,525 28,398 127,997
P2 P2 1.26 1.19 109,399 172,161 5,609 16,224
P3 P3 2.67 3.16 39,358 8,516 - 575
366,449 363,202 34,007 144,796

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on
historical settlement records, internal credit rating, the
external credit rating data and are adjusted for forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure relevant information about specific debtors is
updated. The contract assets have substantially the same
risk characteristics as the trade receivables for the same
type of contracts. The Group has therefore concluded
that the loss rates for trade receivables are a reasonable
approximation of the loss rates for contract assets.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 39. €T A %)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Collective assessment — internal credit rating (continued)
During the year, the Group recorded net reversal on loss
allowance of HK$46,000 (2021: HK$2,515,000) for trade
receivables and net loss allowance of HK$nil (20217:
HK$36,000) for contract assets, based on the
assessment by individually or collectively for those credit-
impaired debtors or those debtors with significant
outstanding and long aged balances.

The Group assessed the loss allowances for other
receivables, pledged bank deposits and bank balances
on 12-month ECL basis. The management of the Group
considers the pledged bank deposits and bank balances
that are deposited with the financial institutions with high
credit rating to be low credit risk financial assets. The
management of the Group considers pledged bank
deposits and bank balances are short-term in nature and
the probability of default is negligible on the basis of high-
credit-rating issuers, and accordingly, loss allowance was
considered as insignificant.

BRRREERERBEK(E)

EERE (&)

EEREETE — NESIEEAFAR (&)
RAFE  AEERBEHZELHAE
BEREMNEBASZSEEARER
RRIERESHROEBEAETERSE
BT 2RI E S ERKFIESSE
1B B 5 [0 7 F 58 46,0008 T (—F = —
F :2,615,000/8 L) kb & KV B ERT
REEBRHIFESEL(ZFE=-—F:
36,000&7T) °

AREE L1218 AR E B BREEF
mEM BN IR - DEPRITERLK
RITTERNBEREE - A5EEERE
R FHRREEFAES NS/
BB ERRITERLIRITEREE
FEEBRNEREE AKBEEIRE
RADBMBITERRIRITERER
HHE  MESEENRBETANE
®ERBAFEEOBE - REBEE
BRI E -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HlZ2 —E -~ F+_-_A=+—HIFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 30. TR %)
Financial risk management objectives and policies REREEEERBE(E)
(continued)
Credit risk (continued) SRR (E)
Collective assessment — internal credit rating (continued) ERETH — NESEETAR (&)
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL Ti‘%mﬁa‘\@?}%?ﬂlﬁﬁ/ﬁﬁdﬂf’f%JEH&%'K
that has been recognised for trade receivables under the BEREHEREEEENE

simplified approach.

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

(not credit- (credit—
impaired) impaired) Total

2 HTEH 2 HITEHR

FEFE FEBE

(RHER (3R
=ERE) =ERE) et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FH&T FAT FHET
At 1 January 2021 R-ZE-—F—H—H 3,172 6,071 9,243
Increase (Decrease) in BERIMCR D) F58
allowance, net 1,519 (4,034) (2,515)
Exchange differences MEH ZRE 110 106 216
At 31 December 2021 and RIEZ—F
1 January 2022 +-A=+—H8K
—_B-__¥—H—H 4,801 2,143 6,944
(Decrease) Increase in s Cfl) 18 InFEgE
allowance, net (1,856) 1,810 (46)
Exchange differences VE N =% (377) (168) (545)
At 31 December 2022 R-B-—F
+=ZA=+—H 2,568 3,785 6,353
The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is EAEHEREBSARRBENHAE
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial B R mERR YO A gt (WEBSABE
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, B EETRERR)  AEBEMHEE
e.g. when the debtor has been placed under liquidation SREWGRIE - REBE D EHERAKR
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. The Group ERITENAURE 4 K SR - BEEE
has taken legal action against the debtors to recover the HE S REBRIER BBETTE) -

amount due. None of the trade receivables that have
been written off is subject to enforcement activities.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 30. eRT R %)
Financial risk management objectives and policies BHRREEBEERBER (&)
(continued)
Credit risk (continued) EERK(Z)
Collective assessment — internal credit rating (continued) ERETE — NEEEFR(E)
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL TRETREBEBETEREGHNEER
that has been recognised for contract assets under the REMEHEEBENES -

simplified approach.

Lifetime ECL

(not credit-

impaired)

2 HITEHR

EEEE

(RHEH

=8RE)

HK$'000

FH&T

At 1 January 2021 R-—ZE-—F—H—H 184
Increase in allowance, net BRI ISR 36
Exchange differences bE =R 7
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 AT -—F+-_A=+—HK 227

—®E-=—f-F—A

Exchange differences PEH =% (19)
At 31 December 2022 R-B-—_+=-H=+-—H 208
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 &2 =T = —F+—

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

A=t—HIL%E

39. £@T R (&)

Financial risk management objectives and policies REREEEERBE(E)
(continued)

Credit risk (continued) SRR (E)

The following table shows the movement in 12-month TR E M E YR IERE R 12 18 A
ECL that has been recognised for other receivables. TEHEEEENEE -

12-month ECL

(not credit-
impaired)
12{@ A A
FEEEE
(RHER
FEERE)
HK$’000
FHT
At 1 January 2021 R-—E-_—%F—H—H 269
Decrease in allowance, net BER R (7)
Exchange differences fEH ZEEE 6
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 @ H_-_Z_-—F+_A=+—HAK 268
—EB-—"%—-HA—H
Decrease in allowance, net BiERAFRE (28)
Exchange differences PE 2= 58 (21)
At 31 December 2022 R-B-_—_f+=-HA=+-—H 219
Liquidity risk REE SRR
In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group Mf@;‘ﬁ@)%‘éﬂﬁﬁﬁ% KREEF@E
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash TEETEES RIS EBEEE EF
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to EF:IEF— %}EEE’M@F LA B AN &
finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of ENLEIRHEES Y RERSNEN
fluctuations in cash flows. The management monitors the B E - TEEeEEETEEN
utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance BAIEN  WHERETFENLE o
with loan covenants.
The Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant NEBFKBIETEEATERSHES
source of liquidity. At the end of the reporting period, R - REEBR  AEEBTREDN
the Group has available unutilised bank borrowings HABABABEBITEERELD A
facilities of approximately HK$362,049,000 (2021: 362,049,000 7 71( —F = — F:

HK$1,034,933,000).
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE —ZF— —

=—F— —

FH-A=+t—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 39. €@ T A (#)
Financial risk management objectives and policies BXEREEEERBK (&)
(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) hEBESRM(E)
The following table details the Group’s remaining TRFHAVAEEREERLHEERR
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities and lease HFIRE AHAR - TIRIBAAKEEZA
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the EEtmAaErNcEEHETNER
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on BEARTERERERE - e
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to BELKHEAEWNIEE IBERT
pay. The maturity dates for other financial liabilities and EEBEEE -
lease liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates.
The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. EEBRENERASRERE © 47H
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the BRAZEANE - AIRFTRESE IR
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at the WEHRRNMEGTERS -
end of the reporting period.
Weighted On demand Total
average or less than undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year cash flows amounts
REX AFBRE
T I9FE H—FR REHE REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEx THL THET
At 31 December 2022 R-B--&+-A=1+-H
Trade payables BH5ENFE 243,182 243,182 243,182
Other payables HibERF0E 76,181 76,181 76,181
Amount due to anon-controlling ~ FERT —FEHTE A R ZERR
interest of a subsidiary HERFUR 4,233 4,233 4,233
Bank borrowings RITEE 2.91 272,957 272,957 266,633
596,553 596,553 590,229
At 31 December 2021 RZE-—-F+-A=+—H
Trade payables B SR - 256,211 256,211 256,211
Other payables HibEAFE - 81,203 81,203 81,203
Amount due to anon-controling  FER— RN B A R IEER
interest of a subsidiary BRZE - 2,552 2,552 2,552
Bank borrowings RITEE 3.87 346,024 346,024 342,428
Lease liabilities HEEE 4.75 342 342 333
686,332 686,332 682,727
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eI ERRMHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value measurements

The following presents the assets and liabilities measured
at fair value or required to disclose their fair value in these
financial statements on a recurring basis across the three
levels of the fair value hierarchy defined in HKFRS 13, Fair
Value Measurement, with the fair value measurement
categorised in its entirety based on the lowest level input
that is significant to the entire measurement. The levels of
inputs are defined as follows:

° Level 1 (highest level): quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the Group can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or

EWMITHE %)

AREEME
ATIARAARBENEBXBREEEE
RZEUBBERBELEERAER
BB ERELERE13R AL BES
EREZAABE=ZBHRLY M
AABEAEEESEHRFAEAZH
BUHHBENEEEAYEEEES
o FAREZRIT :

e FA(HEIL) AKREEE
RESGHEREEXABELEERD
152 B CREHE)

s FA:F-AMBRIHMEN
o BEHBEEZRAMZREER

liability, either directly or indirectly; BH @ AER
e Level 3 (lowest level): unobservable inputs for the o FE=A(FEL)  BEBERE
asset or liability. EXBEZBAELR -
Fair value Valuation technique and Significant
Financial assets Fair value as at hierarchy key inputs unobservable input
EREE RUTBHMARER NMEEESR HERWRIEAARE EXTTEERAUE
2022 2021
—E-CE —E--F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR Tt
Financial assets at FVPL
BRARBE AR
— Structured deposits 2,629 - Lewl3 Discounted cash flow — Future Estimated retumn (note)
- BREEER =4 cash flow are estimated based {2+ 3R (fff2)

Note: The higher the estimated returns, the higher the fair value,
vice versa.
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discounted at a rate that reflects
the credit risk of various
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 39.

Fair value measurements (continued)
(@) Assets measured at fair value
Movements in Level 3 fair value measurements

ST A @)

DAAEESE(E)

(@) BAAEEHBHEE
E=EAABEHEHED

Financial assets at FVPL -
Structured deposits
RAREBETFABREN
TREE — SBMEER

2022 2021

—E-= —ET—F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHT

At 1 January n—H—H - -

Purchase of structured deposits B A& EETFER 230,128 55,424
Fair value gain on realised BRI EBIE TR

structured deposits N EEKE 784 285

Redemption of structured deposits i [B] 45 1% 14 17 5% (228,213) (55,709)

Exchange differences PE H =% (70) -

At 31 December Rt+—A=+—H 2,629 -

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during
this year.

During the year, fair value gain on realised structured
deposits amounted to HK$784,000 (2021:
HK$285,000) are included in “other net gains and
losses” in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

FRREMARSHETE -

RAFE  BBREBETRN
NABEKZ784,0008 L (=F
——14F : 285,000 7T ) st N2 A
FEKREEN [ Ea sz R EE
SFRE] o

2022FF# HEEIRBRAF]
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eI ERRMHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(@) Assets measured at fair value (continued)

Valuation processes of the Group

The management of the Group is responsible to
determine the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs for fair value measurements. In estimating the
fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses
market-observable data to the extent it is available.
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group
will establish the appropriate valuation techniques
and inputs to the model. Information about the
valuation techniques and inputs used in determining
the fair value of various assets are disclosed above.

(b) Fair value of financial instruments that are

recorded at amortised cost

The directors of the Company consider that the
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate their
fair values. Such fair values have been determined
in accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on discounted cash flow analysis,
with most significant inputs being the discount rate
that reflects the credit risk of counterparties.
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30. EMIA &)

(a)

(b)

BARBEMENEE(&E)

A B (BB FE
AEENEEEBABHREREN
R BEFEN[BERMTREA
i B EEXRRBENAAE
B - AEBEERASNMSA
BREUE - WEAIGESE — A%
AT AEEREEELNE
BREERMRBASE - BEMA
REEREEARBEMNMGER
fily Ko S5 ABUR RV E RN £ ER

BBERATHNERTAND
nEE
ARAEFRRNEA M HREK
RBERATENEREENRS
BEEMNKEEREEA(EEE
5o RZFRRBEIREARE
ERANRFEREROTEE
REENHABERENARBRE
FhHEERBOITEE -



Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

40. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 40. EREIE
2022 2021
—E-= —E -4
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Capital expenditure contracted but  gtLA T & B T4YMER
not provided for in the consolidated 4R & B iR B fE
financial statements in respect of: WERFX :
Acquisition of a subsidiary WiE— B AR — 233,000
Acquisition of property, WEEmZE - BE
plant and equipment Ba] 7,398 35,640
7,398 268,640
41. PLEDGE OF OR RESTRICTION ON ASSETS 41. EEIKH=RH

Pledge of assets

At the end of the reporting period, the bank loan facilities
granted to the Group were secured by the Group’s
property, plant and equipment with carrying amount of
approximately HK$147,249,000, investment properties
with carrying amount of approximately HK$77,394,000
and corporate guarantee issued by the Company (2021
trade receivables with gross carrying amount of
approximately HK$11,813,000).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group pledged its
bank deposits of approximately HK$104,512,000 (2021:
HK$11,488,000) as security for banking facilities of bills
payables granted to the Group.

BEEKR

REERR  NEBEEHRITER
BB AR B BRE{E 4Y 147,249,000 7%
TTHWME BERZE - REEL
77,394,000 B TRV IR EME AR AR
AIBENARERER(ZFE=-—%:
HEBRET(E #711,813,000% 7T 1) B 5 JE
WoskiE) o

R B R ANEBERY
104,512,000 w( = & = — F:
11,488,000,/87T) B T AN LB K FE(T
ERRITREAER -

2022FF# HEEIRBRAF]
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eI ERRMHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

42. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 42,
Other than as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the Group has following transactions

and balances with related parties:

BRELRZ

Bira M BmRE MO rREESN
REBERBEETNR S MAEHMT

(@) Transactions with related parties (a) EEBEATINXS
The Group had the following significant transactions RAFERN  REBETTIE
with related party during the year: RNEERRS -
2022 2021
—E_-_ T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHIT
Company controlled by HARR—BESE
a director of the Company: BHNDT -
Purchase of printing and packing & & ENfl| &2 & & # 22
machineries 622 -
Sale proceeds from disposal of HE R R R
printing and packing SHE TS 5E
machineries - 1,025
Company controlled by the ERBRRZHNAF
Controlling Shareholder:
Lease payments GEN-UNE - 378
An associate: —RBE AT
Sales of printing and SHE R R BERE AR
manufacturing cigarette N&El R
packages and related materials 78,452 62,591
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e M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HlEZ —ZE -~ F+ - A=+—HIFE

42. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b)

(c)

Balances with related parties

Balances with related parties are disclosed in the
consolidated statement of financial position and in
note 31 to the consolidated financial statements. In
addition, at the end of the reporting period, trade
payables amounting to HK$212,000 were due to
related parties controlled by a director of the
Company for purchase of property, plant and
equipment, which is included in “Trade payables” in
the consolidated statement of financial position
(2021: deposits amounting to HK$375,000 were
paid to a related party controlled by a director of the
Company for purchase of property, plant and
equipment, which is included in “Rental and other
deposits paid” in the consolidated statement of
financial position).

Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of the directors of the Company
and other members of key management during the
year was as follows:

42, BAE
(b)

(c)

EHR 5 (&)

ERRAE T WA B

EAFRE T SRR BT IS AR
T MERE MBS HREMTE 31 HEE -
o RIREBMKR BEEYD
¥ BMELEBREERA-ZHAR

RESEHN@EBIZNNES
&~ F I8 212,000 LAt A 4R A
WBRAR EZEMNFKIE] (=
Fo—F:BEBEEYE BEE
RIER—ER AR EFZEF
B 5 % 7 #) 1 £ 375,000 7T
BitAGEa B AR [ENH
B RAMEZEE])

TEEBEAESME
RAFE  KRRARESEMEME
ZEEABHNMET

2022 2021
—E=-= T —F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Short-term benefits HRE A 6,363 10,740
Post-employment benefits BER 2R A 195 495
6,558 11,235
The remuneration of key management is determined FEEEENME B ARA T H M
by the remuneration committee of the Company ZEERERBEARBERTSB
having regard to the performance of individuals and BIREERE ©

market trends.

2022FF# HEEIRBRAF]
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eI ERRMHE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

43. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

The Company entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with the Controlling Shareholder dated 21
October 2021 (as supplemented on 15 December 2021)
in relation to the acquisition of the entire issued share
capital of Eagle Swift Limited (“Eagle Swift”) at a cash
consideration of HK$233,274,000. Under the deed of
assignment, the Vendor has also assigned and
transferred a loan due from Eagle Swift amounting to
approximately HK$229,960,000 to the Group. The
principal activity of Eagle Swift Limited is property
holding. The acquisition was completed on 26 January
2022.

In the opinion of the directors, the acquisition did not
constitute business combination as defined in HKFRS 3
(Revised) “Business Combinations”. Therefore, the
acquisition has been accounted for as acquisition of
assets through the acquisition of a subsidiary during the
year ended 31 December 2022.

LITU HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

43. WEEHE A F

ARARRZE-_—F+A=-+—HH
ERRREIVEEHZE(RT—F
TZATRHB&HR) AR BEBAKE
Eagle Swift Limited ([ Eagle Swift]) &
HEBHTERAEA ReREB
233,274,000 7T - IRIFEERE - B
77 INE MRS B8 R% % #5 5% Eagle Swift
#) & 1 B 3 47229,960,0007% T °
Eagle Swift Limited ¥ * 2% A5 F
Wk WESHEENRZEZZ_F—H
bl SAN= K A

EERA WESFHATEKRE LY
B R 3 (ISR [ RIBA 6]
FIRENEBEH - Bt #E2=F
“CHFE+ A=+ —HLEFE S ZW
BERARIEEZ BB E LR
BEE -



Notes to the consolidated financial statements

e M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

43. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (continued) 43.
The following summarises the consideration paid and the
amounts of the assets acquired at the date of acquisition:

W B BB B ()
T R W R B B S A R RE K F
WEEEMNSH

HK$'000
FH&IT
Recognised amounts of identifiable assets FrE B EERFIAEERE
acquired and liabilities assumed: HWEmASHE !
Property and equipment (note 16) EYSEACIERI)) 152,779
Investment properties (note 18) wEMS (MFE18) 80,300
Prepayment, deposit and other receivables I - e R H A WA 195
Total identifiable net assets ARBEEFEAE 233,274
Consideration satisfied by: UTHAFREZAFRE
Cash Re 233,274
Net cash outflow arising from the WEBELNESREFEHE
acquisition:
Cash consideration paid ONRERE (233,274)

The subsidiary made no significant contribution to the
revenue and results of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022 after acquisition. The revenue and
results of the subsidiary were also insignificant if the
above acquisition had taken place at the beginning of the
reporting period.

RUHE BIEE - % B A RN ¥ R
SEBE-_FT_—_F+_A=+—H
HFEHREREEELERNTR -
fisi b3l B I 3R 5 BRV ST - 7%
MBARMKSREENTERX -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

44, STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 44. BHFEHROR R
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
Note HK$’000 HK$’ 000
B 5 FET FET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries RHTE A T B RS 1,243,906 1,287,198
Current assets REEE
Other receivables H fh el FiE 1,095 279
Amounts due from subsidiaries  FEUL [T B A 77k IE 897,955 815,577
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR KRS 81,869 31,368
980,919 847,224
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables and accruals EMEMNZIERETER 1,471 3,108
Amounts due to subsidiaries L IENGIE 100,761 31,971
Bank borrowings RITEE 77,667 -
179,899 35,079
Net current assets REBEEEE 801,020 812,145
NET ASSETS BEEFE 2,044,926 2,099,343
Capital and reserves EXREE
Share capital R& 7R 35 7,839 7,839
Reserves e 44(a) 2,037,087 2,091,504
TOTAL EQUITY EREEE 2,044,926 2,099,343
This statement of financial position was approved and MBMRAKRER =T =_=F=A
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on —t+—HEESSHEREEEM
31 March 2023 and signed on its behalf by W I ATREESE -
Mr. Huang Wanru Mr. Jiang Xiang Yu
BEBEMEE BrEmEE
Director Director
EFE EF
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e M ERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE —ZF— —

44.

FH-A=+t—HILFE

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 44, BRI T (&)
(continued)
(@) Movement in the Company’s reserves (@ ARFREHEH
Dividend Share Other  Exchange Retained
reserve premium reserve reserve profits Total
RE e R EE EthiiE EXfie  REEF )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThTL TER TERL TERL TARL ThR
At1 January 2021 NZ_F-—F-A—-H 156,789 4,936,913 (4,185977) (66,579) 1,373,709 2,224,855
Loss for the year FEER - - - - (10,903) (10,903)
Other comprenensiveincome ~ EE E 2 Bl
for the year
— Exchange differences arising  — RHAENEE%R A
from translation from SREEmEL
functional currency to ELEE
presentation currency - - - 34,341 - 34,341
Total comprehensive income ~ EE2E MG (BIE) 48
(loss) for the year - - - 34,341 (10,903) 23,438
Transactions with owners: HBEEANRS
Contributions and distributions ¥ & R AR
Dividend recognised as BABARORE
distribution (note 19) (FirzE 16) (156,789) - - - - (156,789
(156,789) - - - - (156,789)
At 31 December 2021 and RZE=-F
1 January 2022 TZRA=t-8Ek
—E--F-f-H - 4936913  (4,185,977) (22,238) 1,362,806 2,091,504
Loss for the year FEBE - - - = (1,812) (7812
Other comprenensive loss EEEMZEFE
for the year
— Bxchange differences arisng ~ — EHAEINREM A
from tranglation from SRERmES
functional currency to EXES
presentation currency - - - (46,605) - (46,605)
Total comprehensive loss FEPABRLE
for the year - - - (46,605) (7,812) (54,417)
Transactions with owners: EHEANRS
Contributions and distributions T &R AR
Final dividend for 2022 proposed  —E=ZFEaRERS
(note 15) (FizE15) 62,715 - - - (62,715) -
62,715 - - - (62,715) c
At 31 December 2022 R-B--%
ZB=1-H 62,715 4936913  (4,185,977) (68,843) 1,292,279 2,037,087

2022FF# HEEIRBRAF]
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December
2022 and 2021 are as follows:

45. KRR B A RIFE
RZEZ—_FR-ZF-Z—F+=A

=t+—B  ARFMBARFENT :

Place of Issued and fully paid
establishment/ ordinary share Proportion of registered capital/
incorporation/ capital/registered issued share capital/equity interests and
Name of subsidiaries operation capital voting power held by the Company Principal activities
AY/EREL/ BRTREHAR EAAREEMRE/
WEARER EXnY EERE/EMRA BRORE/REBERREELH TEEH
Directly Indirectly
B A%
2022 2021 2022 2021
—g-C-E  ZE--f ZECCE ZE--F
Brilliant Circle Group Holdings Limited®  British Virgin Islands US§1 100% - 100% - Investment holding
EHEEARERATA EBRHE 157 RERR
Briiant Circle Management Limitedl? British Virgin Islands US$200 100% 100% = = Investment holding
EHERARAA EBRHE 200%7T RERR
Brilliant Circle Printing & Packaging Limited” British Virgin Islands US$10,000 = - 100% 100%  Investment holding
EBERIREERATA EBRHE 10,000%7t RERR
Briliant Circle Development Limited” Hong Kong HK$2,000,000 = - 100% 100%  Investment holding
BRERBRAAA & 2,000,000/ ALK
Eagle Swift Limited” British Virgin Islands/ US§1 100% - - - Property holding
Hong Kong 157 BENE
RERLES/
A EBERIERAR The PRC HKS9,600,000 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
(Shenzhen Guiian Printing Limited") h 9,600,000/ RAER
FmeAVaENHERAR The PRC RMB28,350,000 - - 100% 100%  Manufacturing of paper
(Shenzhen Jinshengcai Package Gl AR 28,350,000 70 packaging materials
Material Co., Ltd.") BEM BRI
FYFNYOBERAT* The PRC RMB194,720,000 = - 100% 100%  Printing of cigarette
(Shenzhen Kecai Printing Co., Ltd.) H ARHE194,720,0007T packages, printing of
packages and decoration
matter, research and
development on printing
technology
BEBZIR  ARRE
DRI ENRI LA R DR
BRIk

*

LITU HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
e IS HRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 — L - —F+_H=+—HIEFE

45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE  45. AR B A RIFE (&)

COMPANY (continued)
Place of Issued and fully paid
establishment/ ordinary share Proportion of registered capital/
incorporation/ capital/registered issued share capital/equity interests and
Name of subsidiaries operation capital voting power held by the Company Principal activities
A/ EELES €1 G2
WEARER EEhy LERA/EMRA BRIRE/REBRRREELA TEER
Directly Indirectly
E# 3
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E--f -E--% CZE--E -—Z--F

FEEELMREDFERAF" The PRC US$12,461,000 - - 100% 100%  Printing of cigarette
(Bengbu Jinhuangshan i 12,461,000% T packages, printing of
Rotogravure Printing Co., Ltd.") packages and decoration

matter, research and
development on printing
technology
BEAZIR  ARRE
DRI ENRIGA TR DR
AR R

FmeTRYERENRER The PRC US$1,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Manufacturing of laminated
E{T72] (formerly known as G 1,000,000% 7 paper
RREZEDEMHARLA) SR
(Shenzhen Jinantong Colour
Packaging Material Company Limited *)

MIMEZEYEDENHEREELT
(MBARBRAREMEERLA)!

EREREVEARERAF" The PRC 1S$3,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Printing of cigarette
(Xiangyang Jinfeihuan Color Package F 3,000,005t packages
0o, Lid.) DREERE

RmeBERARmREERAT  ThePRC RMB10,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Sales of RFID products
(Shenzhen Jinlianda Inteligent G AKH10,000,00070 HESERAER
Packaging Technology Co., Ltd.")

Forever Youth limited British Virgin Islands US$100.00 100% 100% = - Investment holding

BEERATA EBRAAS 100.00%7T RERR

Right Tech (China) Limited? Hong Kong HK$1 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding

EE(RE)ERRAA & 1A RERR

KEREERERRAG" The PRC RMB50,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
{Zhuhai Baozhuangbao G ARH50,000,00070 RERR
Investment Co., Ltd.")

THBENFREARAT" The PRC RMB63,000,000 - - 70% 70%  Seles of RFID products
(Jiangsu HY Link Science & Gl AR63,0000007C FEGEERER
Technology Co., Ltd.")

L MENBRRERAR The PRC 820,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Sales of RFID products
(Jiangsu Jinxunda 10T Technology i 20,000,000% T HESERAER
Co,, Ltd.)
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45. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE  45. KX RI[fi B RlFF1E (&)

COMPANY (continued)

Place of Issued and fully paid

establishment/ ordinary share Proportion of registered capital/

incorporation/ capital/registered issued share capital/equity interests and
Name of subsidiaries operation capital voting power held by the Company Principal activities

A /ERAL/ BRIRBHAR NG 2o
WEARER EEihy LERE/EMRA BRARA/ BABRRREELA TEER

Directly Indirectly
E# 3
2022 2021 2022 2021
—g--E  -E--f CZECCZE —E--E
Emperor Great Investments Limited? British Virgin Islands US$100.00 100% 100% - - Investment holding
FRRERRARA KBRLHS 100.00%7t RERR
(Giant Sino Investments Limited British Virgin Islands US$100.00 60% 60% 40% 40%  Investment holding
EERERRAFA KRRLHS 100.00%7t RERR
Fortune Chaser Limited Hong Kong HK$100.00 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
FIRERATA & 100.0077 RERR
BENEMBERAR The PRC RMB5,000,000 - - 100% - Investment holding
(Hefei Litu Technology Company Limited”) & AR 5,000,0007 RAER
MITHY IENEERARAR
(Shenzhen Kecal Industrial Property The PRC Ni - - 100% - Investment holding
Management Limitec’) Gl i RERR
* English translation of company name for identification purpose - ES NS eyl
only

Kind of legal entity: BEEAT
" Limited liability company " ARAT]
" Company established as foreign invested limited liability company ’ RERN RINE R ARR AT
#  Company incorporated as a sino-foreign equity o REEMKRIATIIEEDRE
##  Limited liability company established in the PRC e REPBERZMERAF
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities RBERREAFEEAER - HE
at the end of the reporting period or at any time during f 8 A B BT B E S o
the year.
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Five year financial summary

FFRBHE

(A) RESULTS (A) &

For the year ended 31 December
HEt-A=1+-HiLEE

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
“E-\& ZT-NE&E -T-TF —T-- —E-CF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FHEL THL THEL THL THER
Revenue g 1,366,753 1,495,833 1,339,439 1,158,852 984,495
Operating profit (loss) EHT (B18) 77,389 191,866 (13,432) (53,756) 17,263
Gain on disposal of HENBARM
subsidiaries W 91,681 - - - -
Share of result of associates  AEEEARIZE 51,669 41,751 59,304 70,126 1,573
Share of result of a joint AME—HEELE
venture e 623 (930) 214 (83) 38
Profit before taxation Bt A Al 221,362 232,687 46,086 16,287 18,874
Taxation FRIE (46,930) (55,801) (37,114 (5,665) (9,459)
Profit for the year FRRF 174,432 176,886 8,972 10,622 9,415
Attributable to: FEfh
Owners of the Company ARAIERA 169,383 175,886 8,915 8,628 6,204
Non-controlling interests R 5,049 1,000 57 1,094 3,211
174,432 176,886 8,972 10,622 9,415
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Five year financial summary

hFRBEHE

(B) ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

(B) EERER

At 31 December

R+=-A=+-H

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

“E-N\§ ZE-NEF =ZZ-TF —ZT=-- —E-CF

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000

FEL FAEL FAEL FAL FHT

TOTAL ASSETS EEHE 3,934,962 3,647,153 3,588,878 3,494,241 3,194,661
TOTAL LIABILITIES Lt (1,136,361) (720,977 (819,051) (820,661) (719,524)
2,798,601 2,926,176 2,769,827 2,673,580 2,475,137

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO: LT~ ALHE{GHER :

Owners of the Company ADEERA 2,763,663 2,904,301 2,746,446 2,646,887 2,449,887
Non-controlling interests kS 34,938 21,875 23,381 26,693 25,250
2,798,601 2,926,176 2,769,827 2,673,580 2,475,137

Note: The comparative figures are not restated on application of
HKFRS 9, HKFRS 15 for the first time in the year ended 31
December 2018 and HKFRS 16 for the first time in the year

ended 31 December 2019.
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Particulars of investment properties

REWEFE

Particulars of investment properties held by the Group as at 31 AEBR T - —F+-A=+—HHAH
December 2022 are as follows: KEMERNFBRAT -
Approximate
gross floor Effective %
Location area  Lease expiry Type held
FrEER
i BAREER HEIHA Epil Bk
The PRC
HE
Portion of an Industrial Complex Held by Shenzhen Kecai 38,617.98 2052 Industrial 100%
Printing Co., Ltd., No. 3 Jinlan Road, Kecai Industrial Zone, square metre
Kengzi Town, Pingshan District, Shenzhen,
Guangdong Province, The PRC
REEREAITIFLRAFERY ITRES WK 35 38,617.98 K “TRCF I¥
BRTREAOBERARFEN IR EAERN —#0
An Industrial Complex Held by Bengbu Jinhuangshan 11,681.07 2057 Industrial 100%
Rotogravure Printing Co., Ltd., No. 6252 Donghai Avenue, square metre
Yuhui District, Bengbu, Anhui Province, The PRC
REZAEEETRERREAE62525 11,681.07 F 1K “TRtF I¥
HEREEIMRDRERARRENIEGEER
An Industrial Complex Held by Bengbu Jinhuangshan 18,268.46 2045 Industrial 100%
Rotogravure Printing Co., Ltd., No. 935 Changzhang Road, square metre
Yuhui District, Bengbu, Anhui Province, The PRC
REZEEEET RS R REK 355 18,268.46 T 71 K “ZMRE I¥
HEREEIMRDRERARRENIEGEER
Portion of an Industrial Complex Held by Bengbu Jinhuangshan 6,683.42 2063 Industrial 100%
Rotogravure Printing Co., Ltd., No. 1139 Yannan Road, square metre
Huadong Industrial Park, High-tech Research and Development
Zone, Yuhui District, Bengbu, Anhui Province, The PRC
RETPEHETRERANRMEXRERERNBZERSRR 668342 FHK ZERZF T%

1139%%

mERSEUMRERERARASEN T EFZSERN—F2

20225 F5  HEERBR AR
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Particulars of investment properties

REWEFE

Approximate Effective %
Location saleable area  Lease expiry Type held
FrsER
e EAER HERHA il BAl
Hong Kong
B8
1st Floor and 5th Floor, No. 38 On Lok Mun Street, Fanling, 12,173.31 2047 Industrial 100%
New Territories, Hong Kong square feet with
ancillary area of
148.11
square feet
BBMANELELIIEBR1ERSE 1217331 AR —TmtE T%
SR AR
14811 AR
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